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DEFINITIONS

Except where the context otherwise requires, the following definitions apply throughout this Circular:

“Accepting Shareholders”

“Announcement Date”

“Appraised Assets”

“Auditors”

‘Bermuda Companies Act”

“Board”

“Business Day”

‘Bye-laws”

“CDP”

“Circular”

“Closing Date”

“Code”

“Commencement Date”

“‘Companies Act”
‘Company”

“‘CPF”

“CPF Agent Banks”
“CPFIS”

“CPFIS Investors”

Shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.5 of the
Letter to Shareholders in the Offer Document, which is
reproduced in Section 2.1 of this Circular

15 January 2021, being the date of the Offer Announcement

The GLH Real Property Portfolio and the Molokai Ranch Real
Property Portfolio

KPMG LLP

The Companies Act of 1981 of Bermuda, as amended,
supplemented or modified from time to time

The board of directors of the Company
A day (other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a gazetted public
holiday) on which commercial banks are open for business in

Singapore

The bye-laws of the Company as amended, supplemented or
modified from time to time

The Central Depository (Pte) Limited

This circular to Shareholders dated 18 February 2021 in
relation to the Offer, enclosing, inter alia, the IFA Letter

5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on 4 March 2021 or such later
date(s) as may be announced from time to time by or on behalf
of the Offeror

The Singapore Code on Take-overs and Mergers

4 February 2021, being the date of despatch or publication of
the Offer Document

The Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore
GL Limited

Central Provident Fund

Agent banks included under the CPFIS
Central Provident Fund Investment Scheme

Investors who have purchased Shares using their CPF
contributions pursuant to the CPFIS
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‘DBS”

“Directors”

“FAA”

‘FAT”

“FY2018”
‘FY2019”
“FY2020”
“‘GAL”
“‘GGL”

“GLH Real Property Portfolio’

“‘Group”

“IFA” or “W Capital Markets”

“IFA Letter”

‘Independent Directors”

“Interested Person”

DBS Bank Ltd.

The directors of the Company as at the Latest Practicable
Date, and “Director” means any one of them

Form of Acceptance and Authorisation for Offer Shares in
respect of the Offer, which is applicable to Shareholders
whose Shares are deposited with CDP and forms part of the
Offer Document

Form of Acceptance and Transfer for Offer Shares in respect
of the Offer, which is applicable to Shareholders whose
Shares are registered in their own names in the Register and
are not deposited with CDP and forms part of the Offer
Document

Financial year ended 30 June 2018
Financial year ended 30 June 2019
Financial year ended 30 June 2020
GuocoLeisure Assets Limited
Guoco Group Limited

The Group’s significant real estate assets located in London,
United Kingdom

The Company and its subsidiaries

W Capital Markets Pte. Ltd., the independent financial adviser
to the Independent Directors in connection with the Offer

The letter dated 18 February 2021 from the IFA to the
Independent Directors in respect of the Offer as set out in
Appendix A to this Circular

The Directors of the Company who are considered
independent for the purposes of the Offer, namely, Mr. Paul
Jeremy Brough, Ms. Chua Kheng Yeng, Jennie, Mr. Teo Lai
Wah Timothy and Ms. Lim Suat Jien

As defined in Note on Rule 24.6 of the Code and read with
Note on Rule 23.12 of the Code, an interested person, in
relation to a company, is:

(@) a director, chief executive officer, or Substantial
Shareholder of the company;

(b)  the immediate family of a director, the chief executive
officer, or a Substantial Shareholder (being an
individual) of the company;
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“Irrevocable Undertaking”

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Manual”

“‘Market Day”

“Molokai Ranch Real Property

Portfolio”

“‘Non-Independent Directors”

“Offer”

“Offer Announcement”

“Offer Document”

(c) thetrustees, acting in their capacity as such trustees, of
any trust of which a director, the chief executive officer,
or a Substantial Shareholder (being an individual) and
his immediate family is a beneficiary;

(d) any company in which a director, the chief executive
officer, or a Substantial Shareholder (being an
individual) together and his immediate family together
(directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more;

(e) any company that is the subsidiary, holding company or
fellow subsidiary of the Substantial Shareholder (being
a company); or

()] any company in which a Substantial Shareholder (being
a company) and any of the companies listed in (e)
above together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of
30% or more

The irrevocable undertaking received by the Offeror pursuant
to which GAL undertook (i) to tender all of its Shares in
acceptance of the Offer, and (ii) to waive its rights under Rule
30 of the Code to receive the cash consideration payable to it
by the Offeror

8 February 2021, being the latest practicable date prior to the
printing of this Circular

The listing manual of the SGX-ST, as amended up to the
Latest Practicable Date

A day on which the SGX-ST is open for the trading of
securities

The Group’s significant real estate assets located in Central
and West Molokai, Hawaii

Mr. Kwek Leng Hai and Mr. Chew Seong Aun

The voluntary conditional cash offer made by DBS for and on
behalf of the Offeror for the Offer Shares on the terms and
subject to the conditions set out in the Offer Document, the
FAA and the FAT, as such offer may be amended, extended
and revised from time to time by or on behalf of the Offeror

The announcement relating to the Offer released by the
Offeror on the Announcement Date

The document dated 4 February 2020, including the FAA and
FAT, and any other document(s) which may be issued by the
Offeror to amend, revise, supplement or update the
document(s) from time to time.
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“Offer Price”

“Offer Shares”

“Offeror”

“Offeror Securities”

“Overseas Shareholders’

“Reference Period”

“‘Register”

“‘Registrar”

“‘Relevant Acceptance Forms”

“Relevant Securities’

“Securities Account”

“SFA”

“SGXNET”

“SGX-ST”

“Shareholders”

“Shares”

S$0.70 in cash for each Offer Share

All Shares, including those Shares owned, controlled, or
agreed to be acquired by parties acting or deemed to be acting
in concert with the Offeror

GuocoLeisure Holdings Limited

Ordinary shares in the capital of the Offeror, equity share
capital of the Offeror and other securities which carry
substantially the same rights in the Offeror, and convertible
securities, warrants, options and derivatives in respect of such
shares or securities

Shareholders whose addresses are outside Singapore as
shown in the Register or, as the case may be, in the records
of CDP

The period commencing on 15 October 2020, being the date
falling three months prior to the Announcement Date, and
ending on the Latest Practicable Date

The register of holders of Shares, as maintained by the
Registrar

M & C Services Private Limited located at 112 Robinson Road,
#05-01, Singapore 068902

The FAA and/or the FAT (as the case may be)

(a) Shares; (b) Options; (c) other securities which carry voting
rights in the Company; and (d) convertible securities,
warrants, options, awards or derivatives in respect of any
Shares or securities which carry voting rights in the Company

A securities account maintained by a Depositor with CDP but
does not include a securities sub-account

The Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore

A system network used by listed companies to send
information and announcements to the SGX-ST or any other
system networks prescribed by the SGX-ST

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

Holders of Shares as indicated on the Register and Depositors
who have Shares entered against their names in the

Depository Register

Issued and paid-up ordinary shares in the share capital of the
Company (excluding treasury shares)
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“SIc” . Securities Industry Council of Singapore

“SRS” . The Supplementary Retirement Scheme

“SRS Investors” . Investors who purchase Shares pursuant to SRS
“Substantial Shareholder” . A person who has an interest in not less than five per cent.

(5%) of the total number of issued voting Shares

“Valuation Reports The valuation reports issued by the Valuers in respect of the
Appraised Assets in connection with the Offer, as set out in

Appendix E to this Circular

“Valuers” . The Valuers are Savills Advisory Services Limited and CBRE,
Inc., being the independent valuers commissioned by the
Company to conduct valuations of the Appraised Assets in
connection with the Offer

Units and currencies

“‘Usy” . United States dollar, being the lawful currency of the United
States of America

“S$” . Singapore dollars, being the lawful currency of Singapore

“£” or “GBP” British Pounds Sterling, being the lawful currency of the United
Kingdom

“%” or “per cent.” :  Per centum or percentage

Acting in Concert. Unless otherwise defined, the expression “acting in concert” shall have the same
meaning as ascribed to it in the Code.

Announcements and notices. References to the making of an announcement or the giving of notice
by the Company shall include the release of an announcement by the Company or its agents, for and
on behalf of the Company, to the press or the delivery of or transmission by telephone, facsimile,
SGXNET or otherwise of an announcement to the SGX-ST. An announcement made otherwise than to
the SGX-ST shall be notified to the SGX-ST simultaneously.

Capitalised Terms in Extracts. Statements which are reproduced in their entirety from the Offer
Document, the IFA Letter and the Bye-laws are set out in this Circular within quotes and italics, and
capitalised terms used within these reproduced statements and not defined herein shall bear the same
meanings as attributed to them in the Offer Document, the IFA Letter and the Bye-laws respectively.
Depositor, Depository Agent and Depository Register. The expressions “Depositor”, “Depository
Agent”, and “Depository Register” shall have meanings ascribed to them respectively in Section 81SF
of the SFA.

Expressions. Words importing the singular shall, where applicable, include the plural and vice versa.
Words importing a single gender shall, where applicable, include any or all genders. References to
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persons shall, where applicable, include corporations.

Genders. Words importing the singular shall, where applicable, include the plural and vice versa. Words
importing the masculine gender shall, where applicable, include the feminine and neuter genders.
References to persons shall, where applicable, include corporations.

Headings. The headings in this Circular are inserted for convenience only and shall be ignored in
construing this Circular.

Rounding. Any discrepancies in the figures in this Circular between the listed amounts and the totals
thereof are due to rounding. Accordingly, the figures shown as totals in this Circular may not be an
arithmetic aggregation of the figures that precede them.

Shareholders. References to “you”, “your” and “yours” in this Circular are, as the context so
determines, to Shareholders.

Statutes. Any reference in this Circular to any enactment or statutory provision is a reference to that
enactment or statutory provision as for the time being amended or re-enacted, unless the context
otherwise requires. Any word defined under the Companies Act, the Bermuda Companies Act, the
Code, the Listing Manual, the SFA or any modification thereof and not otherwise defined in this Circular
shall, where applicable, have the same meaning assigned to that word under the Companies Act, the
Bermuda Companies Act, the Code, the Listing Manual, the SFA or that modification thereof, as the
case may be, unless the context otherwise requires.

Subsidiary and Related Corporation. The terms “subsidiary” and “related corporation” shall have
the meanings ascribed to them in Sections 5 and 6 of the Companies Act respectively.

Time and Date. Any reference to a time of day and date in this Circular is made by reference to
Singapore time and date respectively unless otherwise stated.

Total number of Shares and Percentage as at the Latest Practicable Date. In this Circular, the total
number of Shares is a reference to a total of 1,368,063,633 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable
Date (excluding treasury shares), unless the context otherwise requires. Unless otherwise specified, all
references to a percentage shareholding in the capital of the Company in this Circular are based on
1,368,063,633 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date (excluding treasury shares). As at the
Latest Practicable Date, the Company does not hold any treasury shares.

Legal Counsel. For the purposes of this Circular, Lee & Lee has been appointed as the legal counsel
to the Company as to Singapore law in relation to the Offer.



CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this Circular are or may be
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include but are not limited to those
using words such as “aim”, “seek”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “intend”,
“project”, “plan”, “potential”’, “strategy”, “forecast”, “possible”, “probable” and similar
expressions or future or conditional verbs such as “if’, “will”, “would”, “should”, “could”,
“may” and “might”. These statements reflect the Company’s current expectations, beliefs,
hopes, intentions or strategies regarding the future and assumptions in light of currently
available information as at the Latest Practicable Date. Such forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance or events and involve known and unknown risks and
uncertainties. Accordingly, actual results may differ materially from those described in such
forward-looking statements. Shareholders should not place undue reliance on such forward-
looking statements, and neither the Company nor the IFA guarantees any future performance or
event, or undertakes any obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking statements,
subject to compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and/or the rules of the SGX-ST
and/or any other regulatory or supervisory body or agency.



INDICATIVE TIMETABLE

Date of despatch of the
Offer Document

Date of despatch of this
Circular

Closing Date

Date of settlement of

consideration for valid
acceptances of the Offer

4 February 2021

18 February 2021

5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on 4 March 2021 or such later date(s) as
may be announced from time to time by or on behalf of the Offeror

Subject to the Offer becoming or being declared unconditional in all
respects in accordance with its terms and to the receipt by the Offeror
from Accepting Shareholders of valid acceptances and all relevant
documents required by the Offeror which are complete in all respects
and in accordance with the instructions given in the Offer Document
and in the Relevant Acceptance Forms, and in the case of a Depositor,
the receipt by the Offeror of a confirmation satisfactory to it that the
number of Offer Shares tendered by the Depositor in acceptance of the
Offer are standing to the credit of the “Free Balance” of the Depositor’s
Securities Account at the relevant time, then pursuant to Rule 30 of the
Code:

() inthe case of Accepting Shareholders holding Offer Shares in scrip
form, remittances in the form of S$ crossed cheques for the
aggregate Offer Price in respect of their Offer Shares validly
tendered in acceptance of the Offer will be despatched to the
Accepting Shareholders (or their designated agents, or, in the case
of joint Accepting Shareholders who have not designated any
agent, to the one first-named in the Register, as the case may be)
by ordinary post, at the risk of the Accepting Shareholders; or

(i) in the case of Accepting Shareholders who are Depositors,
payment of the aggregate Offer Price in respect of their Offer
Shares validly tendered in acceptance of the Offer will be credited
directly into their designated bank account for Singapore Dollars
via CDP’s Direct Crediting Service (“DCS”) on the payment date.
In the event an Accepting Shareholder who is a Depositor is not
subscribed to CDP’s DCS, any monies to be paid shall be credited
to such Accepting Shareholder’'s Cash Ledger and subject to the
same terms and conditions as Cash Distributions under the CDP
Operation of Securities Account with the Depository Terms and
Conditions® (Cash Ledger and Cash Distributions are defined
therein), or in such other manner as they may have agreed with
CDP for payment of any cash distribution,

! The CDP Operation of Securities Account with the Depository Terms and Conditions may be accessed via the link below:
https://api2.sgx.com/sites/default/files/2021-
01/CDP%?20Securities%20Account%20Conditions%20%28w.e.f.%2018%20January%202021%29_0.pdf



INDICATIVE TIMETABLE

in each case, as soon as practicable and in any case:

(a) inrespect of acceptances of the Offer which are complete and valid
in all respects and are received on or before the date on which
the Offer becomes or is declared to be unconditional in all respects
in accordance with its terms, within seven (7) Business Days of
such date; or

(b) inrespect of acceptances of the Offer which are complete and valid
in all respects and are received after the date on which the Offer
becomes or is declared to be unconditional in all respects in
accordance with its terms, but before the Offer closes, within seven
(7) Business Days of the date of such receipt.

Please refer to paragraph 2 of Appendix 1 to the Offer Document for
further information.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

GL LIMITED
(Continued in Bermuda as an exempted company)
(Company Registration No.: 27568)

Board of Directors: Registered Office:
Mr. Kwek Leng Hai Clarendon House
Mr. Paul Jeremy Brough 2 Church Street
Ms. Chua Kheng Yeng, Jennie Hamilton HM 11
Mr. Teo Lai Wah Timothy Bermuda

Ms. Lim Suat Jien
Mr. Chew Seong Aun

18 February 2021

To:

The Shareholders of GL Limited

Dear Sir / Madam

VOLUNTARY CONDITIONAL CASH OFFER BY THE OFFEROR FOR THE OFFER SHARES

1.1.

1.2,

1.3.

1.4.

INTRODUCTION

Offer Announcement. On 15 January 2021, DBS announced, for and on behalf of the Offeror,
that the Offeror intends to make a voluntary conditional cash offer for all the Shares in accordance
with Section 139 of the SFA and the Code.

A copy of the Offer Announcement is available on the website of the SGX-ST at www.sgx.com
and on the Company’s corporate website at www.gl-grp.com/voluntary-conditional-offer.

Offer Document. Shareholders should by now have received a copy of the Offer Document
setting out, inter alia, the terms and conditions of the Offer. The principal terms and conditions of
the Offer are set out on pages 9 and 11 of the Offer Document. Shareholders are urged to read
the terms and conditions of the Offer contained in the Offer Document carefully.

The Offer Document is available on the website of the SGX-ST at www.sgx.com and on the
Company’s corporate website at www.gl-grp.com/voluntary-conditional-offer.

Independent Financial Adviser. W Capital Markets has been appointed as the independent
financial adviser to the Independent Directors in respect of the Offer.

Purpose of this Circular. The purpose of this Circular is to provide Shareholders with relevant
information pertaining to the Company, the Offer, the advice of the IFA to the Independent
Directors and the recommendation of the Independent Directors with regard to the Offer.

Shareholders should read the Offer Document, this Circular and the IFA Letter carefully

and consider the recommendation of the Independent Directors and the advice of the IFA
to the Independent Directors in respect of the Offer before deciding on whether to accept

11
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2.1.

or reject the Offer. If you are in any doubt in relation to this Circular or as to the action you
should take, you should consult your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant,
tax adviser and/or other professional adviser immediately.

THE OFFER

Terms of the Offer. The Offer is made by DBS, for and on behalf of the Offeror, on the terms set
out in Section 2 of the Letter to Shareholders in the Offer Document, extracts of which are set
out below. Unless otherwise defined, all terms and expressions used in the extracts below shall
have the same meanings as those defined in the Offer Document.

2.

21

2.2

2.3

24

2.5

TERMS OF THE OFFER

Offer. The Offeror hereby makes the Offer to acquire all the Offer Shares, in
accordance with Section 139 of the SFA and the Code.

Offer Shares. The Offer is extended to all Shares, including those Shares owned,
controlled, or agreed to be acquired by parties acting or deemed to be acting in concert
with the Offeror (“Concert Parties”) in connection with the Offer (“Offer Shares”).

Offer Price. The consideration for each Offer Share will be as follows:

For each Offer Share: S$0.70 in cash (the “Offer Price”).

No Encumbrances. The Offer Shares are to be acquired (i) fully paid, (ii) free from
any claim, charge, pledge, mortgage, encumbrance, lien, option, equity, power of sale,
declaration of trust, hypothecation, retention of title, right of pre-emption, right of first
refusal, moratorium or other third party right or security interest of any kind or an
agreement, arrangement or obligation to create any of the foregoing
(“Encumbrances”), and (iij) together with all rights, benefits and entitlements attached
thereto as at the Announcement Date and thereafter attaching thereto, including but not
limited to, the right to receive and retain all dividends, rights, other distributions and/or
return of capital (if any) declared, paid or made by the Company in respect of the Offer
Shares (collectively, the “Distributions” and each, a ‘Distribution”) on or after the
Announcement Date.

Adjustment for Distributions. Without prejudice to the foregoing, the Offer Price has
been determined on the basis that the Offer Shares will be acquired with the right to
receive any Distribution that may be declared, paid or made by the Company on or
after the Announcement Date.

Accordingly, in the event any Distribution is or has been declared, paid or made by the
Company in respect of the Offer Shares on or after the Announcement Date, the Offer
Price payable to a Shareholder who validly accepts or has validly accepted the Offer
(“Accepting Shareholder”) shall be reduced by an amount which is equal to the
amount of such Distribution, depending on when the settlement date in respect of the
Offer Shares tendered in acceptance of the Offer by such Accepting Shareholder falls,
as follows:

12
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2.2.

2.6

2.5.1 if such settlement date falls on or before the books closure date for the
determination of entitlements to the Distribution (the “Books Closure Date”),
the Offer Price shall remain unadjusted for each Offer Share and the Offeror
shall pay the Accepting Shareholder the unadjusted Offer Price for each Offer
Share, as the Offeror will receive the Distribution in respect of such Offer Share
from the Company; and

2.5.2 if such settlement date falls after the Books Closure Date, the Offer Price shall
be reduced by an amount which is equal to the amount of the Distribution in
respect of each Offer Share (the Offer Price after such reduction, the
“Adjusted Offer Price”) and the Offeror shall pay the Accepting Shareholder
the Adjusted Offer Price for each Offer Share, as the Offeror will not receive
the Distribution in respect of such Offer Share from the Company.

Minimum Acceptance Condition. The Offer will be conditional upon the Offeror
having received, by the close of the Offer, valid acceptances (which have not been
withdrawn) pursuant to the Offer and/or otherwise acquiring or agreeing to acquire
Shares other than through valid acceptances of the Offer from the Commencement
Date in respect of such number of Shares which, when taken together with the Shares
owned, controlled or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and its Concert Parties
before or during the Offer, will result in the Offeror and its Concert Parties holding such
number of Shares carrying not less than 90 per cent. of the voting rights attributable to
all the Shares in issue (excluding treasury shares) as at the close of the Offer (the
*Minimum Acceptance Condition”).

The Offeror reserves the right to reduce the Minimum Acceptance Condition to a level
which is more than 50 per cent. of the total number of Shares or waive the Minimum
Acceptance Condition, subject to the consent of the SIC. In the event that the SIC
consents to the Minimum Acceptance Condition being waived or revised, (i) the
revised Offer will remain open for at least 14 days following the posting of the written
notification to Shareholders of such waiver or revision, and (ii) Shareholders who have
accepted the initial Offer will be allowed to withdraw their acceptance within eight days
of the posting of such notification.

Save for the Minimum Acceptance Condition, the Offer is unconditional in all
other respects.”

Warranty. The Offer is subject to a warranty as set out in Section 3 of the Letter to Shareholders
in the Offer Document, extracts of which are set out below. Unless otherwise defined, all terms
and expressions used in the extracts below shall have the same meanings as those defined in
the Offer Document.

‘3.

WARRANTY

A Shareholder who tenders his Offer Shares in acceptance of the Offer will be deemed
to unconditionally and irrevocably represent, warrant and undertake to the Offeror that
he sells such Offer Shares as or on behalf of the beneficial owner(s) thereof: (i) fully
paid; (i) free from all Encumbrances; and (iii) together with all rights, benefits and
entitlements attached thereto as at the Announcement Date and thereafter attaching

13
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thereto, including but not limited to the right to receive and retain all Distributions
declared, paid or made by the Company in respect of the Offer Shares on or after the
Announcement Date.”

Details of the Offer. The further details of the Offer are set out in Section 4 of the Letter to
Shareholders in the Offer Document and Appendix 1 to the Offer Document, extracts of which
are set out below. Unless otherwise defined, all terms and expressions used in the extracts below
shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Offer Document.

“4.  DETAILS OF THE OFFER

Appendix 1 to this Offer Document sets out further details on: (i) the duration of the
Offer; (ii) the settlement of the consideration for the Offer; (iii) the requirements relating
to the announcement of the level of acceptances of the Offer; and (iv) the right of
withdrawal of acceptances of the Offer.

APPENDIX 1 - DETAILS OF THE OFFER

1. DURATION OF THE OFFER

1.1 First Closing Date. The Offer is open for acceptance by Shareholders for at least
28 days from the Commencement Date, unless the Offer is withdrawn with the
consent of the SIC and every person released from any obligation incurred
thereunder. Accordingly, the Offer will close at 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on 4
March 2021 or such later date(s) as may be announced from time to time by or
on behalf of the Offeror.

1.2 Subsequent Closing Date(s). If the Offer is extended and:

1.2.1 is not unconditional as to acceptances as at the date of such extension, the
announcement of the extension must state the next Closing Date; or

1.2.2 is unconditional as to acceptances as at the date of such extension, the
announcement of the extension need not state the next Closing Date but
may state that the Offer will remain open until further notice. In such a case,
the Offeror must give Shareholders at least 14 days’ prior notice in writing
before it may close the Offer.

1.3 No Obligation to Extend Offer. The Offeror is not obliged to extend the Offer if the
Minimum Acceptance Condition is not fulfilled by the Closing Date.

14 Offer to Remain Open for 14 Days after Being Declared Unconditional as to
Acceptances. In order to give Shareholders who have not accepted the Offer the
opportunity to accept the Offer after the Offer has become or is declared
unconditional as to acceptances, the Offer will remain open for a period (“Rule 22.6
Period”) of not less than 14 days after the date on which it would otherwise have
closed.
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1.6

21

This requirement does not apply if, before the Offer has become or is declared
unconditional as to acceptances, the Offeror has given Shareholders at least 14
days’ notice in writing (“Shut-Off Notice”) that the Offer will not be open for
acceptance beyond a specified Closing Date, provided that:

1.4.1 the Offeror may not give a Shut-Off Notice in a competitive situation; and

1.4.2 the Offeror may not enforce a Shut-Off Notice, if already given, in a
competitive situation.

For these purposes, the SIC would normally regard a “competitive situation” to have
arisen when either (i) a firm intention to make a competing offer for the Company has
been announced, whether or not subject to any preconditions; or (ii) the SIC
determines that a competitive situation has arisen.

If a declaration that the Offer is unconditional as to acceptances is confirmed in
accordance with Paragraph 4.2.1 of this Appendix 1, the Rule 22.6 Period will run
from the date of such confirmation (if given) or the date on which the Offer would
otherwise have closed, whichever is later.

Final Day Rule. The Offer (whether revised or not) will not be capable:

1.5.1 of becoming or being declared unconditional as to acceptances after 5.30
p.m. (Singapore time) on the 60th day after the Commencement Date; or

1.5.2 of being kept open after 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the 60th day after the
Commencement Date unless the Offer has previously become or been
declared to be unconditional as to acceptances,

provided that the Offeror may extend the Offer beyond such 60-day period with the
SIC’s prior consent (“Final Day Rule”). The SIC will normally grant such permission
if a competing offer has been announced.

Revision. Pursuant to Rule 20.1 of the Code, the terms of the Offer, if revised, will
remain open for acceptance for a period of at least 14 days from the date of despatch
of the written notification of the revision to Shareholders. In any case, where the
terms are revised, the benefit of the Offer (as so revised) will be made available to
each of the Shareholders, including those who had previously accepted the Offer.

SETTLEMENT

When Settlement is Due for All Shareholders. Subject to the Offer becoming or
being declared unconditional in all respects in accordance with its terms and to the
receipt by the Offeror from Accepting Shareholders of valid acceptances and all
relevant documents required by the Offeror which are complete in all respects and
in accordance with the instructions given in this Offer Document and in the Relevant
Acceptance Forms, and in the case of a depositor, the receipt by the Offeror of a
confirmation satisfactory to it that the number of Offer Shares tendered by the
depositor in acceptance of the Offer are standing to the credit of the “Free Balance”
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3.1

of the depositor’s Securities Account at the relevant time, then pursuant to Rule 30
of the Code:

211

21.2

in the case of Accepting Shareholders holding Offer Shares in scrip form,
remittances in the form of S$ crossed cheques for the aggregate Offer Price
in respect of their Offer Shares validly tendered in acceptance of the Offer
will be despatched to the Accepting Shareholders (or their designated
agents, or, in the case of joint Accepting Shareholders who have not
designated any agent, to the one first-named in the Register, as the case
may be) by ordinary post, at the risk of the Accepting Shareholders; or

In the case of Accepting Shareholders who are depositors, payment of the
aggregate Offer Price in respect of their Offer Shares validly tendered in
acceptance of the Offer will be credited directly into their designated bank
account for Singapore Dollars via CDP’s Direct Crediting Service (“DCS”) on
the payment date. In the event an Accepting Shareholder who is a depositor
is not subscribed to CDP’s DCS, any monies to be paid shall be credited to
such Accepting Shareholder’s Cash Ledger and subject to the same terms
and conditions as Cash Distributions under the CDP Operation of Securities
Account with the Depository Terms and Conditions (Cash Ledger and Cash
Distributions are defined therein), or in such other manner as they may have
agreed with CDP for payment of any cash distribution,

in each case, as soon as practicable and in any case:

(i)

(ii)

in respect of acceptances of the Offer which are complete and valid in all
respects and are received on or before the date on which the Offer
becomes or is declared to be unconditional in all respects in accordance with
its terms, within seven (7) Business Days of such date; or

in respect of acceptances of the Offer which are complete and valid in all
respects and are received after the date on which the Offer becomes or is
declared to be unconditional in all respects in accordance with its terms, but
before the Offer closes, within seven (7) Business Days of the date of such
receipt.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

Timing and Contents. Pursuant to Rule 28.1 of the Code, by 8.00 a.m. (Singapore
time) on the Market Day (“Relevant Day”) immediately after the day on which the
Offer is due to expire, or the Offer becomes or is declared to be unconditional as to
acceptances, or the Offer is revised or extended, the Offeror will announce and
simultaneously inform the SGX-ST of the total number of Shares (as nearly as
practicable):

3.11

3.1.2

for which valid acceptances of the Offer have been received;

held by the Offeror and any of its Concert Parties prior to the commencement
of the Offer period; and
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3.2

3.3

3.4

4.1

4.2

3.1.3 acquired or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and any of its Concert
Parties during the Offer period,

and will specify the respective percentages of the total number of Shares
represented by such numbers.

Suspension. Under Rule 28.2(a) of the Code, if the Offeror is unable, within the time
limit, to comply with any of the requirements in Paragraph 3.1 of this Appendix 1,
the SIC will consider requesting the SGX-ST to suspend dealings in the Shares until
the relevant information is given.

Valid Acceptances for Offer Shares.

3.3.1 Under Rule 28.1 of the Code and subject to Section 17.1 of the Letter to
Shareholders in this Offer Document, in computing the number of Offer
Shares represented by acceptances, the Offeror will, at the time of making
an announcement, take into account acceptances which are valid in all
respects.

3.3.2 Acceptances of the Offer will only be treated as valid for the purposes of the
Minimum Acceptance Condition if the relevant requirements of Note 2 on
Rule 28.1 of the Code are met.

Announcements. In this Offer Document, references to the making of any
announcement or the giving of a notice by the Offeror include the release of an
announcement by DBS or advertising agents for and on behalf of the Offeror to the
press or the delivery of or transmission by telephone, facsimile, SGXNET or
otherwise of an announcement to the SGX-ST. An announcement made otherwise
than to the SGX-ST shall be notified simultaneously to the SGX-ST.

RIGHT OF WITHDRAWAL OF ACCEPTANCES

Acceptances Irrevocable. Except as expressly provided in this Offer Document and
the Code, acceptances of the Offer shall be irrevocable.

Right of Withdrawal of Shareholders. A Shareholder who has accepted the Offer
may withdraw his acceptance:

4.2.1 immediately if the Offer has become or been declared to be unconditional
as to acceptances but the Offeror fails to comply with any of the
requirements set out in Paragraph 3.1 of this Appendix 1 by 3.30 p.m.
(Singapore time) on the Relevant Day. Subject to Rule 22.9 of the Code in
relation to the Final Day Rule, the Offeror may terminate this right of
withdrawal not less than eight (8) days after the Relevant Day by confirming
(if that be the case) that the Offer is still unconditional as to acceptances and
by complying with Rule 28.1 of the Code and the requirements set out in
Paragraph 3.1 of this Appendix 1;

4.2.2 after 14 days from the first Closing Date of the Offer, if the Offer has not by
then become unconditional as to acceptances. Such entitlement to withdraw
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2.4.

may be exercisable until the Offer becomes or is declared to be
unconditional as to acceptances; and

4.2.3 immediately if a competing offer for the Shares becomes or is declared to
be unconditional as to acceptances. This right of withdrawal also applies in
the converse situation, i.e. if the Offer becomes or is declared to be
unconditional as to acceptances, a Shareholder who has accepted a
competing offer may likewise withdraw his acceptance for such offer
immediately.

4.3 Procedures for Withdrawal of Acceptances. To withdraw his acceptance under
the Offer:

4.3.1 an Accepting Shareholder holding Offer Shares which are not deposited
with CDP must give written notice to the Offeror at GuocoLeisure Holdings
Limited c/o M & C Services Private Limited, at 112 Robinson Road, #05-01,
Singapore 068902; and

4.3.2 an Accepting Shareholder holding Offer Shares which are deposited with
CDP must give written notice to the Offeror at GuocoLeisure Holdings
Limited c/o The Central Depository (Pte) Limited, 9 North Buona Vista Drive,
#01-19/20 The Metropolis, Singapore 138588.

In relation to the Offer, a notice of withdrawal shall be effective only if signed by the Accepting
Shareholder or his agent duly appointed in writing and evidence of whose appointment is
produced in a form satisfactory to the Offeror within the same notice and when actually
received by the Offeror.”

Closing Date. The Offer will close at 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on 4 March 2021 or such later
date(s) as may be announced from time to time by or on behalf of the Offeror.

PROCEDURES FOR ACCEPTANCE

The procedures for acceptance of the Offer are set out in Section 5 of the Letter to Shareholders
in the Offer Document and Appendix 2 to the Offer Document, extracts of which are set out below.
Unless otherwise defined, all terms and expressions used in the extracts below shall have the
same meanings as those defined in the Offer Document.

“l. PROCEDURES FOR ACCEPTANCE

Appendix 2 to this Offer Document sets out the procedures for acceptance of the
Offer.

APPENDIX 2 - PROCEDURES FOR ACCEPTANCE OF THE OFFER
1.1 Depositors

1.1.1 Depositors whose Securities Accounts are credited with Offer Shares. If
you have Offer Shares standing to the credit of the “Free Balance” of your
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Securities Account, you should receive this Offer Document together with a
FAA. If you do not receive the FAA, you may obtain a copy of such FAA, upon
production of satisfactory evidence that you are a Shareholder, by submitting
a request to CDP via phone (+ 65 6535 7511) or email services
(asksgx@sgx.com) or by post to The Central Depository (Pte) Limited at 11
North Buona Vista Drive, #01-19/20 The Metropolis Tower 2, Singapore
138589. Electronic copies of the FAA may also be obtained from the website
of the SGX-ST at www.sgx.com.

Acceptance. If you wish to accept the Offer in respect of all or any of your
Offer Shares, you should:

(i)

complete the FAA in accordance with the provisions and instructions
in this Offer Document and the FAA (which provisions and instructions
shall be deemed to form part of the terms and conditions of the Offer).
In particular, you must state in Part C of the enclosed FAA or the
relevant section in the electronic form of the FAA, the number of Offer
Shares in respect of which you wish to accept the Offer. Please note

that:

(@)

(b)

if you:
()
(I

do not specify such number; or

specify a number which exceeds the number of Offer
Shares standing to the credit of the “Free Balance” of
your Securities Account as at 5.00 p.m. (Singapore
time) on the Date of Receipt or, in the case where the
Date of Receiptis on the Closing Date, as at 5.30 p.m.
(Singapore time) on the Closing Date,

you shall be deemed to have accepted the Offer in respect of
all the Offer Shares standing to the credit of the “Free
Balance” of your Securities Account as at 5.00 p.m.
(Singapore time) on the Date of Receipt or 5.30 p.m.
(Singapore time) on the Closing Date (if the FAA is received
by CDP on the Closing Date); and

if:

(1

(In

at the time of verification by CDP of the FAA on the
Date of Receipt, Paragraph 1.1.1(i)(a)(ll) of this
Appendix 2 is applicable in respect of the FAA;

there are, at such time of verification and/or at any
subsequent time before 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time)
on the Closing Date, outstanding settlement
instructions with CDP to receive further Offer Shares
into the “Free Balance” of your Securities Account
(“Unsettled Buy Position”); and
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{0 the Unsettled Buy Position will settle such that the
Offer Shares in the Unsettled Buy Position are
transferred to the “Free Balance” of your Securities
Account at any time during the period the Offer is
open, up to 5.30 p.m. on the Closing Date (“Settled
Offer Shares”),

then you shall be deemed to have accepted the Offer in
respect such number of Settled Offer Shares representing the
balance number of Offer Shares inserted in Part C of the FAA
which has not yet been accepted pursuant to Paragraph
1.1.1(i)(@)(ll) of this Appendix 2, or all Settled Offer Shares,
whichever is less; and

(ii) submit the FAA:

(a) in_the physical form enclosed after signing the FAA in
accordance with this Appendix 2 and the instructions printed
on the FAA and delivering the completed and signed FAA (no
part may be detached or otherwise mutilated) by post, in the
enclosed pre-addressed envelope at your own risk, to
GuocolLeisure Holdings Limited c/o The Central Depository
(Pte) Limited at Robinson Road Post Office, P.O. Box 1984,
Singapore 903934. If the completed and signed FAA is
delivered by post to the Offeror, please use the enclosed pre-
addressed envelope, which is pre-paid for posting in
Singapore only. It is your responsibility to affix adequate
postage on the said envelope if posting outside of Singapore.
Proof of posting is not proof of receipt by the Offeror at the
above address; or:

(b) in _electronic form via SGX-ST’s Investor Portal at
investors.sgx.com (in respect of individual and joint-alt
account holders only). Depositors who are corporations or
joint-and account holders cannot submit their FAA in
electronic form and should sign the enclosed FAA per its/their
signing mandate and where appropriate, affix its common seal
to the FAA in accordance with its constitution or relevant
constitutive documents,

in each case so as to arrive NOT LATER than 5.30 p.m. (Singapore
time) on the Closing Date. Settlement of the consideration under
the Offer is subject to the receipt of confirmation satisfactory to
the Offeror that the Offer Shares to which the FAA relates are
credited to the “Free Balance” of your Securities Account and
such settlement cannot be made until the Offer is unconditional
in all respects in accordance with its terms and all relevant
documents have been properly completed and submitted in
accordance with this Offer Document and the instructions
contained in the FAA.
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1.1.2

If you have sold or transferred all your Offer Shares held through CDP, you
need not forward this Offer Document and the accompanying FAA to the
purchaser or transferee, as CDP will arrange for a separate Offer Document
and FAA to be sent to the purchaser or transferee.

If you are a depository agent, you may accept the Offer via Electronic
Acceptance. CDP has been authorised by the Offeror to receive Electronic
Acceptances on its behalf and such Electronic Acceptances must be submitted
not later than 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Closing Date. Such
Electronic Acceptances submitted will be deemed irrevocable and subject to
each of the terms and conditions contained in the FAA and this Offer Document
as if the FAA had been completed and delivered to CDP.

Depositors whose Securities Accounts will be credited with Offer Shares.
If you have purchased Offer Shares on the SGX-ST and such Offer Shares
are in the process of being credited to the “Free Balance” of your Securities
Account, you should also receive this Offer Document together with a FAA. If
you do not receive the FAA, you may obtain a copy of such FAA, upon
production of satisfactory evidence that you have purchased the Offer Shares
on the SGX-ST, by submitting a request to CDP via phone (+ 65 6535 7511)
or email services (asksgx@sgx.com) or by post to The Central Depository
(Pte) Limited at 11 North Buona Vista Drive, #01-19/20 The Metropolis Tower
2, Singapore 138589. Electronic copies of the FAA may also be obtained from
the website of the SGX-ST at www.sgx.com.

Acceptance. If you wish to accept the Offer in respect of such Offer Shares,
you should, AFTER the “Free Balance” of your Securities Account has been
credited with such number of Offer Shares:

0] complete and sign the FAA in accordance with Paragraph 1.1.1 of this
Appendix 2 and the instructions printed on the FAA; and

(ii) submit the FAA:

(a) in the physical form enclosed after signing the FAA in
accordance with Paragraph 1.1.1 of this Appendix 2 and the
instructions printed on the FAA and delivering the completed
and signed FAA (no part may be detached or otherwise
mutilated) by post, in the enclosed pre-addressed envelope at
your own risk, to GuocoLeisure Holdings Limited c/o The
Central Depository (Pte) Limited at Robinson Road Post
Office, P.O. Box 1984, Singapore 903934. If the completed
and signed FAA is delivered by post to the Offeror, please use
the enclosed pre-addressed envelope, which is pre-paid for
posting in Singapore only. It is your responsibility to affix
adequate postage on the said envelope if posting outside of
Singapore. Proof of posting is not proof of receipt by the
Offeror at the above address; or
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1.1.3

(b) in__electronic form via SGX-ST’s Investor Portal at
investors.sgx.com (in respect of individual and joint-alt
account holders only). Depositors who are corporations or
joint-and account holders cannot submit their FAA in
electronic form and should sign the enclosed FAA per its/their
signing mandate and where appropriate, affix its common seal
to the FAA in accordance with its constitution or relevant
constitutive documents,

in each case so as to arrive NOT LATER than 5.30 p.m.
(Singapore time) on the Closing Date. Settlement of the
consideration under the Offer is subject to the receipt of
confirmation satisfactory to the Offeror that the Offer Shares to
which the FAA relates are credited to the “Free Balance” of your
Securities Account and such settlement cannot be made until
all relevant documents have been properly completed and
submitted in accordance with this Offer Document and the
instructions contained in the FAA.

Rejection. If upon receipt by CDP, on behalf of the Offeror, of the FAA, it is
established that such Offer Shares have not been or will not be, credited to the
“Free Balance” of your Securities Account (for example, where you sell or have
sold such Offer Shares), your acceptance is liable to be rejected. None of CDP,
DBS, the Registrar and/or the Offeror accepts any responsibility or liability in
relation to such rejections, including the consequences thereof.

If you purchase Offer Shares on the SGX-ST on a date close to the Closing
Date, your acceptance in respect of such Offer Shares is liable to be rejected
if the “Free Balance” of your Securities Account is not credited with such Offer
Shares by 5.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Date of Receipt or 5.30 p.m.
(Singapore time) on the Closing Date (if the FAA is received by CDP on the
Closing Date), save where you had indicated the number of Offer Shares you
wish to tender in acceptance of the Offer in Part C of the FAA and there is an
Unsettled Buy Position on or subsequent to the time of verification by CDP of
the FAA on the Date of Receipt which settles on or before 5.30 p.m. (Singapore
time) on the Closing Date. If an Unsettled Buy Position does not settle on or
before 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Closing Date, your acceptance in
respect of such Offer Shares will be rejected. None of CDP, DBS, the Registrar
and the Offeror accepts any responsibility or liability in relation to such a
rejection, including the consequences thereof.

Depositors whose Securities Accounts are and will be credited with Offer
Shares. If you have Offer Shares credited to the “Free Balance” of your
Securities Account, and have purchased additional Offer Shares on the SGX-
ST which are in the process of being credited to the “Free Balance” of your
Securities Account, you may accept the Offer in respect of the Offer Shares
standing to the credit of the “Free Balance” of your Securities Account and may
accept the Offer in respect of the additional Offer Shares purchased which are
in the process of being credited to your Securities Account only AFTER the
“Free Balance” of your Securities Account has been credited with such
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1.14

115

1.1.6

1.1.7

additional number of Offer Shares purchased. The provisions set out above
shall apply in the same way to your acceptance of the Offer.

FAAs received on Saturday, Sunday and public holidays. For the
avoidance of doubt, FAAs received by CDP on a Saturday, Sunday or public
holiday in Singapore will only be processed and validated on the next Business
Day.

General. No acknowledgement will be given by CDP for submissions of FAAs.
All communications, notices, documents, payments and remittances to be
delivered or sent to you will be sent by ordinary post at your own risk to your
address as it appears in the records of CDP. For reasons of confidentiality,
CDP will not entertain telephone enquiries relating to the number of Offer
Shares credited to your Securities Account. You can verify such number in
your Securities Account: (i) through CDP Online if you have registered for the
CDP Internet Access Service; or (ii) through the CDP Phone Service using
SMS OTP, under the option “To check your securities balance”,

Blocked Balance. Upon receipt of the signed original of the FAA which is
complete and valid in all respects, CDP will take such measures as it may
consider necessary or expedient to prevent any trading of the Offer Shares in
respect of which you have accepted the Offer during the period commencing
on the Date of Receipt and ending on the date of settlement of the
consideration for such Offer Shares, in the event of the Offer becoming or
being declared to be unconditional in all respects in accordance with its terms
(including, without limitation, earmarking or blocking the Offer Shares in
respect of which you have accepted the Offer and/or transferring them to the
“Blocked Balance” of your Securities Account). Such Offer Shares will be held
in the “Blocked Balance” until the consideration for such Offer Shares has been
despatched to you, in the event the Offer becomes or is declared to be
unconditional in all respects in accordance with its terms.

Notification. If you have accepted the Offer in accordance with the provisions
contained in this Appendix 2 and the FAA, upon the Offer becoming or being
declared to be unconditional in all respects in accordance with its terms and
the Offeror’s despatch of the consideration for the Offer Shares in respect of
which you have accepted the Offer, CDP will send you a notification letter
stating the number of Offer Shares debited from your Securities Account
together with payment of the aggregate Offer Price in respect of the Offer
Shares validly tendered in acceptance of the Offer which will be credited
directly into your designated bank account for Singapore Dollars via CDP’s
DCS as soon as practicable and in any event:

0] in respect of acceptances of the Offer which are complete and valid in
all respects and are received on or before the date on which the Offer
becomes or is declared unconditional in all respects in accordance
with its terms, within seven (7) Business Days of that date; or
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1.2

1.1.8

1.1.9

(i) in respect of acceptances of the Offer which are complete and valid in
all respects and are received after the date on which the Offer
becomes or is declared unconditional in all respects in accordance
with its terms, but before the Offer closes, within seven (7) Business
Days of the date of such receipt.

In the event you are not subscribed to CDP’s DCS, any monies to be paid shall
be credited to your Cash Ledger and subject to the same terms and conditions
as Cash Distributions under the CDP Operation of Securities Account with the
Depository Terms and Conditions (Cash Ledger and Cash Distributions are
defined therein), or in such other manner as they may have agreed with CDP
for payment of any cash distribution.

Return of Offer Shares. In the event the Offer does not become or is not
declared to be unconditional in all respects in accordance with its terms, CDP
will transfer the aggregate number of Offer Shares in respect of which you
have accepted the Offer and tendered for acceptance under the Offer to the
“Free Balance” of your Securities Account as soon as possible but in any event
within 14 days from the lapse or withdrawal of the Offer.

No Existing Securities Account. If you do not have any existing Securities
Account in your own name at the time of acceptance of the Offer, your
acceptance as contained in the FAA will be rejected.

Scrip Holders

121

1.2.2

Shareholders whose Shares are not deposited with CDP. If you hold Offer
Shares which are not deposited with CDP (“in scrip form”), you should receive
this Offer Document together with a FAT. If you do not receive a FAT, you may
obtain a copy, upon production of satisfactory evidence that you are a
Shareholder, from the Receiving Agent, at its office located at 112 Robinson
Road, #05-01, Singapore 068902 or request for a copy of the FAT to be sent
to an address in Singapore by ordinary post at your own risk by emailing or
calling DBS at GLoffer@dbs.com or + (65) 6878 6212 respectively. Electronic
copies of the FAT may also be obtained on the website of the SGX-ST at
WWW.SgX.Com.

Acceptance. If you wish to accept the Offer in respect of all or any of your
Offer Shares, you should:

0) complete the FAT in accordance with the provisions and instructions
in this Offer Document and the FAT (which provisions and instructions
shall be deemed to form part of the terms and conditions of the Offer).
In particular, you must state in Part A of the FAT, the number of Offer
Shares in respect of which you wish to accept the Offer and state in
Part B of the FAT, the share certificate number(s) of the relevant share
certificate(s). If you:

€) do not specify a number in Part A of the FAT; or
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(ii)

(iii)

(b) specify a number in Part A of the FAT which exceeds the
number of Offer Shares represented by the attached share
certificate(s) accompanying the FAT,

you shall be deemed to have accepted the Offer in respect of the
total number of Offer Shares represented by the share certificate(s)
accompanying the FAT;

sign the FAT in accordance with this Appendix 2 and the instructions
printed on the FAT; and

deliver:

(a) the completed and signed FAT in its entirety (no part may be
detached or otherwise mutilated);

(b) the share certificate(s), other document(s) of title and/or other
relevant document(s) required by the Offeror and/or the
Receiving Agent relating to the Offer Shares in respect of
which you wish to accept the Offer. If you are recorded in the
Register as holding Offer Shares but do not have the relevant
share certificate(s) relating to such Offer Shares, you, at your
own risk, are required to procure the Company to issue such
share certificate(s) in accordance with the constitution of the
Company and then deliver such share -certificate(s) in
accordance with the procedures set out in this Offer
Document and the FAT;

(c) where such Offer Shares are not registered in your name, a
transfer form, duly executed by the person in whose name
such share certificate(s) is/are registered and stamped, with
the particulars of the transferee left blank (to be completed by
the Offeror or a person authorised by it); and

(d) any other relevant document(s),
either:
() by hand, to GuocoLeisure Holdings Limited c/o M & C

Services Private Limited, at 112 Robinson Road, #05-01,
Singapore 068902; or

(1 by post, in the enclosed pre-addressed envelope at your own
risk, to GuocoLeisure Holdings Limited c/o M & C Services
Private Limited, at 112 Robinson Road, #05-01, Singapore
068902,

in each case so as to arrive not later than 5.30 p.m. (Singapore
time) on the Closing Date. If the completed and signed FAT is
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21

delivered by post to the Offeror, please use the enclosed pre-
addressed envelope at your own risk, which is pre-paid for posting
in Singapore only. It is your responsibility to affix adequate postage
on the said envelope if posting outside of Singapore. Proof of posting
is not proof of receipt by the Offeror at the above address.
Settlement of the Offer Price for such Offer Shares cannot be made
until the Offer is unconditional in all respects in accordance with its
terms and all relevant documents have been properly completed and
delivered.

1.2.3 Receipt. No acknowledgement of receipt of any FAT, share certificate(s),
other document(s) of title, transfer form(s) and/or any other accompanying
document(s) will be given by the Offeror, DBS or the Receiving Agent.

1.2.4 Risk of Posting. All communications, certificates, notices, documents,
payments and remittances to be delivered or sent to you (or your designated
agent or, in the case of joint Accepting Shareholders who have not designated
any agent, to the one first-named in the Register, as the case may be) will be
sent by ordinary post to your respective addresses as they appear in the
records of the Registrar (or for the purposes of payments only, to such address
as may be specified in the FAT) at your sole risk.

1.2.5 Return of Offer Shares. In the event the Offer does not become or is not
declared to be unconditional in all respects in accordance with its terms, the
FAT, the share certificate(s) and any other accompanying document(s) will be
returned to you by ordinary post to your relevant address as it appears in the
records of the Registrar (or in the case of joint shareholders, to the joint
Accepting Shareholder first-named in the Register) at your own risk as soon
as possible but, in any event, within 14 days of the lapse or withdrawal of the
Offer.

1.2.6 FATs received on Saturday, Sunday and public holidays. For the
avoidance of doubt, FATs received by the Receiving Agent on a Saturday,
Sunday or public holiday in Singapore will only be processed and validated on
the next Business Day.

GENERAL

Disclaimer and Discretion. The Offeror, DBS, the Registrar/Receiving Agent and/or
CDP will be entitled, in their sole and absolute discretion, to reject or treat as valid any
acceptance of the Offer through the FAA and/or the FAT, as the case may be, which
is not entirely in order or which does not comply with the terms of this Offer Document
and the Relevant Acceptance Forms or which is otherwise incomplete, incorrect,
unsigned or invalid in any respect. If you wish to accept the Offer, it is your
responsibility to ensure that the FAA and/or the FAT, as the case may be, is properly
completed in all respects and that the FAA and/or the FAT, as the case may be, should
be submitted with original signature(s) and that all required documents, where
applicable, are provided. Any decision to reject or treat as valid any acceptance will be
final and binding and none of the Offeror, DBS, the Registrar/Receiving Agent and/or
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2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

CDP accepts any responsibility or liability for such a decision, including the
consequences of such a decision. The Offeror and DBS each reserves the right to treat
acceptances of the Offer as valid if received by or on behalf of any of them at any place
or places determined by them otherwise than as stated in this Offer Document and in
the FAA and/or the FAT, as the case may be, or if made otherwise than in accordance
with the provisions of this Offer Document and in the FAA and/or the FAT, as the case
may be.

Scrip and Scripless Offer Shares. If you hold some Offer Shares in scrip form and
others with CDP, you should complete a FAT for the former and a FAA for the latter in
accordance with the respective procedures set out in this Appendix 2 and the Relevant
Acceptance Forms if you wish to accept the Offer in respect of such Offer Shares.

Deposit Time. If you hold Offer Shares in scrip form, the Offer Shares may not be
credited into your Securities Account with CDP in time for you to accept the Offer by
way of the FAA if you were to deposit your share certificate(s) with CDP after the
Commencement Date and ending on the Closing Date (both dates inclusive). If you
wish to accept the Offer in respect of such Offer Shares held in scrip form, you should
complete a FAT and follow the procedures set out in Paragraph 1.2 of this Appendix
2.

Correspondences. All communications, certificates, notices, documents and
remittances to be delivered or sent to you (or in the case of scrip holders, your
designated agent or, in the case of joint Accepting Shareholders who have not
designated any agent, to the one first named in the records of CDP or the Registrar,
as the case may be) will be sent by ordinary post to your respective mailing addresses
as they appear in the records of CDP or the Registrar, as the case may be, at the risk
of the person entitled thereto (or for the purposes of remittances only, to such different
name and addresses as may be specified by you in the FAA and/or the FAT, as the
case may be, at your own risk).

Evidence of Title. Submission of the duly completed FAA (in any manner permitted in
the FAA or the electronic form of the FAA) and/or delivery of the duly completed and
signed FAT, as the case may be, and/or together with the relevant share certificate(s)
and/or other documents of title (where applicable) and/or other relevant document(s)
required by the Offeror, DBS, CDP and/or the Registrar/Receiving Agent, to the
Offeror, DBS, CDP and/or the Registrar/Receiving Agent, as the case may be, shall be
conclusive evidence in favour of the Offeror, CDP and/or the Registrar/Receiving
Agent, as the case may be, of the right and title of the person(s) signing it to deal with
the same and with the Offer Shares to which it relates. The Offeror, DBS, CDP and/or
the Receiving Agent shall be entitled to assume the accuracy of any information and/or
documents submitted together with any FAA and/or FAT, as the case may be, and
shall not be required to verify or question the validity of the same.

Loss in Transmission. The Offeror, DBS, the Registrar/Receiving Agent and/or CDP,
as the case may be, shall not be liable for any loss in transmission of the FAA and/or
the FAT.
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2.7 Risk and Delays in relation to Electronic Submission of the FAA. If you submit the
electronic form of the FAA, you accept the risk of defects or delays caused by failure
or interruption of electronic systems, and you agree to hold CDP, the Offeror and/or
DBS harmless against any losses directly or indirectly caused by such failure or
interruption of electronic systems.

2.8 Acceptances Irrevocable. Your completion, execution and/or submission, as the
case may be, of the FAA and/or the FAT shall constitute your irrevocable acceptance
of the Offer, on the terms and subject to the conditions contained in this Offer
Document and the FAA and/or the FAT. Except as expressly provided in this Offer
Document and the Code, the acceptance of the Offer made by you using the FAA
and/or the FAT, as the case may be, shall be irrevocable and any instructions or
subsequent FAA(s) and/or FAT(s) received by CDP and/or the Registrar/Receiving
Agent, as the case may be, after the FAA and/or the FAT, as the case may be, has
been received shall be disregarded.

2.9 Personal Data Privacy. By completing, submitting and/or delivering a Relevant
Acceptance Form, each person: (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of
his personal data by CDP, Securities Clearing and Computer Services (Pte) Ltd, CPF
Board, the Registrar/Receiving Agent, the Offeror, DBS and the Company (the
“Relevant Parties”) for the purpose of facilitating his acceptance of the Offer, and in
order for the Relevant Parties to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules,
regulations and/or guidelines; (ii) warrants that where he discloses the personal data
of another person, such disclosure is in compliance with applicable laws, regulations
and/or guidelines; and (iii) agrees that he will indemnify the Relevant Parties in respect
of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of his
breach of warranty.

2.10 Liability. You agree that none of the Offeror, DBS, CDP and/or the Receiving Agent
shall be liable for any action or omission in respect of the FAA, FAT and/or any
information and/or documents submitted therewith. You agree to indemnify, hold
harmless and at their respective request defend, the Offeror, DBS, CDP and/or the
Receiving Agent and their respective affiliates, directors, officers, employees and
agents (“Indemnified Parties”) against (i) any claim, demand, action or proceeding
made or initiated against; and/or (ii) all losses, damages, costs and expenses
(including all legal costs and expenses) suffered or incurred by, any of the Indemnified
Parties as a result of or in relation to the FAA, FAT and/or any information and/or
documents submitted therewith.”

INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR

Section 6 of the Letter to Shareholders in the Offer Document sets out certain information on the
Offeror, extracts of which are set out below. Additional information on the Offeror extracted from
Appendix 3 to the Offer Document is set out in Appendix C to this Circular. Unless otherwise
defined, all terms and expressions used in the extracts below shall have the same meanings as
those defined in the Offer Document.
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6. INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR

6.1 The Offeror. The Offeror is a special purpose vehicle incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 23 December 2020 and is a private exempted company limited by shares.
The Offeror is a wholly-owned subsidiary of GGL. As at the Latest Practicable Date,
GGL has an interest in 1,007,906,134 Shares, representing 73.67 per cent. of the
Shares (on the basis that there are no treasury shares), held directly by GAL, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of GGL. The Offeror’s principal activity is that of investment holding.
The Offeror has not carried on any business since its incorporation, except for matters
in connection with making the Offer.

6.2 Share Capital. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Offeror has an issued and paid-
up share capital of US$1.00 comprising of one ordinary share held by GGL.

6.3 Directors. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors are Ms Cynthia Cheng and
Mr Wong Sau Kwong, who are also respectively the General Counsel and the Financial
Controller of GGL.

Appendices 3 and 4 to this Offer Document sets out additional information on the
Offeror and GGL respectively.”

IRREVOCABLE UNDERTAKING

Section 8 of the Letter to Shareholders in the Offer Document sets out certain information relating
to the Irrevocable Undertaking received by the Offeror, extracts of which are set out below.
Unless otherwise defined, all terms and expressions used in the extracts below shall have the
same meanings as those defined in the Offer Document.

‘8. IRREVOCABLE UNDERTAKING

8.1 GAL. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Offeror has received an irrevocable
undertaking from GAL (the “Irrevocable Undertaking”) dated 15 January 2021,
pursuant to which GAL has undertaken (i) to tender all of its Shares in acceptance of
the Offer (the “Undertaking Shares”), and (ii) to waive its rights under Rule 30 of the
Code to receive the cash consideration payable to it by the Offeror.

8.2 Termination or Lapse of Irrevocable Undertaking. The Irrevocable Undertaking will
terminate or lapse on the date on which the Offer is withdrawn.

8.3 No Other Undertakings. Save for the Irrevocable Undertaking, as at the Latest
Practicable Date, neither the Offeror nor any Concert Party has received any
undertakings from any other party to accept or reject the Offer.

8.4  Available for Inspection. A copy of the Irrevocable Undertaking is available for
inspection at the offices of the Registrar at 112 Robinson Road, #05-01, Singapore
068902 during normal business hours upon prior appointment with the Registrar at
+65 6227 6660, until the date on which the Offer closes, lapses or is withdrawn in
accordance with its terms.”
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6. REASONS AND BENEFITS FOR THE OFFER

The full text of the reasons and benefits for the Offer has been extracted from Section 9 of the
Letter to Shareholders in the Offer Document, extracts of which are set out below. Unless
otherwise defined, all terms and expressions used in the extracts below shall have the same
meanings as those defined in the Offer Document.

9. REASONS AND BENEFITS FOR THE OFFER

9.1 Greater management flexibility to navigate a challenging and unprecedented
operating environment. The Offeror is making the Offer with a view to privatising
and delisting the Company from the SGX-ST and exercising any rights of compulsory
acquisition that may arise under either Section 102 or Section 103 of the Companies
Act (the “Compulsory Acquisition”). The Offeror believes that privatising the
Company will give the Offeror and the management of the Company more flexibility
to manage the business of the Company and optimise capital resources amidst a
challenging and unprecedented operating environment driven by the COVID-19
pandemic and Brexit as well as low oil and gas prices.

9.1.1 The Company faces a challenging and unprecedented operating
environment driven by COVID-19 and Brexit. The ongoing COVID-19
pandemic has had an adverse impact on the global economy and has
significantly affected the performance of the Company’s core businesses. In
the Company’s main market of the United Kingdom (“UK”), the disruption of
the pandemic is compounded by the impact of Brexit.

The pandemic has caused unprecedented and severe disruptions to the
hospitality sector in the UK. As the Company’s main business is in the hotel
sector of the UK, its operations were significantly impacted by pandemic
driven restrictions which resulted in most of the Company’s hotels being
closed during 1H FY21, contributing to a decline in the Company’s revenue
of 90 per cent. in comparison to 1H FY20, resulting in a net loss for 1H FY21
of US$19.8m which would have been significantly larger if not for other
operating income of US$26.5m which mainly comprised payments arising
from insurance claims relating to UK hotel business disruption and
government grants relating to the pandemic. This followed a 27 per cent.
decline in hotel segment revenue in FY2020 in comparison to FY2019.

The pandemic continues to significantly curtail demand for UK hotel rooms,
with renewed government-imposed lockdowns commencing in January 2021
resulting in the closure of the Company’s hotels. Given this, it is likely the
Company’s UK hotels will continue to face a difficult operating environment in
2021. Further uncertainties are driven by a post-Brexit environment that may
materially impact business travel and retail tourism?2.

2 Financial figures and explanatory statements pertaining to the financial performance and business operations of the Company
have been sourced from the Company’s unaudited and audited financial statements for 1H FY21 and FY2020 respectively and
its annual report for FY2020, as disclosed on SGXNET.
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9.1.2 The Company’s Oil and Gas business has been affected by low oil and
gas prices. The Company’s oil and gas business relies on royalty income
from its entitlement to Bass Strait’s oil and gas production in Australia. This
royalty income has declined given lower crude oil and gas prices impacted by
the ongoing pandemic. This contributed to a 90 per cent. decline in the
Company’s revenue in TH FY21 in comparison to 1H FY20 and followed a 14
per cent. decline in oil and gas segment revenue in FY2020 in comparison to
FY20192,

9.1.3 The Company did not declare a dividend for FY2020. The Company did
not declare a dividend for FY2020 considering a bleak economic outlook and
the need to conserve cash to meet its operational requirements?.

9.2 Opportunity for Shareholders to realise their investment at a premium without
incurring brokerage fees.

9.2.1 The Offer represents an opportunity for Shareholders to realise their
investment at a premium amidst a challenging and unprecedented operating
environment for the Company.

9.2.2 Assetoutin Section 12 of this Letter to Shareholders in this Offer Document,
the Offer Price represents a premium of approximately:

0] 25.0 per cent. over the last transacted price (the “Last Transacted
Price”) per Share of S$0.560 on 14 January 2021 (being the last full
Market Day on which the Shares were transacted on prior to the
release of the Offer Announcement (the “Last Trading Day”)); and

(i) 28.2 per cent., 33.3 per cent., 28.0 per cent. and 9.5 per cent. over
the VWAP per Share for the one (1)-month, three (3)-month, six (6)-
month and twelve (12)-month periods, respectively, up to and
including the Last Trading Day.

Offer Price: S$0.700 per Share

25.0% 28.2% 33.3% 28.0%

S$$0.639

S$0.560 S$0.546

S$0.525 $$0.547

Last Transacted Price 1-month VWAP 3-month VWAP 6-month VWAP 12-month VWAP

Notes:

(1) The S$ figures (other than the Offer Price) are rounded to the nearest three (3) decimal

2 Financial figures and explanatory statements pertaining to the financial performance and business operations of the Company
have been sourced from the Company’s unaudited and audited financial statements for 1H FY21 and FY2020 respectively and
its annual report for FY2020, as disclosed on SGXNET.
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9.3

places and computed on data sourced from Bloomberg L.P. up to and including the Last
Trading Day.

(2) The respective premia are rounded to the nearest one (1) decimal place.

9.2.3 The Offer Price implies a price to net asset value multiple (“PINAV”) of 0.73

times, which exceeds the Company’s historical averages.

The P/NAV multiple implied by the Offer Price of 0.73 times represents a
premium of 19.7 per cent., 9.0 per cent. and 5.8 per cent to the historical 1-
year, 3-year, 5-year average P/NAV multiple of the Shares.

0.67x 0.69x
0.61x

Offer Price / NAV per Share!'®  Historical 1-year average
PINAV 26)

Historical 3-year average
PINAV @6)

Historical 5-year average
P/INAV @)

Notes:

(1) Based on the reported NAV per Share as at 31 December 2020, converted to Singapore
dollars at an exchange rate of 1 USD: 1.3218 SGD.

(2) Multiples shown in the chart above are rounded to the nearest two (2) decimal places.

(3) The historical average P/NAV is computed daily up to and including the Last Trading Day
and reflects the market capitalisation of the Shares at the end of each trading day divided
by total common equity (net assets) for the last reported financial quarter or period, as
sourced from Capital IQ and Company filings. Total common equity has been translated to
Singapore dollars at the prevailing historical USD:SGD exchange rate as at the end of
each respective financial quarter or period.

Opportunity for Shareholders who may otherwise find it difficult to exit their
investment in the Company due to low trading liquidity. The historical trading
liquidity of the Shares on the SGX-ST has been low. The average daily trading volume
of the Shares over the twelve (12)-, six (6)-, three (3)- and one (1)-month periods up
to and including the Last Trading Day are detailed in the table below.

One- Three- Six- Twelve-
month month month month
Average daily trading volume
as a percentage of total | 0.004% 0.003% 0.003% 0.010%
number of Shares®@)

Notes:

(1) The average daily trading volume is based on data extracted from Bloomberg L.P. as at the Last
Trading Day and calculated using the daily total volume of Shares traded divided by the total number
of Shares (excluding those held by the trust established by the Company for the GL Limited
Executives’ Share Options Scheme).
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9.4

9.5

(2) The percentage figures are rounded to the nearest three (3) decimal places.

Only Offer capable of turning unconditional or succeeding. Given that GAL,
holding Shares representing approximately 73.67 per cent. of the issued share capital
of the Company, has, as at the Latest Practicable Date undertaken to accept the Offer,
no other general offer will be capable of turning unconditional or succeeding. Should
the Offer fail to become or be declared unconditional, the Offeror is not permitted
under the Code to make another general offer for the Company for 12 months
following the lapse of the Offer.

Costs of maintaining listing status. In maintaining its listed status, the Company
incurs compliance and other costs associated with the requirements of being listed.
In the event that the Company is delisted from the SGX-ST, the Company will be able
to save on expenses relating to the maintenance of its listed status and focus its
resources on its operational matters amidst a challenging and unprecedented
operating environment.”

THE OFFEROR'’S INTENTIONS FOR THE COMPANY

The full text of the Offeror’s intentions for the Company has been extracted from Section 10 of
the Letter to Shareholders in the Offer Document, extracts of which are set out below. Unless
otherwise defined, all terms and expressions used in the extracts below shall have the same
meanings as those defined in the Offer Document. Shareholders are advised to read the
extracts below carefully and note the Offeror’s future plans for the Company.

“10.

THE OFFEROR’S INTENTIONS FOR THE COMPANY

The Offeror intends for the Company to continue with its existing activities and has no
intention to, in connection with or as a result of the Offer, (i) introduce any major
changes to the business of the Company, (ii) re-deploy the fixed assets of the
Company, or (iii) discontinue the employment of any of the existing employees of the
Company and its subsidiaries, other than in the ordinary course of business. However,
the Directors retain the flexibility at any time to consider any options in relation to the
Company and its subsidiaries which may present themselves and which they may
regard to be in the interest of the Offeror.”

LISTING STATUS AND COMPULSORY ACQUISITION

Section 11 of the Offer Document sets out the intentions of the Offeror relating to the listing status
of the Company and compulsory acquisition, extracts of which are set out below. Unless
otherwise defined, all terms and expressions used in the extracts below shall have the same
meanings as those defined in the Offer Document. Shareholders are advised to read the
extracts below carefully and note the matters relating to compulsory acquisition and
listing status and trading suspensions.
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“11.

111

11.2

LISTING STATUS AND COMPULSORY ACQUISITION

Listing Status and Trading Suspension. Under Rule 1105 of the Listing Manual,
upon an announcement by the Offeror that acceptances have been received pursuant
to the Offer that bring the holdings of the Shares owned by the Offeror and its Concert
Parties to above 90 per cent. of the total number of Shares (excluding treasury
shares), the SGX-ST may suspend the trading of the listed securities of the Company
on the SGX-ST until such time when the SGX-ST is satisfied that at least 10 per cent.
of the total number of Shares (excluding treasury shares) are held by at least 500
Shareholders who are members of the public. Rule 1303(1) of the Listing Manual
provides that where the Offeror succeeds in garnering acceptances exceeding 90 per
cent. of the total number of Shares (excluding treasury shares), thus causing the
percentage of the total number of Shares (excluding treasury shares) held in public
hands to fall below 10 per cent., the SGX-ST will suspend trading of the Shares only
at the close of the Offer. Under the Listing Manual, “public” refers to persons other
than:

0] directors, chief executive officer, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company or its subsidiary companies; and

(ii) associates of the persons referred to in Section 11.1(i) of this Letter to
Shareholders in this Offer Document above.

Shareholders are advised to note that Rule 723 of the Listing Manual requires the
Company to ensure that at least 10 per cent. of the total number of Shares (excluding
preference shares, convertible equity securities and treasury shares) is at all times
held by the public (the “Free Float Requirement”). In addition, under Rule 724(1) of
the Listing Manual, if the percentage of the total number of Shares (excluding treasury
shares) held in public hands falls below 10 per cent., the Company must, as soon as
practicable, announce that fact and the SGX-ST may suspend trading of all the listed
securities of the Company on the SGX-ST. Rule 724(2) of the Listing Manual further
states that the SGX-ST may allow the Company a period of three (3) months, or such
longer period as the SGX-ST may agree, for the percentage of the total number of
Shares (excluding treasury shares) held by members of the public to be raised to at
least 10 per cent., failing which the Company may be removed from the Official List
of the SGX-ST.

In the event acceptances of the Offer result in the Free Float Requirement not
being met and/or trading of Shares on the SGX-ST is suspended pursuant to
Rules 724, 1105 or 1303(1) of the Listing Manual, the Offeror does not intend to
preserve the listing status of the Company and has no intention of undertaking
or supporting any action to satisfy the Free Float Requirement or for any such
trading suspension by the SGX-ST to be lifted. In such event, the Offeror intends
to delist the Company from the Official List of the SGX-ST.

Compulsory Acquisition. In the event that the Offeror (i) receives valid acceptances
pursuant to the Offer from the Commencement Date in respect of not less than 90 per
cent. of the total number of Shares; or (ii) acquires Shares whether through valid
acceptances of the Offer or otherwise such that the Offeror holds 95 per cent. or more
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10.

of the total number of Shares, the Offeror intends to exercise its right under either
Section 102 or Section 103 of the Companies Act to effect the Compulsory
Acquisition.”

FINANCIAL ASPECTS OF THE OFFER

Section 12 of the Letter to Shareholders in the Offer Document sets out certain information on
the financial aspects of the Offer, extracts of which are set out below. Unless otherwise defined,
all terms and expressions used in the extracts below shall have the same meanings as those
defined in the Offer Document.

“12.  FINANCIAL ASPECTS OF THE OFFER

The Offer Price represents the following premia over the historical traded prices of the
Shares:

Premium of the
Benchmark | offer Price over the

Price W@ Benchmark Price ©®
(S$) (%)
Last Transacted Price per Share as quoted on the
SGX-ST on 14 January 2021, being the Last 0.560 25.0%

Trading Day

VWAP of the Shares as transacted on the SGX-ST
for the one (1)-month period up to and including the 0.546 28.2%
Last Trading Day

VWAP of the Shares as transacted on the SGX-ST
for the three (3)-month period up to and including 0.525 33.3%
the Last Trading Day

VWAP of the Shares as transacted on the SGX-ST
for the six (6)-month period up to and including the 0.547 28.0%
Last Trading Day

VWAP of the Shares as transacted on the SGX-ST
for the twelve (12)-month period up to and including 0.639 9.5%
the Last Trading Day

Notes:

Q) Based on data extracted from Bloomberg L.P. as at 14 January 2021.

2) Computed based on the Share prices rounded to the nearest three (3) decimal places.
?3) Percentages rounded to the nearest one (1) decimal place.”

DISCLOSURE OF HOLDINGS AND DEALINGS

Section 13 of the Letter to Shareholders in the Offer Document and Appendix 6 to the Offer
Document set out certain information relating to disclosure of holdings and dealings, extracts of
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which are set out below. Unless otherwise defined, all terms and expressions used in the extracts
below shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Offer Document.

“13. DISCLOSURES OF HOLDINGS AND DEALINGS

13.1 Holdings and Dealings of Company Securities. Based on the latest information
available to the Offeror and save as set out in this Offer Document (including Appendix
6 to this Offer Document), as at the Latest Practicable Date none of the Offeror, its
directors and its Concert Parties:

13.1.1 own, control or have agreed to acquire any Company Securities; and

13.1.2 has dealt for value in any Company Securities in the period commencing three
(3) months prior to the Announcement Date up to the Latest Practicable Date
(such period, the “Relevant Period”).

13.2 Other Arrangements. To the best of the Offeror’s knowledge and save as set out in
this Offer Document (including Section 8 of the Letter to Shareholders in this Offer
Document and Appendix 6 to this Offer Document), none of the Offeror and its Concert
Parties has, as at the Latest Practicable Date, in respect of any Company Securities:

13.2.1 entered into any arrangement of the kind referred to in Note 7 on Rule 12 of the
Code with any person, including any indemnity or option arrangements, and
any agreement or understanding, formal or informal, of whatever nature,
relating to any Company Securities which may be an inducement to deal or
refrain from dealing in Company Securities;

13.2.2 received any irrevocable commitment (other than the Irrevocable Undertaking)
to accept the Offer in respect of any Company Securities;

13.2.3 granted any security interest in respect of any Company Securities in favour of
any other person, whether through a charge, pledge or otherwise;

13.2.4 borrowed any Company Securities from any other person (excluding those
which have been on-lent or sold); or

13.2.5 lent any Company Securities to any other person.

APPENDIX 6 — DISCLOSURES

1. HOLDINGS OF COMPANY SECURITIES BY THE OFFEROR AND ITS CONCERT
PARTIES (BEING PARTIES ACTING OR DEEMED TO BE ACTING IN CONCERT
WITH THE OFFEROR)

The table below sets out the number of Company Securities held by the Offeror and its
Concert Parties as at the Latest Practicable Date. Based on the latest information
available to the Offeror as at the Latest Practicable Date and save as disclosed below,
none of the Offeror, its directors and its Concert Parties owns, controls or has agreed
to acquire any Company Securities as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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HOLDINGS OF COMPANY SECURITIES (SHARES) BY THE OFFEROR AND ITS

CONCERT PARTIES

Direct Interest Deemed Interest®
No.| Name
No. of Shares %W No. of Shares %M
1. | GAL 1,007,906,134 |  73.67 - -
2. | GGL® - - 1,007,906,134 73.67
3. | Kwek Leng Hai®¥ 300,000 0.02 - -
GuoLine Overseas
4. 1,415,000 0.10 1,007,906,134 73.67
Limited (“GOL”)®)
GuolLine Capital Assets
5. L - - 1,009,321,134 73.78
Limited (“‘GCAL”)®
HL Management Co
6. 3,235,000 0.24 - -
Sdn Bhd ("HLMC”)
Hong Leong Company
7. | (Malaysia) Berhad - - 1,012,556,134 74.01
(‘HLCM?))
HL Holdings Sdn Bhd
8. - - 1,012,556,134 74.01
(“HLH”)®)
Hong Leong Investment
9. | Holdings Pte. Ltd. - - 1,024,135,125 74.86
(“‘HLIH»)®
10.| Quek Leng Chan(t0) 735,000 0.05 1,012,556,134 74.01
11.| Tan Lim Heng® 1,100,000 0.08 - -
12.| Quek Kon Sean? 10,200,000 0.75 - -
13.| Soon Seong Keat®?® 170,000 0.01 - -
14.| Chin Min Yann®4 2,600 n.m.9 - -
15.| Lim Chew Yan®® 220,605 0.02 - -
16.| Dato’ Tan Ang Meng(® 13,952 | n.m.(9 - -
17.| Song Kian Koo@?" 30,000 n.m.19) - -
Peh Yeow Ben
18. e 25,000 | n.m.0 : :
Lawrence(8)
Notes:
1) Calculated based on 1,368,063,633 Shares and on the basis that there are no treasury shares
and rounded to the nearest two (2) decimal places.
2 The deemed interest arises by virtue of Section 4 of the SFA.
?3) GGL’s deemed interest arises from its interest in GAL.
(4) Kwek Leng Hai is a director of GGL.
5) GOL'’s deemed interest arises from its interest in GAL.
(6) GCAL’s deemed interest arises from its interest in GOL.
) HLCM'’s deemed interest arises from its interest in GCAL and HLMC.
(8) HLH’s deemed interest arises from its interest in HLCM.
(9) HLIH’s deemed interest arises from its interest in HLCM and other deemed interest arises by
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1.2

(10)
(11

(12)

(13)
(14
(15)
(16)
an
(18)

(19)

virtue of Section 4 of the SFA.
Quek Leng Chan’s deemed interest arises from his interest in HLH.
Tan Lim Heng is a director of a fellow subsidiary of the Offeror.

Quek Kon Sean is a director of an upstream holding company of the Offeror and fellow
subsidiaries of the Offeror.

Soon Seong Keat is a director of the fellow subsidiaries of the Offeror.

Chin Min Yann is a director of the fellow subsidiaries of the Offeror.

Lim Chew Yan is a director of the fellow subsidiaries of the Offeror.

Dato’ Tan Ang Meng is a director of a fellow subsidiary of the Offeror.

Song Kian Koo is a director of the fellow subsidiaries of the Offeror.

Peh Yeow Beng Lawrence is an independent director of a fellow subsidiary of the Offeror.

n.m. means not meaningful.

HOLDINGS OF COMPANY SECURITIES BY CONCERT PARTIES AS A RESULT OF
OPTIONS GRANTED OVER THE SHARES BY A CONCERT PARTY OF THE

OFFEROR
Exercise /
No. of Conversion
Shares Exercise Period of Price of
under the Company Company
No. | Name Options® | %® Securities Securities
From 17 December
1. Quek Kon Sean® 900,000 0.07 | 2018 up to 27 May S$0.834
2023
From 17 December
2. Soon Seong Keat® | 900,000 0.07 2018 up to 27 May S$0.834
2023
From 17 December
3. Lim Chew Yan® 900,000 0.07 2018 up to 27 May S$0.834
2023
Notes:

@

Options over the Shares were granted by a fellow subsidiary of HLCM.

2) Calculated based on 1,368,063,633 Shares and on the basis that there are no treasury shares
and rounded to the nearest two (2) decimal places.

?3) Quek Kon Sean is a director of an upstream holding company of the Offeror and fellow
subsidiaries of the Offeror.

4) Soon Seong Keat is a director of the fellow subsidiaries of the Offeror.

(5) Lim Chew Yan is a director of the fellow subsidiaries of the Offeror.
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DEALINGS IN COMPANY SECURITIES BY THE OFFEROR AND ITS CONCERT
PARTIES DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD

The table below sets out the dealings in Company Securities for value by the Offeror
and its Concert Parties during the Relevant Period. Based on the latest information
available to the Offeror as at the Latest Practicable Date and save as disclosed below,
none of the Offeror, its directors and its Concert Parties has dealt for value in any
Company Securities during the Relevant Period.

Average
No. of Shares Transaction
in respect of Nature of Price per
No. | Name Date the Dealing Dealings Share (S$)
1. GAL 29 October 2020 2,400 | Purchase of 0.48271
Shares
2. GAL 30 October 2020 1,600 | Purchase of 0.48188
Shares
3. GAL 02 November 2020 8,300 | Purchase of 0.48819
Shares
4. GAL 03 November 2020 42,300 | Purchase of 0.48855
Shares
5. GAL 04 November 2020 60,700 | Purchase of 0.47247
Shares
6. GAL 05 November 2020 18,400 | Purchase of 0.47003
Shares
7. GAL 06 November 2020 52,200 | Purchase of 0.48758
Shares
8. GAL 09 November 2020 74,200 | Purchase of 0.47837
Shares
9. GAL 11 November 2020 100,000 | Purchase of 0.50000
Shares
10. | GAL 13 November 2020 39,600 | Purchase of 0.49753
Shares
11. | GAL 15 January 2021 6,324,000 | Purchase of 0.70000
Shares
12. | GAL 18 January 2021 1,282,000 | Purchase of 0.69500
Shares
13. | GAL 18 January 2021 27,500,000 | Purchase of 0.70000
Shares
14. | GAL 19 January 2021 3,711,800 | Purchase of 0.70000
Shares
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11. CONFIRMATION OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Section 14 of the Letter to Shareholders in the Offer Document sets out certain information on
the confirmation of financial resources, extracts of which are set out below. Unless otherwise
defined, all terms and expressions used in the extracts below shall have the same meanings as
those defined in the Offer Document.

“14. CONFIRMATION OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES

DBS, as the sole financial adviser to the Offeror in connection with the Offer, confirms
that sufficient financial resources are available to the Offeror to satisfy in full all
acceptances of the Offer by Shareholders on the basis of the Offer Price, excluding the
Undertaking Shares to be tendered by GAL pursuant to the Irrevocable Undertaking and
for which payment will be waived, as described in Section 8.1 of the Letter to
Shareholders in this Offer Document.”

12. OVERSEAS SHAREHOLDERS

12.1 Availability of Offer. The availability of the Offer to Overseas Shareholders may be affected by
the laws of the relevant overseas jurisdiction.

Overseas Shareholders should refer to Section 15 of the Letter to Shareholders in the Offer
Document, extracts of which are set out below. Unless otherwise defined, all terms and
expressions used in the extracts below shall have the same meanings as those defined in the
Offer Document.

“15. OVERSEAS SHAREHOLDERS

15.1 Overseas Shareholders. This Offer Document, the Relevant Acceptance Forms
and/or any related documents do not constitute an offer or a solicitation of an offer to
subscribe for or to buy any security, nor is it a solicitation of any vote or approval in any
jurisdiction in contravention of applicable law, nor shall there be any sale, issuance or
transfer of the securities referred to in this Offer Document, the Relevant Acceptance
Forms and/or any related documents in any jurisdiction in contravention of applicable
law. The Offer is not being proposed in any jurisdiction in which the introduction or
implementation of the Offer would not be in compliance with the laws of such
jurisdiction. Where there are potential restrictions on sending this Offer Document, the
Relevant Acceptance Forms and/or any related documents to any overseas
jurisdictions, or where it may not be expedient to do so, the Offeror and DBS reserve
the right not to send this Offer Document, the Relevant Acceptance Forms and/or any
related documents to such overseas jurisdictions. The availability of the Offer to
Shareholders whose addresses are outside Singapore, as shown on the Register or,
as the case may be, in the records of CDP (each, an “Overseas Shareholder”) may
be affected by the laws of the relevant overseas jurisdictions. Accordingly, all Overseas
Shareholders should inform themselves about, and observe, any applicable legal
requirements in their own jurisdictions.

The Offer will be made solely by this Offer Document and the Relevant Acceptance
Forms accompanying this Offer Document, which will contain the full terms and
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15.2

15.3

conditions of the Offer, including details of how the Offer may be accepted. The Offer
is to be made to all Shareholders by this Offer Document or by this Offer Document
being despatched to Shareholders or posted on the website of the Company at www.gl-
arp.com and the website of the SGX-ST at www.sgx.com. Copies of this Offer
Document and the Relevant Acceptance Forms accompanying this Offer Document
shall be available during normal business hours at the office of the Company’s share
registrar, M & C Services Private Limited, at 112 Robinson Road, #05-01, Singapore
068902.

The Offer or any revisions to the Offer may be made by announcement on the website
of the Company at www.gl-grp.com and the website of the SGX-ST at www.sgx.com,
in which case the Offer or any revision to the Offer shall be deemed to have been made
and communicated to all Shareholders notwithstanding the failure by any particular
Shareholder to receive this Offer Document or to see any announcement relating to
the Offer.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Offer is made to all Shareholders including those
to whom this Offer Document, the Relevant Acceptance Forms and/or any
related documents have not been, or will not be, sent.

Copies of this Offer Document and Relevant Acceptance Forms. Shareholders
(including Overseas Shareholders) may (subject to compliance with applicable laws)
obtain copies of this Offer Document, the Relevant Acceptance Forms and/or any
related documents, during normal business hours up to the Closing Date from
GuocoLeisure Holdings Limited c/o M & C Services Private Limited (if he is a scrip
holder) at 112 Robinson Road, #05-01, Singapore 068902 or The Central Depository
(Pte) Limited (if he is a depositor) at 9 North Buona Vista Drive, #01-19/20 The
Metropolis, Singapore 138588. Alternatively, Shareholders (including Overseas
Shareholders) may (subject to compliance with applicable laws) email or call DBS at
GLoffer@dbs.com or + (65) 6878 6212 respectively (if he is a scrip holder) or The
Central Depository (Pte) Limited (if he is a depositor) at Robinson Road Post Office
P.O. Box 1984, Singapore 903934, to request for this Offer Document, the Relevant
Acceptance Forms and/or any related documents to be sent to an address in
Singapore by ordinary post at his own risk, up to five (5) Market Days prior to the
Closing Date.

Compliance with Applicable Laws. It is the responsibility of any Overseas
Shareholder who wishes to: (i) request for this Offer Document, the Relevant
Acceptance Forms and/or any related documents; or (ii) accept the Offer, to satisfy
himself as to the full observance of the laws of the relevant jurisdictions in that
connection, including the obtaining of any governmental or other consent which may
be required, or compliance with other necessary formalities or legal requirements, or
the payment of any taxes, imposts, duties or other requisite payments due in such
jurisdiction. Such Overseas Shareholder shall also be liable for any taxes, imposts,
duties or other requisite payments payable and the Offeror and any person acting on
its behalf (including DBS, CDP and the Registrar/Receiving Agent) shall be fully
indemnified and held harmless by such Overseas Shareholder for any such taxes,
imposts, duties or other requisite payments that may be required to be paid and the
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Offeror shall be entitled to set-off any such amounts against any sum payable to the
Overseas Shareholder pursuant to the Offer and/or any acquisition of Shares pursuant
to the Compulsory Acquisition. In (i) requesting for this Offer Document, the Relevant
Acceptance Forms and/or any related documents; and/or (ii) accepting the Offer, the
Overseas Shareholder represents and warrants to the Offeror, DBS, CDP and the
Registrar/Receiving Agent that he is in full observance of the laws of the relevant
jurisdiction in that connection, and that he is in full compliance with all necessary
formalities or legal requirements. If any Overseas Shareholder is in any doubt about
his position, he should consult his professional adviser in the relevant jurisdiction. All
Overseas Shareholders should inform themselves about, and observe, any applicable
legal requirements in their own jurisdiction.

15.4 Notice. The Offeror and DBS each reserves the right to notify any matter, including the
fact that the Offer has been made or any revision to the Offer, to any or all Shareholders
(including Overseas Shareholders) by announcement on the website of the Company
at www.gl-grp.com and the website of the SGX-ST at www.sgx.com or paid
advertisement in a daily newspaper published and circulated in Singapore, in which
case, such notice shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given notwithstanding any
failure by any Shareholder (including Overseas Shareholders) to receive or see such
announcement or advertisement.”

12.2 Copies of Circular. Where there are potential and/or any restrictions on sending this Circular

13.

and/or any related documents to any overseas jurisdictions, or where it may not be expedient to
do so, the Company reserves the right not to send this Circular and/or any related documents to
such overseas jurisdictions. Any affected Overseas Shareholder may, nevertheless, obtain
copies of this Circular during normal business hours up to the Closing Date, from the offices of
the Registrar at 112 Robinson Road, #05-01, Singapore 068902, download a copy of this
Circular from the website of the SGX-ST at www.sgx.com, or make a request to the Registrar
for this Circular to be sent to an address in Singapore by ordinary post at his own risk, up to five
(5) Market Days prior to the Closing Date.

INFORMATION RELATING TO CPFIS INVESTORS AND SRS INVESTORS

Section 16 of the Letter to Shareholders in the Offer Document sets out information relating to
CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors, extracts of which are set out below. Unless otherwise
defined, all terms and expressions used in the extracts below shall have the same meanings as
those defined in the Offer Document.

“16. INFORMATION RELATING TO CPFIS INVESTORS AND SRS INVESTORS

CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors should receive further information on how to
accept the Offer from their respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Agent Banks (as the
case may be) directly. CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors are advised to consult their
respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Agent Banks (as the case may be) should they
require further information, and if they are in any doubt as to the action they should
take, CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors should seek independent professional
advice.
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14,

15.

151

15.2

15.3

CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors who wish to accept the Offer are to reply to their
respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Agent Banks (as the case may be) by the
deadline stated in the letter from their respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Agent
Banks (as the case may be). Subject to the Offer becoming or being declared to be
unconditional in all respects in accordance with its terms, CPFIS Investors and SRS
Investors who validly accept the Offer will receive the payment for their Offer Shares
in their respective CPF investment accounts and SRS investment accounts (as the
case may be).”

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

Details of the Directors including, inter alia, the Directors’ direct and deemed interests in the
Offeror Securities and Relevant Securities as at the Latest Practicable Date are set out in
Appendix B to this Circular.

ADVICE AND RECOMMENDATIONS

General. Shareholders should read and carefully consider the recommendations of the
Independent Directors and the advice of the IFA to the Independent Directors in respect of the
Offer dated 4 February 2021 in their entirety before deciding whether to accept or reject the Offer.
The IFA Letter is reproduced in Appendix A to this Circular.

Independence of Directors.

The Non-Independent Directors, Mr. Kwek Leng Hai and Mr. Chew Seong Aun are respectively
also the Executive Chairman and Executive Director of GGL, the sole shareholder of the Offeror.

Accordingly, the Non-Independent Directors are parties acting in concert with the Offeror under
the Code and would face an irreconcilable conflict of interest that would render them inappropriate
to join the Independent Directors in making a recommendation on the Offer to the Shareholders.

The SIC has ruled that the Non-Independent Directors are exempted from making a
recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the Offer. The Non-Independent Directors must,
nonetheless, still assume responsibility for the accuracy of facts stated or opinions expressed in
documents and advertisements issued by, or on behalf of, the Company in connection with the
Offer.

All of the Independent Directors consider themselves independent for the purposes of making a
recommendation on the Offer.

Advice of the IFA to the Independent Directors

(&) IFA. W Capital Markets has been appointed as the independent financial adviser to advise
the Independent Directors in respect of the Offer. Shareholders should read and consider
carefully the recommendation of the Independent Directors and the advice of the IFA to the
Independent Directors in respect of the Offer before deciding whether to accept or reject the
Offer. The IFA’s advice is set out in its letter dated 18 February 2021, which is set out in
Appendix A to this Circular.
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(b) Advice of the IFA. Based on the IFA’s evaluation and assessment of the financial terms of
the Offer, the IFA has made its recommendation in respect of the Offer as set out in Section
9 of the IFA Letter and reproduced in italics below. The recommendation set out below
should be considered and read by Shareholders in conjunction with, and in the context of,
the full text of the IFA Letter. Shareholders should read the following extract in conjunction
with, and in the context of, the full text of the IFA Letter. Unless otherwise defined, all terms
and expressions used in the extract below shall have the same meanings as those defined
in the IFA Letter.

“9.

OUR RECOMMENDATION TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

In arriving at our recommendation in respect of the Offer to the Independent
Directors, we have taken into account a range of factors which we consider, based
on available information as at the Latest Practicable Date, to be pertinent and have
significant bearing on our assessment of the Offer. Accordingly, it is important that
this IFA Letter, in particular, all the considerations and information we have taken
into account, be read in its entirety.

In determining the fairness of the Offer, we have considered, inter alia, the
following pertinent factors:

(@) The Offer Price to NAV per Share and the discount of the Offer Price to
NAV per Share as at 31 December 2020 are 0.73 times and 26.8%
respectively;

(b) The Offer Price to RNAV per Share and the discount of the Offer Price to
RNAV per Share as at 31 December 2020 are 0.66 times and 33.8%
respectively;

(©) The discount of the Offer Price to the SOTP Value per Share as at 31
December 2020 is in the range of 38.6% to 47.0%; and

(d) The Offer Price is at a discount of 1.4% and 0.5% to the closing price of
the Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date of S$0.710 and the VWAP of
the Shares for the period between the Offer Announcement Date and the
Latest Practicable Date of S$0.704 respectively.

In view of the above, we are of the opinion that the Offer is NOT FAIR.

In determining the reasonableness of the Offer, we have considered, inter alia, the
following pertinent factors:

(@) The Group recorded a net loss for FY2020 of US$26.7 million and a net
loss for the 6 months ended 31 December 2020 of US$19.8 million. Net
cash used in operating activities in HY2021 was US$7.2 million;

(b) While the Offer Price represents a discount of 26.8% to the NAV per Share
as at 31 December 2020, the discount is within the range of discounts and
lower than the average discounts to NAV at which the Shares had traded
at over the 2-year period up to and including the Last Trading Day of
34.9%;

(©) The Offer Price is at a premium of approximately 25.0% to the closing
price of the Shares on the Last Trading Day;
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(d) The Offer Price is at a premium of approximately 28.2%, 33.4%, 27.5%
and 9.4% to the VWAP of the Shares for the 1-month, 3-month, 6-month
and 12-month periods prior to the Last Trading Day respectively;

(e) The Shares are thinly traded during the Relevant Period prior to the Offer
Announcement Date. Trading liquidity of the Shares during the 12-month
period up to and including the Last Trading Day has been low with an
average daily trading volume of between approximately 41,500 Shares
and 130,400 Shares representing between 0.011% and 0.034% of the free
float of the Company;

() The P/RNAYV as implied by the Offer Price of 0.66 times is above the range
of the P/RNAYV of the Selected Hospitality Comparable Companies of 0.29
times to 0.60 times;

(9) The P/NAV as implied by the Offer Price of 0.73 times is within the range
of the weighted average P/NAV of the Comparable Companies of between
0.23 times to 1.70 times, and above the mean and median weighted
average P/NAV of the Comparable Companies of 0.70 times and 0.63
times respectively;

(h) The P/RNAYV as implied by the Offer Price of 0.66 times is within the range
of P/IRNAV of the Precedent Hotel Transactions of 0.52 times to 0.95
times. The P/NAV as implied by the Offer Price of 0.73 times is within the
range of the P/NAV of the Precedent Hotel Transactions of 0.52 times to

1.62 times;

® The P/NAV as implied by the Offer Price of 0.73 times is within the range
of the P/NAV of the Precedent Privatisation Transactions of 0.28 times to
2.81 times;

()] The premium of the Offer Price to the VWAP of the Shares for the Last

Trading Day, 1-month, 3-month, 6-month, 12-month is within the range of
the premias for the Precedent Privatisation Transactions although it is
below the mean and the median premia for the Precedent Privatisation
Transactions for the respective periods;

(k) The Company had, in its latest results announcement dated 13 January
2021 disclosed that the Group expects the UK hotels to continue to face
a difficult operating environment into year 2021 due to renewed lockdown
with tiered restrictions being imposed by the UK government starting
January 2021 as a result of a record humber of COVID-19 cases due to a
new COVID-19 variant; and

0] As at the date of the Offer Document, a concert party of the Offeror,
GuocolLeisure Assets Limited, owns 73.67% of the Shares of the
Company and has irrevocably undertaken to accept the Offer. It is
therefore highly unlikely that there will be a competing offer from any third

party.
In view of the above, we are of the opinion that the Offer is REASONABLE.

Having regard to the foregoing considerations set out in this IFA Letter and
information available to us as at the Latest Practicable Date and subject to
the qualifications made herein, we are of the opinion that the financial terms
of the Offer are NOT FAIR BUT REASONABLE. On balance of the above
factors, we advise the Independent Directors to recommend that
Shareholders ACCEPT the Offer, unless Shareholders are able to obtain a
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price higher than the Offer Price on the open market, after taking into
account the brokerage and related costs in connection with open market
transactions.

Our opinion is addressed to the Independent Directors for their benefit and for the
purpose of their consideration of the Offer. The recommendation made by the
Independent Directors to the Shareholders in relation to the Offer shall remain the
responsibility of the Independent Directors.

In rendering our opinion and providing our recommendation, we did not have
regard to the specific objectives, financial situation, tax position, risk profile or
uniqgue needs and constraints of any individual Shareholder and we neither
assume any responsibility for, nor hold ourselves as advisers to any person other
than the Independent Directors. As different Shareholders would have different
investment profiles and objectives, we recommend that any Shareholder who may
require specific advice in relation to his/her investment portfolio or objectives
should consult his/her stock broker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant, tax
adviser or other professional adviser immediately and not to rely upon our opinion
as the sole basis for deciding whether or not to accept the Offer.”

Recommendations of the Independent Directors. The Independent Directors, having
considered carefully the terms of the Offer and the advice given by W Capital Markets in the IFA
Letter, concur with the advice of the IFA in respect of the Offer as set out in Section 15.3 of this
Circular and in the IFA Letter. Accordingly, the Independent Directors recommend that
Shareholders ACCEPT the Offer. Shareholders who wish to realise their investments in the
Company can also choose to sell their Shares in the open market if they can obtain a price higher
than the Offer Price (after taking into account the brokerage and related costs in connection with
open market transactions).

No regard to specific objectives. Shareholders are advised to read the terms and conditions of
the Offer Document carefully. Shareholders are advised to read the full text of the IFA Letter set
out in Appendix A to this Circular and other relevant information set out in this Circular carefully
before deciding whether to accept or reject the Offer. Shareholders should note that the IFA’s
advice to the Independent Directors and the recommendation of the Independent Directors should
not be relied upon by any Shareholder as the sole basis for deciding whether or not to accept the
Offer.

Shareholders should note that trading of the Shares is subject to, inter alia, the performance and
prospects of the Company, prevailing economic conditions, economic outlook and stock market
conditions and sentiments. Accordingly, the advice by the IFA to the Independent Directors in
respect of the Offer does not and cannot take into account the future trading activities or patterns
or price levels that may be established beyond the Latest Practicable Date.

In rendering the advice and the recommendations above, both the IFA and the Independent
Directors have not had regard to the general or specific investment objectives, financial situation,
tax status, risk profiles, unique needs and constraints or other particular circumstances of any
individual Shareholder. As different Shareholders would have different investment objectives and
profiles, the Independent Directors recommend that any individual Shareholder who may require
specific advice in the context of his Shares should consult his stockbroker, bank manager,
solicitor, accountant, tax adviser and/or other professional adviser immediately.
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16.

17.

SHAREHOLDERS ARE ADVISED TO READ THE FULL TEXT OF THE IFA LETTER WHICH
IS SET OUT IN APPENDIX A TO THIS CIRCULAR CAREFULLY.

ACTION TO BE TAKEN BY SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders who wish to accept the Offer must do so not later than 5.30 p.m. (Singapore
time) on the Closing Date or such later date(s) as may be announced from time to time by or
on behalf of the Offeror, abiding by the procedures for the acceptance of the Offer as set out in
respectively Appendix 2 to the Offer Document and in the accompanying FAA and/or FAT.

Acceptances should be completed and returned as soon as possible and, in any event, so as to
be received on behalf of the Offeror:

(i) by CDP (in respect of the FAA); or
(i) by the Registrar (in respect of the FAT),

as the case may be, not later than 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Closing Date or such later
date(s) as may be announced from time to time by or on behalf of the Offeror.

Shareholders who do not wish to accept the Offer need not take any further action in respect
of the Offer Document, the FAA and/or the FAT which have been sent to them.

CONSENTS

W Capital Markets, named as the IFA, has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the
issue of this Circular with the inclusion of its name, the IFA Letter as set out in Appendix A to this
Circular, and all references to the IFA’'s name, in the form and context in which they appear in
this Circular.

Savills Advisory Services Limited, named as the Valuer in the Valuation Report for the GLH Real
Property Portfolio, has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of this Circular
with the inclusion of its name, the Valuation Report for the GLH Real Property Portfolio as set out
in Appendix E to this Circular, its recommendations and/or opinions, and all references to its
name in the form and context in which they appear in this Circular.

CBRE, Inc., named as the Valuer in the Valuation Report for the Molokai Ranch Real Property
Portfolio, has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of this Circular with the
inclusion of its name in this Circular, the Valuation Report for the Molokai Ranch Real Property
Portfolio as set out in Appendix E to this Circular and all references to its name in the form and
context in which they appear in this Circular.

With the exception of the Valuation Reports, the Valuers do not accept any responsibility for any
part of the Offeree Circular or any other information issued by the Company or any other person
in connection with the Offer. The Valuation Reports refer to the position at the date it was
originally issued and, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Valuers have not taken and will not
be taking any action to update the Valuation Reports.

M & C Services Private Limited, named as the Registrar, has given and has not withdrawn its
written consent to the issue of this Circular with the inclusion of its name and all the references
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19.

to its name in the form and context in which they appear in this Circular.
DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the Company’s corporate office at 1
Wallich Street, #15-02 Guoco Tower, Singapore 078881, during normal business hours from the
date of this Circular up to and including the Closing Date:

€) the Bye-laws of the Company;

(b) the annual reports of the Company for FY2018, FY2019 and FY2020, which include the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2018, FY2019 and FY2020;

(c) the Offer Announcement;

(d) the Offer Document;

(e) the Irrevocable Undertaking;

)] the IFA Letter as set out in Appendix A to this Circular;

(9) the Valuation Reports in respect of the Appraised Assets as set out in Appendix E to this
Circular; and

(h) the letters of consent referred to in Section 17 of this Circular.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The recommendations of the Independent Directors in respect of the Offer
(“Recommendations”) are the responsibility of the Independent Directors, and the Independent
Directors jointly and severally accept responsibility and have taken all reasonable care to ensure
that their opinions expressed in respect of the Recommendations are fair.

The Directors (including any who may have delegated detailed supervision of the preparation of
this Circular) jointly and severally accept responsibility for the accuracy of the information given
in this Circular (save for (a) the IFA Letter (for which the IFA takes responsibility); (b) the Valuation
Reports (for which the respective Valuers take responsibility); (c) the information extracted from
the Offer Announcement and the Offer Document; and (d) the information relating to the Offeror)
and confirm that they have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the facts stated in this Circular
are accurate and all opinions expressed (save for the Recommendations) in this Circular are fair,
and no material facts in relation to the Company and its subsidiaries in the context of the Offer
have been omitted from this Circular.

Where any information in this Circular (other than the IFA Letter for which the IFA takes
responsibility and the Valuation Reports for which the respective Valuers take responsibility) has
been extracted or reproduced from published or otherwise publicly available sources or obtained
from a named source (including, without limitation, the Offer Announcement and the Offer
Document), the sole responsibility of the Directors has been to ensure, through reasonable
enquiries, that such information has been accurately extracted from such sources or, as the case
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may be, reflected or reproduced in this Circular.

20. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The attention of the Shareholders is also drawn to the Appendices which form part of this Circular.
Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

GL LIMITED

TEO LAl WAH TIMOTHY
Independent Director
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APPENDIX A - LETTER FROM THE IFATO
THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS IN RESPECT OF THE OFFER

W CAPITAL MARKETS PTE. LTD.
Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration Number: 201813207E)
65 Chulia Street
#43-01 OCBC Centre
Singapore 049513

18 February 2021

The Directors of GL Limited who are deemed independent for the purposes of the Offer

Mr Paul Jeremy Brough - Independent Non-Executive Director
Ms Chua Kheng Yeng, Jennie - Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr Teo Lai Wah Timothy - Independent Non-Executive Director
Ms Lim Suat Jien - Independent Non-Executive Director
Dear Sir/Mdm,

VOLUNTARY CONDITIONAL CASH OFFER BY GUOCOLEISURE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(“OFFEROR”) FOR THE SHARES (AS DEFINED HEREIN)

Unless otherwise defined or the context otherwise requires, all capitalised terms defined in the
circular dated 18 February 2021 (“Circular’) issued by GL Limited (the “Company”, and together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) shall have the same meanings herein.

1.

INTRODUCTION

On 15 January 2021 (“Offer Announcement Date”), DBS Bank Ltd, for and on behalf of the
Offeror announced that the Offeror intends to make a voluntary conditional cash offer (the
“Offer”) for all the issued ordinary shares (the “Shares”) in the capital of GL Limited.

The Offer will be conditional upon the Offeror having received, by the close of the Offer,
valid acceptances (which have not been withdrawn) pursuant to the Offer and/or otherwise
acquiring or agreeing to acquire Shares other than through valid acceptances of the Offer
from the Commencement Date in respect of such number of Shares which, when taken
together with the Shares owned, controlled or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and its
Concert Parties (as defined in the Offer Document) before or during the Offer, will result in
the Offeror and its Concert Parties holding such number of Shares carrying not less than 90
per cent. of the voting rights attributable to all the Shares in issue (excluding treasury
shares) as at the close of the Offer (the “Minimum Acceptance Condition”).

The Offeror reserves the right to reduce the Minimum Acceptance Condition to a level which
is more than 50 per cent. of the total number of Shares or waive the Minimum Acceptance
Condition, subject to the consent of the SIC. In the event that the SIC consents to the
Minimum Acceptance Condition being waived or revised, (i) the revised Offer will remain
open for at least 14 days following the posting of the written notification to Shareholders of
such waiver or revision, and (ii) Shareholders who have accepted the initial Offer will be
allowed to withdraw their acceptance within eight days of the posting of such notification.
Save for the Minimum Acceptance Condition, the Offer is unconditional in all other
respects.



On 4 February 2021, the Offeror announced that the notification of electronic dissemination
of the Offer Document and related documents dated 4 February 2021 issued by the Offeror,
setting out, inter-alia, the address and instructions for the electronic retrieval of the Offer
Document containing the terms and conditions of the Offer has been despatched to
Shareholders.

In connection with the Offer, W Capital Markets Pte. Ltd. (“W Capital Markets”) has been
appointed by the Company as the IFA to advise the Independent Directors who will be
making a recommendation to the Shareholders in relation to the Offer (‘Recommendation”).
This IFA Letter is addressed to the Independent Directors and sets out, inter alia, our views
and assessment on the financial terms of the Offer and our opinion thereon, and forms part
of the Circular to be despatched to Shareholders in relation to the Offer.

TERMS OF REFERENCE

We have been appointed to advise the Independent Directors in relation to the
Recommendation. We have confined our evaluation to the financial terms of the Offer and
we are not required to evaluate or comment on the commercial risks and/or merits (if any) of
the Offer or the future prospects of the Company, and we have not made such evaluations
or comments. Such evaluations or comments, if any, remain the responsibility of the
Directors and management (“Management”) of the Company although we may draw upon
their views or make such comments in respect thereof (to the extent deemed necessary or
appropriate by us) in arriving at our opinion as set out in this IFA Letter.

We have not been instructed or authorised to solicit, and we have not solicited, any
indication of interest from any third party with respect to any other proposals for transactions
similar to or in lieu of the Offer. In this regard, we are not addressing the relative merits of
the Offer as compared to any alternative transaction previously considered by the Company
or which otherwise may have been available to the Company currently or in the future.

In the course of our evaluation, we have held discussions with the Directors, Management
and/or their professional advisers and have examined and relied to a considerable extent on
publicly available information collated by us as well as information provided and
representations made to us, both written and verbal, by the Directors, the Management
and/or the professional advisers of the Company, including information contained in the
Circular. We have not independently verified such information or representations, whether
written or verbal, and accordingly cannot and do not make any representation or warranty,
express or implied, in respect of, and do not accept any responsibility for the accuracy,
completeness or adequacy of such information or representations. We have relied on the
assurance of the Directors (including any who may have delegated detailed supervision of
the preparation of the Circular) who jointly and severally accept responsibility for the
accuracy of the information given in the Circular (save for (a) this IFA Letter; (b) the
Valuation Reports; (c) the information extracted from the Offer Announcement and the Offer
Document; and (d) the information relating to the Offeror) and confirm that they have taken
all reasonable care to ensure that the facts stated in the Circular are accurate and that no
material facts in relation to the Company and its subsidiaries in the context of the Offer have
been omitted from the Circular. Whilst care has been exercised in reviewing the information
on which we have relied on, we have not independently verified the information but
nevertheless have made such reasonable enquiries and exercised our judgment on the
reasonable use of such information, and have found no reason to doubt the reliability of the
information.

We have not made any independent appraisal of the assets and liabilities (including, without
limitation, hotels, property and equipment and development properties) of the Group nor
have we evaluated the solvency of the Group. As such, we have relied on the disclosures
and representations made by the Company on the values of the assets and liabilities and
profitability of the Group and no representation or warranty, expressed or implied, is made



and no responsibility is accepted by us concerning the accuracy, completeness or adequacy
of such information.

We have relied on the independent valuation reports (the “Valuation Reports”) prepared for
the purpose of the Offer, provided by Savills Advisory Services Limited (“Savills”) and
CBRE, Inc. (“CBRE”) (collectively, the “Independent Valuers”), in relation to our financial
assessment of the Offer in Section 8 of this IFA Letter. We are not experts in the evaluation
or appraisal of the assets or liabilities concerned and we have placed sole reliance on these
Valuation Reports for such asset appraisals and have not independently verified the
contents thereof. By its very nature, valuation work will be subjective and dependent on the
exercise of the Independent Valuer's judgement. In particular, we do not assume any
responsibility for the valuations contained in the Valuation Reports.

Our views as set out in this IFA Letter are based upon the prevailing market, economic,
industry and other conditions (if applicable) as well as information and representations
provided to us by the Company and its representatives, as at the Latest Practicable Date (or
“LPD”). Such conditions may change significantly over a relatively short period of time. We
assume no responsibility to update, revise or reaffirm our opinion in light of any subsequent
development after the Latest Practicable Date that may affect our opinion contained herein.
Shareholders should take note of any announcement relevant to their consideration of the
Offer, which may be released or published by or on behalf of the Company or the Offeror
after the Latest Practicable Date.

Our opinion is limited to the fairness and reasonableness, from a financial point of view of
the Offer and our terms of reference do not require us to evaluate or comment on the
commercial rationale for the Offer, and/or associated risk and merits. WWe have not received
or relied on any financial projections or forecasts in respect of the Company, the Group, or
any part or division of any of the foregoing and our terms of reference do not require us to
comment or express an opinion on the financial impact or potential impact on current or
future financial performance or prospects or earnings potential of the Company and/or the
Group arising from the Offer or otherwise (including without limitation any implications or
uncertainties arising from the COVID-19 pandemic).

Our terms of reference also do not require us to evaluate or comment on the merits of the
statements or opinion stated in any research reports on the Company and/or the Group,
including any other reports issued by any other party. We have accordingly not made such
evaluation or comments, although we may draw upon their views to the extent deemed
necessary or appropriate by us in arriving at our opinion as set out in this IFA Letter.

In rendering our opinion, we have not had regard to any general or specific investment
objectives, financial situation, tax position, risk profile, tax status or positions or particular
needs and constraints or other particular circumstances of any Shareholder and do not
assume any responsibility for, nor hold ourselves out as advisers to, any person other than
the Independent Directors. As each Shareholder would have different investment objectives
and profiles, the Independent Directors may wish to advise any Shareholder who may
require specific advice in relation to his specific investment portfolio to consult his
stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant, tax adviser or other appropriate
professional advisers.

The Company has been separately advised by its own professional advisers in the
preparation of the Circular (other than this IFA Letter). We have had no role or involvement,
and do not provide any advice (financial or otherwise), in the preparation, review and
verification of the Circular (other than this IFA Letter). Accordingly, we take no responsibility
for and expressed no views, whether expressed or implied, on the contents of the Circular
(other than this IFA Letter).



We have prepared this IFA Letter for the use by the Independent Directors in connection
with their consideration of the Offer and their advice and recommendation to the
Shareholders in respect thereof. The recommendations made to the Shareholders in relation
to the Offer remain the responsibility of the Independent Directors.

Our opinion in relation to the Offer should be considered in the context of the entirety
of this IFA Letter and the Circular.

THE OFFER

The following paragraphs have been extracted from Section 2 of the Offer Document and
are set out in italics. All terms and expressions used in the extract below shall have the
same meanings as those defined in the Offer Document, unless otherwise stated.
Shareholders are advised to read the entire Offer Document including relevant sections, as
extracted below, carefully.

“2. TERMS OF THE OFFER

2.1 Offer. The Offeror hereby makes the Offer to acquire all the Offer Shares, in
accordance with Section 139 of the SFA and the Code.

2.2 Offer Shares. The Offer is extended to all Shares, including those Shares owned,
controlled, or agreed to be acquired by parties acting or deemed to be acting in
concert with the Offeror (“Concert Parties”) in connection with the Offer (“Offer
Shares’).

2.3 Offer Price. The consideration for each Offer Share will be as follows:

| For each Offer Share: S$0.70 in cash (the “Offer Price”)

2.4 No Encumbrances. The Offer Shares are to be acquired (i) fully paid, (ii) free from
any claim, charge, pledge, mortgage, encumbrance, lien, option, equity, power of
sale, declaration of trust, hypothecation, retention of title, right of pre-emption, right
of first refusal, moratorium or other third party right or security interest of any kind or
an agreement, arrangement or obligation to create any of the foregoing
(“Encumbrances”), and (iij) together with all rights, benefits and entitlements
attached thereto as at the Announcement Date and thereafter attaching thereto,
including but not limited to, the right to receive and retain all dividends, rights, other
distributions and/or return of capital (if any) declared, paid or made by the Company
in respect of the Offer Shares (collectively, the “Distributions” and each, a
“Distribution”) on or after the Announcement Date.

2.5 Adjustment for Distributions. Without prejudice to the foregoing, the Offer Price
has been determined on the basis that the Offer Shares will be acquired with the
right to receive any Distribution that may be declared, paid or made by the Company
on or after the Announcement Date.

Accordingly, in the event any Distribution is or has been declared, paid or made by
the Company in respect of the Offer Shares on or after the Announcement Date, the
Offer Price payable to a Shareholder who validly accepts or has validly accepted the
Offer (“Accepting Shareholder”) shall be reduced by an amount which is equal to
the amount of such Distribution, depending on when the settlement date in respect of
the Offer Shares tendered in acceptance of the Offer by such Accepting Shareholder
falls, as follows:

2.5.1 if such settlement date falls on or before the books closure date for the

determination of entitlements to the Distribution (the “Books Closure Date”),
the Offer Price shall remain unadjusted for each Offer Share and the Offeror
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2.6

shall pay the Accepting Shareholder the unadjusted Offer Price for each
Offer Share, as the Offeror will receive the Distribution in respect of such
Offer Share from the Company; and

2.5.2 if such settlement date falls after the Books Closure Date, the Offer Price
shall be reduced by an amount which is equal to the amount of the
Distribution in respect of each Offer Share (the Offer Price after such
reduction, the “Adjusted Offer Price”) and the Offeror shall pay the
Accepting Shareholder the Adjusted Offer Price for each Offer Share, as the
Offeror will not receive the Distribution in respect of such Offer Share from
the Company.

Minimum Acceptance Condition. The Offer will be conditional upon the Offeror
having received, by the close of the Offer, valid acceptances (which have not been
withdrawn) pursuant to the Offer and/or otherwise acquiring or agreeing to acquire
Shares other than through valid acceptances of the Offer from the Commencement
Date in respect of such number of Shares which, when taken together with the
Shares owned, controlled or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and its Concert
Parties before or during the Offer, will result in the Offeror and its Concert Parties
holding such number of Shares carrying not less than 90 per cent. of the voting
rights attributable to all the Shares in issue (excluding treasury shares) as at the
close of the Offer (the “Minimum Acceptance Condition”).

The Offeror reserves the right to reduce the Minimum Acceptance Condition to a
level which is more than 50 per cent. of the total number of Shares or waive the
Minimum Acceptance Condition, subject to the consent of the SIC. In the event that
the SIC consents to the Minimum Acceptance Condition being waived or revised, (i)
the revised Offer will remain open for at least 14 days following the posting of the
written notification to Shareholders of such waiver or revision, and (ii) Shareholders
who have accepted the initial Offer will be allowed to withdraw their acceptance
within eight days of the posting of such notification.

Save for the Minimum Acceptance Condition, the Offer is unconditional in all
other respects.”

INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR

The following paragraphs have been extracted from Section 6 of the Offer Document and
are set out in italics. All terms and expressions used in the extract below shall have the
same meanings as those defined in the Offer Document, unless otherwise stated.
Shareholders are advised to read the entire Offer Document including relevant sections, as
extracted below, carefully.

‘16.

6.1

INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR

The Offeror. The Offeror is a special purpose vehicle incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 23 December 2020 and is a private exempted company limited by shares.
The Offeror is a wholly-owned subsidiary of GGL. As at the Latest Practicable Date,
GGL has an interest in 1,007,906,134 Shares, representing 73.67 per cent. of the
Shares (on the basis that there are no treasury shares), held directly by GAL, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of GGL. The Offeror’s principal activity is that of investment
holding. The Offeror has not carried on any business since its incorporation, except
for matters in connection with making the Offer.”

Further details on the Offeror are set out in Section 6 of the Offer Document.



INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

Based on publicly available information, the Company is a company continued in Bermuda as
an exempted company. The Company was founded in 1961 and is listed on the Main Board of
the SGX-ST. The Company is an investment holding company with core business activity in hotel
management and operations in the United Kingdom. In addition to its hospitality business, the
Company owns rights to royalties from the production of oil and natural gas in the Bass Strait,
Australia and real estate in Hawaii.

IRREVOCABLE UNDERTAKING

We note from Section 8 of the Offer Document that the Offeror has received the Irrevocable
Undertaking from GAL dated 15 January 2021, pursuant to which GAL has undertaken (i) to
tender all its Shares in acceptance of the Offer, and (ii) to waive its rights under Rule 30 of
the Code to receive the cash consideration payable to it by the Offeror. Further details on
the Irrevocable Undertaking are set out in Section 8 of the Offer Document and Section 5 of
the Circular.

REASONS AND BENEFITS FOR THE OFFER AND THE OFFEROR’S INTENTION FOR
THE COMPANY

The full text of the rationale for the Offer and the Offeror’s intentions in relation to the
Company are set out in Section 9 and 10 of the Offer Document respectively. Shareholders
are advised to read the entire Offer Document including relevant sections, as extracted
below, carefully.

The reasons and benefits for the Offer is reproduced below for your reference.
“9. REASONS AND BENEFITS FOR THE OFFER

9.1 Greater management flexibility to navigate a challenging and unprecedented
operating environment. The Offeror is making the Offer with a view to privatising
and delisting the Company from the SGX-ST and exercising any rights of
compulsory acquisition that may arise under either Section 102 or Section 103 of the
Companies Act (the “Compulsory Acquisition”). The Offeror believes that
privatising the Company will give the Offeror and the management of the Company
more flexibility to manage the business of the Company and optimise capital
resources amidst a challenging and unprecedented operating environment driven by
the COVID-19 pandemic and Brexit as well as low oil and gas prices.

9.1.1 The Company faces a challenging and unprecedented operating
environment driven by COVID-19 and Brexit. The ongoing COVID-19
pandemic has had an adverse impact on the global economy and has
significantly affected the performance of the Company’s core businesses. In
the Company’s main market of the United Kingdom (“UK”), the disruption of
the pandemic is compounded by the impact of Brexit.

The pandemic has caused unprecedented and severe disruptions to the
hospitality sector in the UK. As the Company’s main business is in the hotel
sector of the UK, its operations were significantly impacted by pandemic
driven restrictions which resulted in most of the Company’s hotels being
closed during the 1H FY21, contributing to a decline in the Company’s
revenue of 90 per cent. in comparison to 1H FYZ20, resulting in a net loss of
US$19.8m which would have been significantly larger if not for other
operating income of US$26.5m which mainly comprised payments arising
from insurance claims relating to UK hotel business disruption and
government grants relating to the pandemic. This followed a 27 per cent.
decline in hotel segment revenue in FY2020 in comparison to FY2019.
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9.2

9.1.2

9.1.3

The pandemic continues to significantly curtail demand for UK hotel rooms,
with renewed government-imposed lockdowns commencing in January 2021
resulting in the closure of the Company’s hotels. Given this, it is likely the
Company’s UK hotels will continue to face a difficult operating environment
in 2021. Further uncertainties are driven by a post-Brexit environment that
may materially impact business travel and retail tourism?.

The Company’s Oil and Gas business has been affected by low oil and
gas prices. The Company’s oil and gas business relies on royalty income
from its entitlement to Bass Strait’s oil and gas production in Australia. This
royalty income has declined given lower crude oil and gas prices impacted
by the ongoing pandemic. This contributed to a 90 per cent. decline in the
Company’s revenue in 1H FY21 in comparison to 1H FY20 and followed a
14 per cent. decline in oil and gas segment revenue in FY2020 in
comparison to FY20192.

The Company did not declare a dividend for FY2020. The Company did
not declare a dividend for FY2020 considering a bleak economic outlook and
the need to conserve cash to meet its operational requirements?.

Opportunity for Shareholders to realise their investment at a premium without
incurring brokerage fees.

9.2.1

9.2.2

The Offer represents an opportunity for Shareholders to realise their
investment at a premium amidst a challenging and unprecedented operating
environment for the Company.

As set out in Section 12 of this Letter to Shareholders in this Offer
Document, the Offer Price represents a premium of approximately:

(i) 25.0 per cent. over the last transacted price (the “Last Transacted
Price”) per Share of S$0.560 on 14 January 2021 (being the last full
Market Day on which the Shares were transacted on prior to the release
of the Offer Announcement (the “Last Trading Day”)); and

(i) 28.2 per cent., 33.3 per cent., 28.0 per cent. and 9.5 per cent. over the
VWAP per Share for the one (1)-month, three (3)-month, six (6)-month
and twelve (12)-month periods, respectively, up to and including the Last
Trading Day.

Offer Price: $S50.700 per Share'"*

Last Transacted Price  1-month VWAP 3-month VWAP 6-month VWAP 12-month VWAP

Notes:

(1)  The S$ figures (other than the Offer Price) are rounded to the nearest three (3) decimal places
and computed on data sourced from Bloomberg L.P. up to and including the Last Trading Day.

(2)  The respective premia are rounded to the nearest one (1) decimal place.
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9.3

9.4

9.2.3 The Offer Price implies a price to net asset value multiple (“P/NAV”) of 0.73
times, which exceeds the Company’s historical averages.

The P/NAV multiple implied by the Offer Price of 0.73 times represents a
premium of 19.7 per cent., 9.0 per cent. and 5.8 per cent. respectively to the
historical 1-year, 3-year, 5-year average P/NAV multiple of the Shares.

0.67x 0.69x
0.61x
Ofer Price / NAV per Share"™®  Historical 1-year average Historical 3-year average Historical 5-year average
P/NAVEE PINAV2® PINAV=e

Notes:

(1) Based on the reported NAV per Share as at 31 December 2020, converted to Singapore dollars
at an exchange rate of 1 USD: 1.3218 SGD.

(2)  Multiples shown in the chart above are rounded to the nearest two (2) decimal places.

(3)  The historical average P/NAV is computed daily up to and including the Last Trading Day and
reflects the market capitalisation of the Shares at the end of each trading day divided by total
common equity (net assets) for the last reported financial quarter or period, as sourced from
Capital IQ and Company filings. Total common equity has been translated to Singapore dollars
at the prevailing historical USD:SGD exchange rate as at the end of each respective financial
quarter or period.

Opportunity for Shareholders who may otherwise find it difficult to exit their
investment in the Company due to low trading liquidity. The historical trading
liquidity of the Shares on the SGX-ST has been low. The average daily trading volume of
the Shares over the twelve (12)-, six (6)-, three (3)- and one (1)-month periods up to and
including the Last Trading Day are detailed in the table below.

One- Three- Six- Twelve-
month month month month
Average daily trading volume
as a percentage of total 0.004% 0.003% 0.003% 0.010%
number of Shares ("

Notes:

(1) The average daily trading volume is based on data extracted from Bloomberg L.P. as at the Last Trading
Day and calculated using the daily total volume of Shares traded divided by the total number of Shares
(excluding those held by the trust established by the Company for the GL Limited Executives’ Share
Options Scheme).

(2)  The percentage figures are rounded to the nearest three (3) decimal places.

Only Offer capable of turning unconditional or succeeding. Given that GAL, holding
Shares representing approximately 73.67 per cent. of the issued share capital of the
Company, has, as at the Latest Practicable Date, undertaken to accept the Offer, no
other general offer will be capable of turning unconditional or succeeding. Should the
Offer fail to become or be declared unconditional, the Offeror is not permitted under the
Code to make another general offer for the Company for 12 months following the lapse of
the Offer.




9.5 Costs of maintaining listing status. In maintaining its listed status, the Company incurs
compliance and other costs associated with the requirements of being listed. In the event
that the Company is delisted from the SGX-ST, the Company will be able to save on
expenses relating to the maintenance of its listed status and focus its resources on its
operational matters amidst a challenging and unprecedented operating environment.”

The Offeror’s intentions for the Company are reproduced below for your reference.

“10. THE OFFEROR’S INTENTIONS FOR THE COMPANY
The Offeror intends for the Company to continue with its existing activities and has
no intention to, in connection with or as a result of the Offer, (i) introduce any major
changes to the business of the Company, (ii) re-deploy the fixed assets of the
Company, or (iii) discontinue the employment of any of the existing employees of the
Company and its subsidiaries, other than in the ordinary course of business.
However, the Directors retain the flexibility at any time to consider any options in
relation to the Company and its subsidiaries which may present themselves and
which they may regard to be in the interest of the Offeror.”

ASSESSMENT OF THE FINANCIAL TERMS OF THE OFFER

In the course of our evaluation of the financial terms of the Offer, we have given due

consideration to, inter alia, the following key factors which, in our opinion, have a significant

bearing on our assessment:

(a) Historical financial performance and position of the Group;

(b) Analysis of the Group’s net asset value (“NAV”) per Share and revalued net asset
value (“RNAV”) per Share;

(c) Analysis of the Group’s Sum-of-the-Parts (“SOTP”) Value Per Share;
(d) Historical Share price performance and trading liquidity;
(e) Valuation ratios of selected listed companies broadly comparable to the Group;

1) Comparison with precedent privatisation transactions involving selected companies
broadly comparable to the Group;

(9) Precedent privatisation transactions in Singapore; and
(h) Other relevant considerations.

The following is a brief description of the valuation ratios used in our evaluation of the Offer
Price:

Valuation Ratio Description

Price-to-earnings The P/E, or earnings multiple, illustrates the ratio of a company’s

ratio market capitalisation relative to its historical consolidated net profit

(“PIE”) attributable to shareholders. The P/E is an earnings-based valuation
methodology.

The P/E multiple is affected by, inter alia, the capital structure of a
company, its tax position as well as its accounting policies relating
to depreciation and amortisation of intangible assets.




Valuation Ratio

Description

Enterprise value to
EBITDA
(“EVIEBITDA”) ratio

EV refers to enterprise value which is the sum of a company’s
market capitalisation, preferred equity, minority interests, short-term
and long-term debts (inclusive of finance leases), less its cash and
cash equivalents.

EBITDA refers to the consolidated earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation expenses, inclusive of the share of
associates’ and joint ventures’ income.

The EV/EBITDA ratio illustrates the ratio of the market value of an
entity relative to its pre-tax operating cashflow, without regard to its
capital structure and provides an indication of current market
valuation relative to operating performance.

Price-to-NAV ratio
(“PINAV”)

P/NAYV illustrates the market value of an entity in relation to its NAV.
P/NAV shows the extent to which the value of each share is backed
by assets and represents an asset-based relative valuation
methodology.

This asset-based approach of valuing a company or group is based
on the aggregate value of all the assets of the company in their
existing condition, after deducting the sum of all liabilities of the
company and minorities’ interests. The P/NAV approach is
meaningful as it shows the extent to which the value of each share
is backed by both tangible and intangible assets and would be
relevant in the event that the company or group decides to realise
or convert the use of all or most of its assets. The asset-based
approach in valuing a company may provide an estimate of the
value of a company or group assuming the hypothetical sale of all
its assets (including any intangible assets including but not limited
to goodwill, trademarks and brand names) in an orderly manner or
over a reasonable period of time and at the aggregate value of the
assets used in the computation of the NAV, the proceeds of which
are used to settle the liabilities, minority interest and obligation of
the company or group with the balance to be distributed to its
shareholders.

Price-to-RNAY ratio
(“P/RNAV”")

P/RNAV illustrates the extent that the value of each share is backed
by assets, taking into account their market or realisable values
which have been revalued. RNAV is typically used to revalue
property-related assets that are held by property investors and
developers, which may be carried in the accounts at either historical
cost or on a revalued basis, depending on the relevant accounting
standards adopted.
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8.1

Historical financial performance and position of the Group

A summary of the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the last three (3) financial
years (“FY”) ended 30 June 2018, 2019 and 2020 and half year ended 31 December 2020
(“HY2021”) and 31 December 2019 (“HY2020") are set out below. The following summary
financial information should be read in conjunction with the full text of the Company’s annual
report for FY2018, FY2019 and FY2020 and the results announcements in respect of the
relevant financial periods including the notes/commentaries thereto.

Consolidated Income Statement

(US$’ million) FY2018 FY2019 FY2020 HY2020 HY2021
Audited Audited Audited Unaudited Unaudited

Revenue 344.4 349.3 258.2 193.3 19.5

Cost of sales (189.7) (221.9) (160.0) (99.7) (30.1)

Gross profit / (loss) 154.7 127.4 98.2 93.6 (10.6)

Other operating income 28.7 0.5 243 0.3 26.5

Administrative expenses (80.1) (58.4) (53.9) (29.0) (19.3)

Reversal of impairment loss /

(impairment loss) on

trade receivables (0.2) (0.7) 0.1 0.4 (0.8)

Other operating expenses (0.1) (16.3) (47.8) (1.4)

Operating profit 103.0 52.5 20.9 63.9 (4.2)

Finance income 1.6 1.6 1.5 0.7 2.9

Finance costs (13.5) (13.2) (48.0) (25.9) (24.4)

Net financing costs (11.9) (11.6) (46.5) (25.2) (21.5)

(Loss) / profit before tax / period 91.1 40.9 (25.6) 38.7 (25.7)

Income tax (expense) / credit (20.4) (6.6) (1.1) (11.8) 5.9

(Loss) / profit from continuing operations,

net of tax 70.7 343 (26.7) 26.9 (19.8)

Profit / (loss) from discontinued

operation, net of tax (11.8) 16.0

(Loss) / profit for the year / period 58.9 50.3 (26.7) 26.9 (19.8)

Profit / (loss) attributable to
Owners of the Company 59.0 50.3 (26.7) 26.9 (19.8)

Non-controlling interests (0.1) -

Source: Company’s annual reports for FY2019 and FY2020 and Company'’s financial results announcement for HY2021

Review of operating results

FY2018 vs FY2019

The Group recorded a revenue of US$349.3 million in FY2019, representing an increase of
US$4.9 million or 1.4% from US$344.4 million in FY2018. This was mainly due to an
increase in revenue from Bass Strait oil and gas royalties from US$24.2 million in FY2018 to
US$29.2 million in FY2019, largely driven by higher crude oil and gas prices in FY2019.

Hotel revenue for FY2019 was higher in British Pounds Sterling (“GBP”) terms compared to
FY2018 as a result of improved hotel occupancy rate and revenue per available room during
the year. However, the increase was fully offset by the weakening of GBP against the US
dollar (“USD”) by 4.2% compared to FY2018.
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Despite an increase in revenue, gross profit decreased from US$154.7 million in FY2018 to
US$127.4 million in FY2019. The lower cost of sales that was recorded in FY2018 was
mainly due to the reversal of over accrued rental expense of Euston Hotel as a result of the
compulsory acquisition in FY2018. In addition, increased business and utilities rates,
reclassification of hotel depreciation and intangible asset amortisation from administrative
expenses and web marketing cost for promoting the Group’s direct web strategy resulted in
an increase in cost of sales in FY2019.

Other operating income decreased by US$28.2 million from US$28.7 million in FY2018 to
US$0.5 million in FY2019 due to the one-off compensation from the compulsory acquisition

of one hotel property and the recovery of legacy loan which was written off previously in
FY2018.

Administrative cost decreased by US$21.7 million from US$80.1 million in FY2018 to
US$58.4 million in FY2019 mainly due to the reclassification of hotel depreciation and
intangible asset amortisation to cost of sales as well as the weakening of GBP against the
USD.

Impairment loss on trade receivables increased by US$0.5 million from US$0.2 million in
FY2018 to US$0.7 million in FY2019 mainly due to the increase in provision on higher aged
trade debt balances.

The increase in other operating expenses of US$16.2 million from US$0.1 million in FY2018
to US$16.3 million in FY2019 was relating to the impairment loss of hotel properties, loss on
disposal of property and equipment, and write-off of obsolete hotel furniture and equipment
as well as the provision for legal claims on an unfavourable arbitration award in Hawaii
during the year.

Income tax expense decreased by US$13.8 million from US$20.4 million in FY2018 to
US$6.6 million in FY2019 mainly due to a set off against tax benefit in the Hotel segment.

For FY2019, the Group recorded a profit from discontinued operations of US$16.0 million
from the disposal of the gaming segment including the casino license on 16 April 2019 for a
cash consideration of US$30.1 million with a loss on disposal of US$0.3 million (net of
transaction related cost). In addition, there was a realisation of US$17.5 million of foreign
currency translation reserve gain from this disposal.

As a result of the above, net profit after tax (attributable to owners of the Company)
deceased by US$8.7 million or 14.7% from US$59.0 million in FY2018 to US$50.3 million in
FY2019.

FY2019 vs FY2020

The Group recorded a revenue of US$258.2 million in FY2020, representing a decrease of
US$91.1 million or 26.1% from US$349.3 million in FY2019. This was mainly due to a
decrease in revenue from the hotels segment from US$317.0 million in FY2019 to US$230.0
in FY2020 as a result of the impact of COVID-19 which resulted in the temporary cessation
of hotel operations in the last 4 months of FY2020 pursuant to the UK government’s
guidance. Revenue from the oil and gas segment also decreased as a result of (i) lower
crude oil prices that were partly attributable to a price war between major oil producers; (ii)
the decline in global oil demand as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic; and (iii) the
weakening of Australia dollars (“AUD”) against the USD.

Consequently, gross profit declined from US$127.4 million in FY2019 to US$98.2 million in
FY2020.

Other operating income increased by US$23.8 million from US$0.5 million in FY2019 to
US$24.3 million in FY2020 mainly due to compensation from the compulsory acquisition of
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Euston Hotel in 2018 and government grants from the various COVID-19 pandemic relief
schemes in UK and Singapore.

Administrative expenses decreased by US$4.5 million from US$58.4 million in FY2019 to
US$53.9 million in FY2020 due to (i) cost rationalisation measures that were implemented in
the fourth quarter of FY2020 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic; and (ii) the depreciation
of GBP against the USD during FY2020.

The Group recorded a reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables of US$0.1 million in
FY2020 as compared to an impairment loss of US$0.7 million on trade receivables mainly
due to lower provision required on an improved trade debt ageing balances.

Other operating expenses increased by US$31.5 million from US$16.3 million in FY2019 to
US$47.8 million in FY2020 due to the impairment of hotel properties, write down of
development properties, redundancy costs, value added tax (“VAT") arising from
discretionary service charge billed to customers in the UK, and provision for legacy leases
claims against a subsidiary in the UK which had provided a guarantee to a third party in
relation to hotel properties previously leased and operated by another subsidiary.

Net finance costs increased by US$34.9 million from US$11.6 million in FY2019 to US$46.5
million in FY2020 due to the recognition of interest expense on lease liabilities following the
adoption of International Financial Reporting Standard (“IFRS”) 16 during FY2020.

Income tax expense decreased by US$5.5 million from US$6.6 million in FY2019 to US$1.1
million in FY2020 mainly due to lower tax charge on decreased royalty income as well as
the recognition of deferred tax benefits at hotel segment following the adoption of IFRS 16
during FY2020.

As a result of the above, the Group incurred a net loss after tax for the year attributable to
owners of the Company of US$26.7 million as compared to a net profit after tax for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of US$50.3 million in FY2019.

HY2020 vs HY2021

The Group recorded a revenue of US$19.5 million in HY2021, representing a decrease of
US$173.8 million or 89.9% from US$193.3 million in HY2020. This was mainly due to the (i)
a significantly lower hotel revenue due to the continued impact from the COVID-19
pandemic in the UK that resulted in the temporary cessation of most of the Group’s hotel
operations during the period from July to December 2020 due to COVID-19 restrictions in
the UK; and (ii) lower revenue from the oil and gas segment due to lower crude oil and gas
prices. The decrease in revenue from the oil and gas segment was partially offset by the
strengthening of AUD against the USD during HY2021.

Gross profit declined from US$93.6 million in HY2020 to a gross loss of US$10.6 million in
HY2021.

Other operating income increased by US$26.2 million from US$0.3 million in HY2020 to
US$26.5 million in HY2021 mainly due to the receipt from the insurance claims relating to
the Group’s UK hotel business interruptions as well as government grants comprising
receipts from COVID-19 pandemic relief schemes in both UK and Singapore during
HY2021.

Administrative expenses decreased by US$9.7 million from US$29.0 million in HY2020 to
US$19.3 million in HY2020. This was mainly due to continued cost reduction initiatives
across all business segments amidst the COVID-19 pandemic during HY2021.

Impairment loss on trade receivables of US$0.8 million was mainly due to higher ageing
trade receivables in HY2021 as compared to HY2020.
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Other operating expenses of US$1.4 million recorded in HY2020 was relating to the
provision of VAT arising from discretionary service charge billed to customers in UK and
impairment loss on hotel property.

Net financing costs decreased by US$3.7 million from US$25.2 million in HY2020 to
US$21.5 million in HY2021 due to lower prevailing interest rates on the outstanding term
loans as well as foreign exchange translation gain arising from average cash balances as a
result of the strengthening GBP against USD during HY2021.

Income tax benefit of US$5.9 million in HY2021 was due to the recognition of deferred tax
benefits attributable to the hotel segment arising from trading loss offset by the lower tax
charge on decreased royalty income during HY2021.

As a result of the above, the Group incurred a net loss for the period attributable to owners
of the Company of US$19.8 million in HY2021 compared to a net profit for the period
attributable to owners of the Company of US$26.9 million in HY2020.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(US$’million) As at 30 June 2020  As at 31 December 2020
Audited Unaudited
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 94.0 107.9
Inventories 0.8 0.9
Development properties 171.6 171.6
Trade and other receivables 9.9 15.4
276.3 295.8
Non-current assets
Hotels, property and equipment 1,478.9 1,637.4
Intangible assets 59.0 64.8
Pensions surplus 6.2 6.9
Deferred tax assets 18.0 29.0
1,562.1 1,738.1
Total assets 1,838.4 2,033.9
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings - 10.0
Lease liabilities 6.4 7.2
Provisions 14.5 13.0
Trade and other payables 41.4 32.0
Corporate tax payable 0.5 0.6
62.8 62.8
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 187.3 242.8
Lease liabilities 699.7 785.5
Pension obligations 21 2.2
Derivative financial liabilities 3.5 3.5
892.6 1,034.0
Total liabilities 955.4 1,096.8
Net assets 883.0 9371
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 885.4 939.8
Non-controlling interests (2.4) (2.7)
Total equity 883.0 937.1
Number of shares (millions) 1,299.8 1,299.8
NAV per Share attributable to Shareholders (US cents) 68.1 72.3

Source: Company'’s annual report for FY2020 and Company’s financial results announcement for HY2021
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Major assets and liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the total assets of the Group amounted to US$2,033.9 million
comprising current assets of US$295.8 million and non-current assets of US$1,738.1 million,
representing 14.5% and 85.5% of total assets respectively.

Current assets as at 31 December 2020 comprised mainly (i) development properties of
US$171.6 million, (ii) cash and cash equivalents of US$107.9 million and (iii) trade and other
receivables of US$15.4 million, representing 8.4%, 5.3% and 0.8% of total assets
respectively. Non-current assets as at 31 December 2020 comprised mainly hotels, property
and equipment of US$1,637.4 million and intangible assets (comprising the Bass Strait oil
and gas royalty (“O&G Royalty”) and hotel brand) of US$64.8 million, representing 80.5%
and 3.2% of total assets respectively.

As at 31 December 2020, the total liabilities of the Group amounted to US$1,096.8 million
comprising current liabilities of US$62.8 million and non-current liabilities of US$1,034.0
million, representing 5.7% and 94.3% of total liabilities respectively.

Current liabilities as at 31 December 2020 comprised mainly (i) trade and other payables of
US$32.0 million (ii) provisions of US$13.0 million and (iii) interest-bearing loans and
borrowings of US$10.0 million, representing 2.9%, 1.2% and 0.9% of total liabilities
respectively. Non-current liabilities as at 31 December 2020 comprised mainly lease
liabilities of US$785.5 million and interest-bearing loans and borrowings of US$242.8 million,
representing 71.6% and 22.1% of total liabilities respectively.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(US$’ million) FY2020 HY2020 HY2021
Net cash generated / (used in) from operating activities 86.2 69.2 (7.2)
Net cash used in investing activities (1.1) (14.9) (2.4)
Net cash (used in) / from financing activities (84.5) (76.9) 16.9
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 0.6 (22.6) 7.3
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year / period 94.0 74.0 107.9

Source: Company’s annual report for FY2020 and Company’s financial results announcement for HY2021

For FY2020 and HY2020, the Group recorded net cash generated from operating activities
of US$86.2 million and US$69.2 million. For HY2021, the Group recorded net cash used in
operating activities of US$7.2 million.

In respect of HY2021:

(@) The Group recorded net cash used in operating activities of approximately US$7.2
million mainly due to (i) loss before tax of US$25.7 million (ii) adjustments for non-
cash items of US$35.7 million (iii) changes in working capital items of US$13.8 million
and (iv) income tax paid of US$3.5 million;

(b) The Group recorded net cash used in investing activities of US$2.4 million due to
acquisition of hotels, property and equipment;

(¢) The Group recorded net cash from financing activities of US$16.9 million due to
proceeds from drawn-down of short term / long term borrowings of US$43.0 million,
offset by repayment of lease liabilities of US$22.6 million and interest paid of US$4.4
million; and

(d) Taking into account (i) the net increase in cash and cash equivalents of US$7.3 million

(ii) the cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at the beginning of FY2021 of
approximately US$94.4 million and (iii) the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on
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8.2

8.2.1

cash held of US$6.2 million, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately US$107.9 million as at 31 December 2020.

Analysis of the Group’s NAV per Share and RNAYV per Share

Shareholders should note that the analysis based on the NAV of the Group only provides an
estimate of the value of the Group based on a hypothetical scenario involving the sale of all
its assets in an orderly manner over a reasonable period of time and does not take into
account or consideration other variables such as the hypothetical sale of assets in a non-
orderly manner or over a short period of time, time value of money, market conditions, legal
and professional fees, liquidation costs, contractual obligations, regulatory requirements and
availability of potential buyers, all of which could theoretically lower the NAV that can be
realised.

NAYV of the Group

The Group’s unaudited consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020
comprised mainly the following:

Unaudited As a
as at percentage
31 December 2020 of total assets

(US$'million) (%)
Non-current assets
Hotels, property and equipment 1,637.4 80.5
- comprising mainly the Group’s hotel portfolio of 15 hotels
located in the UK
Intangible assets 64.8 3.2
- Group's interest in the Bass Strait's oil and gas production in
Australia
Other non-current assets (including deferred tax assets) 35.9 1.8
Current assets
Development properties 171.6 8.4
- 54,486 acres of land parcels on Molokai island in Hawaii
Cash and cash equivalents 107.9 5.3
Other current assets 16.3 0.8
Total assets 2,033.9 100.0
Total liabilities 1,096.8
Total equity 9371
Non-controlling interests (2.7)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company/NAV 939.8
NAYV per Share (US$)™" 0.72
NAYV per Share (S$)? 0.96
Offer Price (S$) 0.70
P/NAV as implied by the Offer Price (times) 0.73
Discount to NAV per Share as implied by the Offer Price (%) 26.8

Source: Company’s financial results announcement for HY2021
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Notes:

(1) Based on 1,299,768,633 Shares (after excluding 68,295,000 Shares held under a trust established by the
Company for the GL Limited Executives’ Share Scheme 2018), which is consistent with the approach taken by the
Company in the computation of the net asset per share for their financial results. Per Share value is rounded to the
nearest two (2) decimal places.

(2) Based on exchange rate of USD1.00:SGD1.3221 as at 31 December 2020.

The P/NAV as implied by the Offer Price of 0.73 times implies that the Offer Price is at a
discount of approximately 26.8% to the NAV per Share as at 31 December 2020.

We have also computed the historical P/NAV (based on the Group’s trailing NAV per Share
as announced by the Company for that applicable periods and the daily closing price of the
Shares for the relevant periods) for the periods of 2-year, 1-year, 6-month, 3-month and 1-
month (the “Relevant Period”) prior to the announcement date up to 14 January 2021 (the
“Last Trading Day”) being the last full Market Day on which the Shares were transacted
prior to the release of the Offer Announcement and for the period from 15 January 2021
(being the Offer Announcement Date) up to the Latest Practicable Date

The following chart shows the discount to NAV as implied by the closing price of the Shares
for the Relevant Period and the discount to NAV as implied by the Offer Price.

15 January 2021:
Offer Announcement
Date
I
I
'.
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i
I
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I
i
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i
i
-60.0% — — !
S g 2323692438332 3232609 243 %
L e LY iR et oDl
—— As implied by the Closing Price As implied by the Offer Price
Source: Bloomberg L.P.
Discount to NAV
Average Minimum Maximum
Periods up to and including the Last Trading Day
2-year (34.9%) (18.6%) (51.5%)
1-year (38.8%) (18.6%) (51.5%)
6-month (42.4%) (36.3%) (50.5%)
3-month (43.7%) (38.9%) (50.5%)
1-month (42.7%) (41.0%) (46.1%)
Period between the Offer Announcement o o o
Date and the Latest Practicable Date (25.2%) (24.2%) (26.8%)

Source: Bloomberg L.P.
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We note that the Shares had consistently traded on the SGX-ST at a discount to the NAV
per Share during the Relevant Period. The average discount ranged from 34.9% for the 2-
year period prior to the Last Trading Day to 43.7% for the 3-month period prior to the Last
Trading Day. The minimum discount ranged from 18.6% for the 2-year period prior to the
Last Trading Day to 41.0% for the 1-month period prior to the Last Trading Day. The
maximum discount ranged from 46.1% for the 1-month period prior to the Last Trading Day
to 51.5% for the 2-year period prior to the Last Trading Day.

In comparison, the discount to NAV as implied by the Offer Price of approximately 26.8% is
within the range, but is lower than the average discounts to NAV as implied by the closing
price of the Shares for the periods of 2-year, 1-year, 6-month, 3-month and 1-month prior to
the Offer Announcement Date and up to the Last Trading Day.

For the period between the Offer Announcement Date and the Latest Practicable Date, we
note that the discount to NAV as implied by the closing price of the Shares was between
24.2% and 26.8% and the average discount was 25.2%. In comparison, the discount to NAV
as implied by the Offer Price was slightly higher at 26.8%.

Based on the unaudited consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, we note that the majority of assets of the Group comprise hotels, property
and equipment, intangible assets and development properties which accounted for 80.5%,
3.2% and 8.4% respectively of the total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2020. As an
asset-based company, it is therefore relevant for the purpose of the Offer to assess the
current market valuation of these assets and their impact on the NAV of the Group. We set
out these classes of assets in greater detail below.

(a) Hotels, property and equipment

Hotels, property and equipment are measured in the Group’s financial statement at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Gains or losses arising from the changes
in the fair value of the hotels, properties and equipment are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

As at 31 December 2020, the net book value of the Group’s hotels, property and equipment
was US$1,637.4 million, comprising freehold land and buildings, leasehold land and
buildings, right-of-use-assets and vehicles and fittings, accounting for 80.5% of the total
assets of the Group.

The Group’s hotel portfolio comprise 15 hotels located in the United Kingdom (the “Hotel
Properties”) with a carrying amount of US$1,044.7 million and the related right of use
assets of US$584.7 million. These Hotel Properties account for approximately 80.1% of the
Group'’s total assets.

(b) Intangible assets

Intangible assets consist primarily of the O&G Royalty which represents the Group’s interest
in the Bass Strait’s oil and gas production in Australia.

The O&G Royalty is measured in the Group’s financial statement at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it
increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates.
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life of 30 years.

We note that in connection with the financial audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2020,
the Company has engaged an independent appraiser who had estimated the recoverable
amount for the O&G royalty based on the present value of the future cash flows expected to
be derived from the cash generating unit (value in use method). The recoverable amount of
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8.2.2

the O&G Royalty was estimated to be higher than its carrying amount and no impairment
was required. The independent appraiser has estimated the net present value of the Group’s
interest in the O&G Royalty as at 30 June 2020 on a pre-tax basis (under the low and high
commodity price scenarios of Brent oil price and gas price) to be in the range of US$120
million to US$181 million, and at US$155 million based on the mid case product price
assumptions (the “O&G Royalty Valuation”).

As at 31 December 2020, intangible assets had a net book value of US$64.8 million,
accounting for approximately 3.2% of the total assets of the Group. In this regard, we noted
that for the period between 1 July 2020 and the Latest Practicable Date, the average oil
price of US$47.5/bbl (as indicated by the ICE Brent Index price extracted from Bloomberg
L.P.) is within the range of oil prices assumptions used by the independent appraiser in the
0O&G Royalty Valuation.

(c) Development properties

Development properties represents the Group’s investment on the island of Molokai in
Hawaii which comprises approximately 54,486 acres of land parcels (the “Molokai Assets”).

Development properties are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. As at 31
December 2020, the net book value of the development properties was US$171.6 million,
accounting for approximately 8.4% of the total assets of the Group. We understand that the
Group has been exploring options to monetise these assets, which includes selling its entire
interest in the entity which holds the Molokai Assets. In 2018, the Group marketed the
Molokai Assets collectively for US$250 million, but while there have been preliminary
inquiries from interested parties, none of the parties have sought to enter into serious
discussions with the Group as at the Latest Practicable Date.

RNAYV of the Group

In our evaluation of the financial terms of the Offer, we have also considered whether there
are any assets which may be revalued at an amount that is materially different from their net
book value as at 31 December 2020.

For the purpose of the Offer, the Company had commissioned Savills and CBRE to perform
a valuation of the Hotel Properties and Molokai Assets respectively as at 15 February 2021
and 1 February 2021 respectively. In respect of the Hotel Properties, we note that in order to
arrive at the valuation of the Hotel Properties, Savills’ principal approach has been to utilise
the profits method of valuation within discounted cash flows. In respect of the Molokai
Assets, the aggregate value reported by CBRE is the sum of the estimated market values of
the individual parcels and groups of the Molokai Assets, derived using, inter alia, the cost
approach and the sales comparison approach. For full details of the valuation, please refer
to the respective Valuation Reports.

The fair value adjustments have been incorporated into the Group’s revalued NAV (the
“‘RNAV”) as shown in the table below.

We set out the list of Hotel Properties and the Molokai Assets which were revalued and their
assessed market values as at their respective valuation dates below:
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Net book value as at \tll?clau:et::;:tsivaet Revaluation surplus /
31 December 2020 valuation date® (deficit)

Revalued Property (US$'million) (US$'million) (US$'million)
Hotel Properties
The Tower Hotel 296.9 280.3 (16.6)
AMBA Hotel Marble Arch 236.0 379.4 143.4
AMBA Hotel Charing Cross 90.5 153.9 63.4
The Royal Horseguards Hotel 138.3 181.4 431
AMBA Hotel Grosvenor 135.9 166.8 30.9
Thistle Kensington Gardens 38.7 72.3 33.6
Thistle Heathrow 20.7 2.8 (17.9)
Thistle Trafalgar Square 8.9 15 (7.4)
Thistle Hyde Park 3.3 0.6 (2.7)
Thistle City Barbican 5.4 (46.2) (51.6)
Thistle Bloomsbury Park 25 3.4 0.9
Thistle Piccadilly 5.3 (3.6) (8.9)
Hard Rock Hotel London 62.2 (42.6) (104.8)
Thistle Express Luton 0.1 (1.1) (1.2)
Thistle Express Swindon - (0.5) (0.5)

1,044.7 1,148.4 103.7
Development Properties
Molokai Assets 171.6 201.0@ 29.4
Total revaluation surplus 133.1
Less: Potential tax liability (42.2)
Net revaluation surplus 90.9

Source: Valuation reports
Notes:

(1)  The valuation figures are converted to USD based on exchange rate of USD1.00:GBP0.7277 as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

(2) Based on the sum of the estimated market values of the individual parcels and groupings of the Molokai Assets as
reported in the Molokai Valuation. We note from the CBRE’s valuation report that should the Company decide to
dispose of the properties comprised in the Molokai Assets to a single purchaser, the concluded bulk value to the
purchaser would likely be in the range of US$50 million to US$100 million.

We noted that for five (5) of the Hotel Properties, Savills have estimated negative market
values. This is the result of those properties having negative EBITDAs for part or the
duration of the projected cash flows. This is caused by short and medium term revenue falls
linked to Covid-19, but also due to the head rents payable being higher than sustainable
EBITDAR. In these scenarios, any transaction (an assignment of the lease) will attract a
reverse premium — i.e. the current leasee will need to pay an assignee to “take on” their
responsibilities and liabilities under the lease. It was also highlighted in the Savills’ valuation
report that it is likely that there will be few parties willing to take on leases with negative
values and these assets may require extended periods (18-24 months) to conclude a
transaction.

With regards to the Hotel Properties with estimated negative market values, the following
was also stated in the Savills’ valuation report:

“If a loss making leasehold interest were owned in a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) with no
guarantor stated on the lease, then the owner of that SPV may decide to declare the
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company insolvent and seek to exit the lease. This may mean the value of that leasehold
interest would be no lower than £0 — if it were the owner could try to dissolve the company.
However, several of the subject hotels are held on leases where GLH Hotels Limited is the
guarantor. This company has a tangible net worth of £577,898,000 and a Dun & Bradstreet
rating of 5A 1 — Minimum Risk (source: Dun & Bradstreet 12 February 2021). Should the
tenant in each case be unable to meet their lease obligations, including the payment of rent,
the hotel landlords have recourse to GLH Hotels Limited. We are not qualified to comment
on the financial strength of companies, but the point we are making for valuation purposes is
that GLH Hotels Limited is liable for rent payments at several of the properties and there is
currently no clear exit from its obligations under the lease terms. Therefore, negative values
are a possibility for these properties, where head rent payments are higher than EBITDA.”

We also enquired from the Management if there would be any tax liabilities the Group may
incur as a result of the hypothetical disposal of these assets. The Management has
confirmed that the aggregate potential tax liabilities that may be incurred by the Group if
these assets were to be sold at the assessed valuation would be approximately US$42.2
million. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors and the Management have
represented and confirmed that the Company has no immediate plans to dispose of any of
the above assets, save for the Molokai Assets. Accordingly, only the potential tax liabilities
in respect of the Molokai Assets (which is estimated to be approximately US$20.6 million)
are likely to crystallise in the event of a successful sale of the Molokai Assets at the
assessed valuation.

In computing the RNAV of the Group, we had taken into account the revaluation of the
above properties. Save for the Hotel Properties and Molokai Assets, the other assets of the
Group have not been revalued for the purpose of determining the RNAV of the Group.

In respect of the intangible assets relating to the O&G Royalty, we understand that a
revaluation would require approximately six weeks and therefore it would not be ready in
time for the purpose of the Circular and this IFA Letter. As such, we have referred to the
latest O&G Royalty Valuation as at 30 June 2020. We believe that this is reasonable for the
purpose of our evaluation based on the following:

(a) in connection with the financial audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2020, the
Company has engaged an independent appraiser who had estimated the
recoverable amount for the Bass Strait oil and gas royalty to be higher than its
carrying amount and no impairment was required;

(b) based on the unaudited consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2020, the value of the intangible assets relating to the Bass Strait oil
and gas royalty was not significant, accounting for less than 5.0% of the Group’s
total assets as at 31 December 2020;

(c) Management has confirmed that there was no material deterioration in the market
condition of the oil and gas industry which may necessitate an impairment in the
value of the intangible assets; and

(d) the average oil price during the period after the O&G Royalty Valuation and up to the
Latest Practicable Date is within the range of the oil price assumptions adopted for
the O&G Royalty Valuation.

In view of the market valuation of the Hotel Properties and Molokai Assets (collectively the
‘Revalued Assets”), we have assessed the RNAV of the Group by adjusting for the
potential revaluation surpluses from the Revalued Assets. We have also considered
potential tax liabilities arising from the revaluation surplus which may affect the RNAV, as
provided by the Management, for the purpose of evaluating the Offer Price.
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We set out below the summary of adjustments which are made to the unaudited NAV as at
31 December 2020 to determine the RNAV as at 31 December 2020.

Summary of RNAV Calculation Unaudited as at 31 December 2020
(US$'million)
NAV attributable to owners of the Company 939.8
Add: Revaluation surplus of the Hotel Properties 103.7
Less: Potential tax liabilities (21.6)
Add: Revaluation surplus of Molokai Assets 29.4
Less: Potential tax liabilities (20.6)
Net revaluation surplus on Revalued Assets 90.9
RNAYV of the Group 1,030.7
RNAV per Share (US$)™" 0.79
RNAV per Share (S$)@ 1.06
P/RNAYV as implied by the Offer Price (times) 0.66
Discount to RNAV as implied by the Offer Price (%) 33.8
Notes:

(1) Based on 1,299,768,633 Shares (after excluding 68,295,000 Shares held under a trust established by the
Company for the GL Limited Executives’ Share Scheme 2018), which is consistent with the approach taken by the
Company in the computation of the net asset value per share for their financial result. Per Share value is rounded to
the nearest two (2) decimal places.

(2) Based on exchange rate of USD1.00:SGD1.3327 as at the Latest Practicable Date and rounded to the nearest two
(2) decimal places.

We note that the RNAV is higher compared to the unaudited NAV of the Group as at 31
December 2020 as there is a net revaluation surplus on the Revalued Assets. The Offer
Price represents a discount to RNAV of 33.8% compared to a discount to NAV of 26.8%.

We note that the valuation reports issued by the Independent Valuers included a statement
on market valuation uncertainty in view the current COVID-19 situation which highlights that
less certainty and a higher degree of caution should be attached to the valuation than would
normally be the case.

The following is the statement of material valuation uncertainty extracted from Savills’
valuation report on the Hotel Properties:

“Material valuation uncertainty

In respect of hotels, we continue to be faced with an unprecedented set of circumstances
caused by COVID-19 and an absence of relevant/sufficient market evidence on which to
base our judgements. Our valuation of the subject portfolio will therefore be reported as
being subject to ‘material valuation uncertainty’ as set out in VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the
RICS Valuation — Global Standards. Consequently, in respect of these valuations less
certainty — and a higher degree of caution — should be attached to our valuation than would
normally be the case.

For the avoidance of doubt this explanatory note, including the ‘material valuation
uncertainty’ declaration, does not mean that the valuation cannot be relied upon. Rather, this
explanatory note has been included to ensure transparency and to provide further insight as
to the market context under which the valuation opinion was prepared. In recognition of the
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potential for market conditions to move rapidly in response to changes in the control or
future spread of COVID-19, we highlight the importance of the valuation date.”

The following is the statement of material valuation uncertainty extracted from CBRE’s
valuation report on the Molokai Assets:

“COVID-19 WARNING STATEMENT — MARKET UNCERTAINTY CLAUSE

The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), declared by the World Health
Organization as a “Global Pandemic” on the 11" March 2020, has impacted global financial
markets. Travel restrictions have been implemented by many countries. Market activity is
being impacted in may sectors. As at the valuation date, we consider that we can attach less
weight to previous market evidence for comparison purposes, to inform opinions of value.
Indeed, the current response to COVID-19 means that we are faced with an unprecedented
set of circumstances on which to base a judgement. Consequently, less certainty — and a
higher degree of caution — should be attached to our valuation than would normally be the
case. Given the unknown future impact that COVID-19 might have on the real estate market,
we recommend that you keep the valuation of this portfolio under frequent review. For the
avoidance of doubt, the inclusion of ‘material valuation uncertainty’ declaration above does
not mean that the valuation cannot be relied upon. Rather, the declaration has been
included to ensure transparency of the fact that — in the current extraordinary circumstances
— less certainty can be attached to the valuation than would otherwise be the case. The
material uncertainty clause is to serve as a precaution and does not invalidate the
valuation.”

Shareholders should note that the analysis on RNAV provides an estimate of the value of
the Group assuming a hypothetical sale of assets of the Group as at the Latest Practicable
Date. However, such a hypothetical scenario is assumed to be made without considering
factors such as, inter alia, time value of money, market conditions, professional fees,
liquidation costs, contractual obligations, any other regulatory requirements and availability
of potential buyers, which may in theory, affect the RNAV that can be realised.

As mentioned under Paragraph 8.2.1, we understand that the Group is exploring options to
monetise these assets and has explored selling its entire interest in the entity which holds
the Molokai Assets. In 2018, the Group marketed the Molokai Assets collectively for US$250
million, while there have been preliminary inquiries from interested parties, as at the Latest
Practicable date, none of the parties have sought to enter into serious discussions with the
Group.

The Directors are of the view that it is not practicable to sell the properties comprised in the
Molokai Assets individually as the process is likely to be protracted and would take longer
and may entail higher transaction costs as compared to selling to a single purchaser. We
note from the CBRE’s valuation report that should the Company decide to dispose of the
properties comprised in the Molokai Assets to a single purchaser, the concluded bulk value
to the purchaser would likely be in the range of US$50 million to US$100 million
(representing a discount of between 50% and 75% to the valuation of the Molokai Assets of
US$201 million, which is based on the sum of estimated market values of the individual
parcels and groupings of the Molokai Assets).

Save for the above and as disclosed in the unaudited financial statements of the Group as at
31 December 2020, the announcements released by the Company on the SGXNET and the
Circular, the Directors and the Management have confirmed to us that as at the Latest
Practicable Date, to the best of their knowledge and belief that:

(a) there are no material events that have or will likely have a material impact to the
financial position of the Group since 31 December 2020;
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8.3

save for the revaluation of the Hotel Properties, Molokai Assets and the O&G
Royalty, there are no material differences between the realisable value of the
Group’s assets and their respective book values as at 31 December 2020 which
would have a material impact on the unaudited NAV of the Group;

other than that already provided for or disclosed in the Group’s financial statements
as at 31 December 2020, there are no other contingent liabilities, bad or doubtful
debts or material events which are likely to have a material impact on the NAV of the
Group as at the Latest Practicable Date;

there is no litigation, claim or proceeding pending or threatened against the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or of any fact likely to give rise to any proceeding
which might materially and adversely affect the financial position of the Company
and its subsidiaries taken as a whole;

there are no other intangible assets which ought to be disclosed in the statement of
financial position of the Group in accordance with the IFRS and which have not been
so disclosed and where such intangible assets would have had a material impact on
the overall financial position of the Group; and

there are no material acquisitions and disposals of assets by the Group between 31
December 2020 and the Latest Practicable Date, and the Group does not have any
plans for any such impending material acquisition or disposal of assets, conversion
of the use of its material assets or material changes in the nature of the Group’s
business.

Analysis of the Group’s SOTP Value Per Share

Given that the Group is engaged in various distinct businesses, we consider it appropriate to
value each of the Group’s businesses separately to arrive at an aggregate valuation of the
Group on a sum-of-the-parts basis. We have arrived at a range of valuation for the Group
rather than a single specific value as this will provide a more objective and meaningful
measure of the value of the Shares taking into account, infer alia, general market
fluctuations and volatility.

We set out a summary of our SOTP valuation analysis of the Group.

Lower valuation Upper valuation Valuation
(US$'million) (US$'million) methodology

Hotel Business 1,126.8 1,126.8 RNAV of Group's Hotel Properties
net of potential tax liability.
Based on the valuation range

Oil and Gas Business 84.0 126.7 from the O&G Royalty Valuation
and after applying a tax rate of
30%.

Property Development Business 50.0M 180.4 RNAV of Molokai Assets net of
potential tax liabilities.

Add: Cash 107.9 107.9

Less: Loan and borrowings (252.8) (252.8)

SOTP Valuation of the Group 1,115.9 1,289.0

SOTP value per Share (US$)® 0.86 0.99

SOTP value per Share (S$)® 1.14 1.32

Offer Price (S$) 0.70 0.70

Implied discount of Offer Price to

the SOTP value per Share (%) 2 ST/
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8.3.1

Notes:

(1)  This lower range of US$50.0 million is based on the lower end of the concluded bulk value of the Molokai Assets of
between US$50.0 million to US$100.0 million in the event of sale to a single purchaser as assessed by CBRE.

(2) Computed based on 1,299,768,633 Shares (after excluding 68,295,000 Shares held under a trust established by
the Company for the GL Limited Executives’ Share Scheme 2018), which is consistent with the approach taken by
the Company in the computation of the net asset value per share for their financial results. Per Share value is
rounded to the nearest two (2) decimal places.

(3) Based on exchange rate of USD1.00:SGD1.3327 as at the Latest Practicable Date. Per Share value is rounded to
the nearest two (2) decimal places.

Based on the above analysis, we note that the Offer Price is below the range of estimated
SOTP value per Share of S$1.14 (lower valuation) to S$1.32 (upper valuation).

We wish to highlight that the upper range of the valuation for the Property
Development Business of US$180.4 million (net of potential tax liabilities) used in our
SOTP valuation analysis is the sum of the estimated market values of the individual
parcels and groupings comprising the Molokai Assets. CBRE had also included a
bulk portfolio value range of US$50 million to US$100 million to reflect the as is
market value under the assumption of a bulk sale to a single purchaser. According to
Management, the lower valuation of US$50 million does not have any potential tax
liabilities. For the purpose of this SOTP valuation analysis for illustration purpose, we
have used the upper valuation of US$180.4 million and a lower valuation of US$50 for
the Molokai Assets.

Shareholders should note that a discount may be applied on the SOTP valuation due
to, inter alia, the ability of investors to achieve investment diversification more
effectively and efficiently on their own in an efficient capital market by directly
purchasing a portfolio of stocks of focused firms as compared to purchasing stocks
of a holding company like the Company that invests in a range of diverse businesses.
Such a discount can be attributable to the additional corporate expenses at the
holding company as well as investors’ potential lack of control over the underlying
assets and their reduced marketability. As the quantification of the holding company
discount is highly subjective, we have not applied any such discount in arriving at the
SOTP valuation of the Group.

We have also not applied any control premium to the valuation of the various businesses
within the Group which a purchaser may potentially be prepared to pay in the event of a sale
of any such business by the Group as such control premium is subjective and depends on
the purchaser’s intentions with regards to the target business and the potential synergies
that the purchaser can gain from acquiring the business.

Please refer to the following sections 8.3.1, 8.3.2 and 8.3.3 for details on our estimation of
the value of the Hotel Business, the Oil and Gas Business and the Property Development
Business.

Hotel Business
In connection with the Offer, the Company has commissioned Savills to conduct an

independent valuation of the Group’s hotels in its Hotels Business. Taking into account the
valuation of the Hotel Properties, the valuation of the Hotel Business is set out below:

(US$'million)
NAV of the Hotel Business as at 31 December 2020 1,044.7
Gross revaluation surplus on revalued hotels 103.7
Less: Potential tax liabilities (21.6)
RNAYV net of potential tax liabilities 1,126.8
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8.3.2

8.3.3

8.4

Oil and Gas Business

As set out in section 8.2.1 above, based on the independent valuation done on the O&G
Royalty as at 30 June 2020, the valuation of the O&G Royalty Valuation is in the range of
US$120 million to US$181 million. We understand from the Management that the valuation
was done under a pre-tax scenario and the applicable tax rate is 30%. Therefore, the
valuation we have ascribed to the Qil and Gas Business would be in the range of US$84.0
million to US$126.7 million after tax.

(US$'million) Lower valuation Upper valuation
Pre-tax valuation of the O&G Royalty 120.0 181.0
Less: Tax at 30% (36.0) (54.3)
Valuation of the O&G Royalty post tax adjustments 84.0 126.7

Property Development Business

In connection with the Offer, the Company has commissioned CBRE to conduct an
independent valuation of the Molokai Assets. Taking into account the valuation of the
Molokai Assets, the valuation of the Property Development Business is set out below:

(US$'million) Lower valuation Upper valuation
NAV of the Molokai Assets as at 31 December 2020 171.6 171.6
Gross revaluation (deficit) / surplus (121.6) 29.4
Less: Potential tax liabilities - (20.6)
RNAV net of potential tax liabilities 50.01" 180.4

Note:

(1)  This lower range of US$50.0 million is based on the lower end of the concluded bulk value of the Molokai Assets of
between US$50.0 million to US$100.0 million in the event of sale to a single purchaser as assessed by CBRE.

Historical share price performance and trading liquidity

We have compared the Offer Price to the historical share price of the Shares for the 1-year
period prior to the Offer Announcement Date and up to the Last Trading Day and for the
period from the Offer Announcement Date up to the Latest Practicable Date.

We set out below a chart showing the closing prices of the Shares and the number of
Shares traded on a daily basis during the period commencing from 15 January 2020 to 14
January 2021, being the Last Trading Day (“Period Under Review”) and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.
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Source: Bloomberg L.P.

In addition to the share price / trading volume chart, we have tabulated below selected
statistics on the share price and trading liquidity of the Shares for the Period Under Review
and the period after the Offer Announcement Date up to the Latest Practicable Date:

Average
Premium/ Average daily trading
(discount) of Highest Lowest daily volume as a
Offer Price to closing closing trading percentage
VWAP VWAP price price volume of free float
Reference Period (S$)™ (%)@ (S$)™ (S$)™M (1000)@ @ (%)@
Period up to and including
the Last Trading Day
12-month 0.640 9.4 0.805 0.470 130.4 0.034
6-month 0.549 27.5 0.605 0.470 42.8 0.011
3-month 0.525 334 0.580 0.470 41.5 0.011
1-month 0.546 28.2 0.560 0.515 52.2 0.014
Last Trading Day 0.5600 25.0 0.560 0.560 56.6 0.015

Periods after the

Offer Announcement Date

Period between Offer 0.704 (0.5) 0.725 0.700 3,641.8 0.961
Announcement Date

and the Latest

Practicable Date

Latest Practicable Date 0.710® (1.4) 0.710 0.710 2,361.3 0.623

Source: Bloomberg L.P.

Notes:
(1) Rounded to the nearest three (3) decimal places.
(2) Rounded to the nearest one (1) decimal place.

(3) The average daily trading volume of the Shares is calculated based on the total volume of Shares traded during the
period divided by the number of market days during that period.

(4) Based on the Company’s annual report for FY2020, the number of Shares held in the hands of the public was
approximately 379.1 million Shares being 27.7% of the issued shares of the Company.

(5) Refers to the closing price of the Shares on the Last Trading Day.
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(6)

Refers to the closing price of the Shares on 8 February 2021, being the Latest Practicable Date.

Based on the above, we note the following:

)]

(e)

The Offer Price is at a premium of approximately 9.4%, 27.5%, 33.4% and 28.2% to
the VWAP of the Shares for the 12-month, 6-month, 3-month and 1-month periods
prior to the Offer Announcement Date respectively;

The Offer Price is at a premium of approximately 25.0% to the closing price of the
Shares on the Last Trading Day;

The Offer Price at S$0.70 is higher than the highest closing price of the Shares for
the 1-month, 3-month and 6-month periods up to and including the Last Trading Day
prior to the Offer Announcement Date, but lower than the highest closing price of the
Shares for the 12-month period prior to and including the Last Trading Day;

During the period between the Offer Announcement Date and the Latest Practicable
Date, the daily closing price of the Shares has been equal to or higher than the Offer
Price. The Offer Price represents a discount of 0.5% to the VWAP of the Shares for
the period between the Offer Announcement Date and the Latest Practicable Date;
and

On the Latest Practicable Date, the closing price of the Shares was S$0.710. The
Offer Price represents a discount of 1.4% to the closing price of the Shares on the
Latest Practicable Date.

We note the following with regard to the trading liquidity of the Shares:

(@)

Trading liquidity of the Shares during the 12-month period up to and including the
Last Trading Day has been low with an average daily trading volume of between
approximately 41,500 Shares and 130,400 Shares representing between 0.011%
and 0.034% of the free float of the Company; and

Between the Offer Announcement Date and the Latest Practicable Date, trading
liquidity of the Shares rose significantly to an average daily trading volume of
approximately 3.6 million Shares, representing approximately 0.961% of the
Company’s free float, as compared to the average daily trading volume of
approximately 130,400 Shares for the 12-month period up to and including the Last
Trading Day.

Based on the above, it appears likely that the market price and the trading volume of the
Shares have been supported by the Offer subsequent to the Offer Announcement Date.
Shareholders should note that the Offer will not become or be capable of being declared
unconditional until the Minimum Acceptance Condition is met or in the event that the Offeror
reduces the Minimum Acceptance Condition to a level which is more than 50.0%. As such,
there is no assurance that the market price and trading volume of the Shares will be
maintained at the level prevailing as at the Latest Practicable Date after the close of the
Offer. Shareholders are advised that the past trading performance of the Shares
should not, in any way, be relied upon as an indication or promise of its future trading
performance.
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8.5

8.5.1

Valuation ratios of selected listed companies broadly comparable to the Group

Based on the annual report of the Company for FY2020 and our discussion with
Management, we note that the Group operates in three main business segments, namely, (i)
the Hotel Business; (ii) the Property Development Business; and (iii) the Oil and Gas
Business.

For the purpose of our evaluation of the financial terms of the Offer, we have considered
comparing the valuation ratios of the Group, such as P/E ratio, EV/EBITDA ratio and P/NAV
ratio, to those of the Comparable Companies (as defined below). However, as the Group
had incurred losses for FY2020 and HY2021, such comparison with Comparable
Companies using the earnings-based approach (i.e. using the P/E ratio or EV/EBITDA ratio)
is deemed not meaningful. As such, we have confined the comparison using the asset-
based approach (i.e. using the P/NAV ratio).

In our selection of the Comparable Companies, we have made reference to companies in (i)
the hotel management and operations business listed on the SGX-ST and the London Stock
Exchange which we consider to be broadly comparable to the Hotel Business and Property
Development Business of the Group (collectively, the “Selected Hospitality Comparable
Companies”); and (ii) companies listed on the SGX-ST and the Australian Stock Exchange
which are principally engaged in oil and gas production (“Comparable Oil and Gas
Companies”).

We wish to highlight that the Selected Hospitality Comparable Companies and Comparable
Oil and Gas Companies (the “Comparable Companies”) are not exhaustive and we
recognise that there is no listed company or group which may be considered identical to the
Group in terms of, inter alia, composition of business, business activities, size and scale of
operations, risk profile, geographical spread of business, operating and financial leverage,
accounting policies, track record, financial performance and future prospects, liquidity and
market capitalisation. In addition, we wish to highlight that the list of Selected Hospitality
Comparable Companies and Comparable Oil and Gas Companies is by no means
exhaustive. As such, any comparison made herein is necessarily limited and serves only as
an illustrative guide and any conclusion drawn from the comparison may not necessarily
reflect the perceived or implied market valuation (as the case may be) of the Group as at the
Latest Practicable Date.

The Independent Directors should note that the prices at which shares trade include factors
other than historical financial performance, and some of these, inter alia, include prospects
real or perceived of the financial performance, the historical share price performance, the
demand/supply conditions of the shares, the relative liquidity of the shares, the relative
sentiments of the market for the shares, as well as the market capitalisation.

Hotel Business and Property Development Business

0] Selected Hospitality Comparable Companies

We set out below a brief summary of the Selected Hospitality Comparable Companies:

Company Stock Business Description Market
Exchange (as extracted from Bloomberg) Capitalisation
as at the LPD
(S$’ million)
AF Global Ltd Singapore AF Global Limited operates as an investment holding 76.0

company. The Company, through its subsidiaries, invests,
develops, sells, and manages hotels and resorts.

Far East Orchard Singapore Far East Orchard Limited is a diversified real estate 491.9
Ltd developer with a global portfolio in development and
investment properties. The Company is also a vertically
integrated regional hospitality owner and operator with a
sizeable overseas network. Its portfolio includes purpose-
built medical suites in Singapore and student
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Company

Stock
Exchange

Business Description
(as extracted from Bloomberg)

Market
Capitalisation
as at the LPD
(S$’ million)

accommodation properties in the United Kingdom.

Fragrance Group
Ltd

Singapore

Fragrance Group Limited, through its subsidiaries, conducts
activities in property development and hotel operations. The
Company develops and sells residential and commercial
properties, including low to medium-rise private apartments
and hotels. Fragrance Group also invests in and manages
hotel properties targeted a cost-conscious business and
leisure travelers.

751.7

Hotel Properties
Ltd

Singapore

Hotel Properties Limited, through its subsidiaries, operates
and manages hotels. The Company also operates
restaurants and retails and distributes food and fashion
merchandise. In addition, Hotel Properties trades shares,
develops and invests in properties, hotels, and resorts.

1,615.0

KSH Holdings Ltd

Singapore

KSH Holdings Limited constructs, develops, and manages
various properties in Singapore, Malaysia, and the People's
Republic of China.

197.2

Oxley Holdings
Ltd

Singapore

Oxley Holdings Ltd. develops real estate. The Company
develops residential and commercial projects in accessible
locations. Oxley also develops light industrial buildings that
include swimming pools and other recreational amenities.

932.0

Sinarmas Land
Ltd

Singapore

Sinarmas Land Ltd. invests in, develops and manages real
estate. The Company owns commercial buildings, hotels
and resorts in China, Indonesia, Malaysia and Singapore.

893.6

Stamford Land
Corp Ltd

Singapore

Stamford Land Corporation Limited is an investment holding
company. The Company owns and manages hotels and
travel agencies. Stamford Land Corporation also develops
and invests in properties.

266.2

UOL Group Ltd

Singapore

UOL Group Limited owns and operates as a real estate
company. The Company has a diversified portfolio of
development and investment properties, hotels, and serviced
suites. UOL Group serves customers worldwide.

6,245.7

Heeton Holdings
Ltd

Singapore

Heeton Holdings Limited develops and sells private
residential properties. The Company also manages and
invests in residential, retail, and commercial properties.

91.7

Amara Holdings
Ltd

Singapore

Amara Holdings Limited operates as a holding company.
The Company, through its subsidiaries, provides hotels,
restaurants, properties, and food services. Amara Holdings
serves customers in Singapore.

230.0

Banyan Tree
Holdings Ltd

Singapore

Banyan Tree Holdings Limited operates as a holding
company. The Company, through its subsidiaries, owns and
manages hotel groups. The Company focuses on hotels,
resorts, spas, galleries, golf courses, and residences, as well
as provides investments, design, construction, and project
management services. Banyan Tree Holdings serves
customers worldwide.

222.9

Hotel Royal Ltd

Singapore

Hotel Royal Limited owns and operates the Hotel Royal in
Singapore. The Company, through its subsidiaries, also
manages and invests in properties in Malaysia and New
Zealand.

275.2

Mandarin
Oriental
International Ltd

Singapore

Mandarin Oriental International Limited is an owner and
operator of luxury hotels, resorts, and residences. The
Group now operates, or has under development, hotels in
the Americas, Europe, Middle East, and North Africa.
Mandarin Oriental International also operates, or has under
development, residences at Mandarin Oriental.

2,900.9

Hotel Grand
Central Ltd

Singapore

Hotel Grand Central Limited owns, operates, and manages
hotels. The Company also collects rent, develops properties,
and provides marketing and support services.

755.6

Hiap Hoe Ltd

Singapore

Hiap Hoe Limited is an integrated property developer. The
Company develops luxury and mid-tier residential properties.
Hiap Hoe also seeks out civil engineering and construction
contracts but its main focus is developing its own residential
properties.

303.5

Roxy-Pacific
Holdings Limited

Singapore

Roxy-Pacific Holdings Limited, through its subsidiaries,
develops and sells residential properties. The Company also
owns and invests in hotels.

456.4

Intercontinental
Hotels Group

United
Kingdom

InterContinental Hotels Group PLC owns and operates a
portfolio of hotel businesses. The Group's portfolio is
comprised primarily of various franchised hotels from an
established and diverse group of brands. InterContinental

16,811.9
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Company Stock Business Description Market
Exchange (as extracted from Bloomberg) Capitalisation
as at the LPD
(S$’ million)

Hotels manages hotel loyalty and priority club rewards
programs. The Group operates hotels in countries and
territories all over the world.

PPHE Hotel United PPHE Hotel Group Ltd owns and operates full-service 1,051.7
Group Kingdom upscale hotels throughout Europe and the Middle East. The
Company owns, co-owns, leases, franchises, and manages
full service upscale hotels in major gateway cities, and
regional centers throughout Europe and the Middle East.

Whitbread PLC United Whitbread PLC is a hotel and restaurant group. The 11,831.6
Kingdom Company operates businesses in budget hotels, restaurants,
and coffee shops.
Dalata Hotel United Dalata Hotel Group Public Limited Company owns and 1,216.7
Group Kingdom operates as a chain of hotels. The Company supports and

develops hotels throughout Ireland and the United Kingdom.

Source: Bloomberg L.P.

The valuation ratios of the Selected Hospitality Comparable Companies as at the Latest
Practicable Date are set out below:

Companies LastFinancial EV/TTMEBITDA  TTMPJE PINAV® @ P/IRNAV®
Year End
(times) (times) (times) (times)
AF Global Ltd December n.a.® n.a.® 0.31 -
Far East Orchard Ltd December 19.07 25.40 0.41 -
Fragrance Group Ltd December 122.65(19 10.59 0.61 -
Hotel Properties Ltd December 36.30 n.a.® 0.86 0.58®
KSH Holdings Ltd December 59.22 304.30110 0.61 -
Oxley Holdings Ltd June 39.58 n.a.® 0.89 0.42"
Sinarmas Land Ltd December 10.56 16.44 0.32 -
Stamford Land Corp Ltd March 13.78 22.44 0.53 -
UOL Group Ltd December 26.23 48.44 0.65 0.60®
Heeton Holdings Ltd December 60.00 n.a.® 0.22 -
Amara Holdings Ltd December 12.31 11.41 0.59 0.29®
Banyan Tree Holdings Ltd December 34.12 n.a.® 0.35 -
Hotel Royal Ltd December 31.75 n.a.® 0.40 -
mser:ﬁzziignall’iﬁ?c:al December n.a.® n.a.® 0.59 -
Hotel Grand Central Ltd December 14.09 37.84 0.56 -
Hiap Hoe Ltd December 34.68 n.a.® 0.41 -
Roxy-Facific Holdings December 2253 19.36 0.90 -
gigLC;oglt_igental Hotels December 36.27 n.a.® n.a.® -
PPHE Hotel Group Ltd December 15.96 n.a.® 1.57 -
Whitbread PLC February 45.74 n.a.® 1.59 -
Dalata Hotel Group PLC December 28.50 n.a.® 0.86 -
High 60.00 48.44 1.59 0.60
Low 10.56 10.59 0.22 0.29
Mean 30.04 23.99 0.66 0.47
Median 30.13 20.90 0.59 0.50

Source: Bloomberg L.P., annual reports and/or financial results announcements of the respective Selected Hospitality
Comparable Companies and W Capital Markets’s computations
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Notes:

(1)
@)

@)
(4)
(%)
(6)

@)

®)

Based on the closing price as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Based on the NAV as set out in the latest available published financial statements of the Selected Hospitality
Comparable Companies as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Based on the information in the respective analyst reports.
Not applicable as the company has recorded negative TTM EBITDA and/or TTM net profit.
Not applicable as the company is in net liabilities position.

Based on the RNAV of S$5.32 per share in the FPA Financial Corporation Pte Ltd analyst report on Hotel
Properties Limited dated 22 December 2020.

Based on the average RNAV of (i) S$0.54 per share in RHB Investment Bank Berhad analyst report dated 29
September 2020 and (ii) S$0.52 per share in UOB Kay Hian Private Limited analyst report dated 1 September
2020.

Based on the average RNAV of (i) S$12.66 per share in CGS-CIMB analyst report dated 11 November 2020 (ii)
S$$12.00 per share in DBS analyst report dated 6 August 2020 and (iii) S$12.11 per share in OCBC Investment

Research analyst report dated 12 November 2020.

(9) Based on the RNAV of S$1.39 per share in RHB Investment Berhad analyst report dated 4 March 2020.

(10) Excluded as statistical outliers.

Comparable Oil and Gas Companies

We set out below a brief summary of the Comparable Oil and Gas Companies:

Company Stock Exchange Business Description Market

(as extracted from Bloomberg) Capitalisation

as at the LPD
(S$’ million)

Rex Singapore Rex International Holding Limited is a production and 211.0
International exploration oil company with concessions in Norway
Holding Ltd and Oman.
Sinostar PEC Singapore Sinostar Pec Holdings Ltd. produces liquefied 94.1
Holdings Ltd petroleum gas, propylene, and polypropylene.
Interra Singapore Interra Resources Limited's principal activities are 26.9
Resources Ltd mainly the exploration and extraction of petroleum in

Myanmar. The company owns the rights to operate two

oil fields in Myanmar.
CWX Global Singapore CWHX Global Limited operates as an independent oil 17.4
Ltd and gas exploration and production company. The

Company focuses on exploration activities in the Asia-

Pacific region.
Cue Energy Australia Cue Energy Resources Limited is a petroleum and gas 54.5
Resources Ltd exploration, development and production company with

operations primarily in New Zealand and Indonesia.

The Company operates through various joint ventures.
Bass Oil Ltd Australia Bass Oil Limited operates as a petroleum producer. 6.9

The Company focuses on the acquisition, exploration,

and production of oil and gas properties. Bass Oil

acquires oil and gas properties in southeast Asia.
Senex Energy Australia Senex Energy Limited explores for and acquires crude 526.3
Limited oil and natural gas. The Company is focused on Oil in

the Cooper Basin, Unconventional gas in the Cooper

Basin, and Coal seam gas in the Surat Basin.
Karoon Energy Australia Karoon Energy Ltd operates as an exploration 619.8
Ltd company. The Company explores and acquires oil and

gas exploration assets. Karoon Energy serves

customers worldwide.
Calima Energy Australia Calima Energy Limited operates as an oil and gas 22.7
Limited company. The Company explores and produces

petroleum products. Calima Energy invests in oil and

gas projects internationally.

Source: Bloomberg L.P.
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The valuation ratios of the Comparable Oil and Gas Companies as at the Latest Practicable
Date are set out below:

Comparable Oil and Gas Last Financial EV/TTM EBITDA TTM P/E P/NAV 0@
Companies Year End (times) (times) (times)
II_?tc(ajx International Holding December na® na® 134
Sinostar PEC Holdings Ltd December 3.23 3.22 0.50
Interra Resources Ltd December 6.18 87.58 0.72
CWX Global Ltd June n.a.® n.a.® 0.70
Cue Energy Resources Ltd June 2.98 16.92 1.25
Bass Oil Ltd December 7.47 41.01 3.11
Senex Energy Limited June 10.59 n.a.® 1.65
Karoon Energy Ltd June n.a.® n.a.® 1.15
Calima Energy Limited December n.a.® n.a.® 0.34
High 10.59 87.58 3.11
Low 2.98 3.22 0.34
Mean 6.09 37.18 1.20
Median 6.18 28.96 1.15

Source: Bloomberg L.P., annual reports and/or financial results announcements of the respective Comparable Oil and
Gas Companies and W Capital Markets’s computations

Notes:
(1) Based on the closing price as at the Latest Practicable Date.

(2) Based on the closing price as at the Latest Practicable Date and NAV value as set out in the latest available
financial statements of the Comparable Oil and Gas Companies as at the Latest Practicable Date.

(3) Not applicable as the respective company has recorded negative TTM EBITDA and/or TTM net profit.
Weighted average valuation of the Comparable Companies

Based on the latest unaudited consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2020, the NAV of the Hotel Business, Oil and Gas Business, Property
Development Business is US$634.2 million, US$64.6 million and US$167.9 million
respectively. The Company also has an “Others” segment which covers the Group’s other
investments, treasury operations and corporate office, with a NAV of US$70.4 million.

We note that the TTM EBITDA (trailing twelve-month EBITDA) and TTM net profit (trailing
twelve-month net profit) for the Hotel Business and Property Development Business were
both negative. Hence, it would not be meaningful to do a comparison of the EV/TTM
EBITDA and TTM P/E with those of the Comparable Companies.

With regards to the Selected Hospitality Comparable Companies, we note that many of
these Selected Hospitality Comparable Companies also carry out property development. We
also note that the Property Development Business and other businesses of the Group is a
relatively small business segment of the Group. As such, we have included the Property
Development Business, the Hotel Business and other business under one segment for the
purpose of comparing the P/NAV ratio of the Group to the P/NAV ratio of the Comparable
Companies. The P/NAV ratio of the Comparable Companies is weighted based on the NAV
attributed to the various business segments of the Group.

We set out below the percentage contribution and allocation of the NAV of the Hotel

Business, Property Development Business and Others, and the Oil and Gas Business of the
Group.
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NAV as at 31 Dec 2020
(%)

Business segments of the Group

Hotel Business, Property Development Business and Others 93.1%
Oil and Gas Business 6.9%

Accordingly, we have weighted the P/NAYV ratio of the Comparable Companies based on the
above proportion, and compared them against the P/NAV of Group:

Weighted average valuation ratio g{g:;’)
Max 1.70
Min 0.23
Mean 0.70
Median 0.63
Company (implied by the Offer Price) 0.73

Based on the above, we note that the P/NAV of the Group as implied by the Offer Price of
0.73 times is within the range of the weighted average P/NAV of the Comparable
Companies of between 0.23 times to 1.70 times, and above the mean and median weighted
average P/NAV of the Comparable Companies of 0.70 times and 0.63 times respectively.

Comparison with precedent privatisation transactions involving selected companies
whose businesses are broadly comparable to the Group

We have reviewed successfully completed transactions announced on SGX-ST from 2013
to the Latest Practicable Date involving the privatisation of companies with principal
business of hotel management and operations and for which information is publicly available
(“Precedent Hotel Transactions”). This analysis serves as an indication of the premium or
discount of the respective offers without regard to their specific transaction rationale,
offerors’ intention or other considerations.

In making the comparison herein, we wish to highlight that the companies in the Precedent
Hotel Transactions are not exhaustive and there is no listed company or group which may
be considered identical to the Group in terms of, inter alia, composition of business,
business activities, size and scale of operations, risk profile, geographical spread of
business, operating and financial leverage, accounting policies, track record, financial
performance and future prospects, liquidity and market capitalisation. Likewise, they involve
shares of companies which are quoted, listed and tradeable on the stock exchange. As the
Company has, inter-alia, more than one segment of business and percentage of its revenue
or earnings or EBITDA or assets deployed for its various business segments may differ from
the companies whose transactions are reflected in the Precedent Hotel Transactions, the
relative weightage as accorded by us may differ from that as assigned by investors or
Shareholders, for the valuation of each of the different business segments. Further, we note
that there were no recent transactions in the Precedent Hotel Transactions and the two
transactions occurred in 2013 and 2014. This may limit the comparability of the transactions
to the Offer due to difference in, inter alia, general economic condition and market condition.
Accordingly, the analysis will be purely for illustrative purpose only.

We also wish to highlight that other than the criteria mentioned above, the premium or
discount that an offeror pays in any particular take-over varies in different specific
circumstances depending on, inter alia, factors such as the potential synergy the offeror can
gain by acquiring the target, the prevailing market conditions and sentiments, attractiveness
and profitability of the target’s business and assets, the possibility of a significant revaluation
of the assets to be acquired, existence of intangibles and branding or “internal goodwill or
intangible assets”, the availability of substantial cash reserves, the liquidity in the trading of
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the target company’s shares, the presence of competing bids for the target company and the
existing and desired level of control in the target company.

Details of the Precedent Hotel Transactions are set out below:

Valuation Metrics of Precedent Hotel Transactions

Announcement  Target Implied Implied Implied Implied
date P/E EV/EBITDA P/NAV P/RNAV
(times) (times) (times) (times)

Pan Pacific

10-May-13 Hotels Group 17.60 15.50 1.62 0.95
Global Premium o

13-Mar-14 Hotels Limited 17.90 n.a. 0.52 0.52

Mean 17.75 Not meaningful 1.07 0.74
Company (as

15-Jan-21 implied by the n.a.? 9.19® 0.734 0.66
Offer Price)

Source: Circulars in relation to the Precedent Hotel Transactions

Notes:

(1) Information is not available in the circular.

(2) Not applicable as the Company has recorded a net loss after tax for FY2020.
(3) Based on the EBITDA of the Company for FY2020.

(4) Based on exchange rate of USD1.00:SGD1.3221 as at 31 December 2020.

Premium/(Discount) implied by the respective offer price
Last trading 1-month 3-month 6-month 12-month
:ntnouncement Target day VWAP VWAP VWAP VWAP
- (%) (%) (%) (%) (%)
10-May-13 Pan Pacific Hotels 9.0 8.2 6.1 8.1 17.9
Group
10-Apr-14 Global Premium 134 16.7 21.4 241 25.5
Hotels Limited
Mean 11.2 12.5 13.8 16.1 21.7
Company (as
15-Jan-21 implied by the 25.0 28.2 33.4 27.5 9.4
Offer Price)

Source: Circulars in relation to the Precedent Hotel Transactions.
We note the following:

(@) The EV/EBITDA as implied by the Offer Price of 9.19 times is below the EV/EBITDA of
15.50 times of the Precedent Hotel Transactions;

(b) The P/NAV as implied by the Offer Price of 0.73 times is within the range of P/NAV of
the Precedent Hotel Transactions of between 0.52 times and 1.62 times but is below
the mean P/NAYV ratio of the Precedent Hotel Transactions of 1.07 times;

(c) The P/RNAV as implied by the Offer Price of 0.66 times is within the range of P/RNAV
of the Precedent Hotel Transactions of between 0.52 times and 0.95 times but is
below the mean P/RNAYV of the Precedent Hotel Transactions of 0.74 times;

(d) The premium as implied by the Offer Price of 25.0%, 28.2%, 33.4% and 27.5% over
the VWAP of the Last Trading Day, the 1-month period, 3-month period and 6-month
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period prior to Offer Announcement Date is higher than the range of premia implied by
the offer price for the Precedent Hotel Transactions; and

(e) The premium as implied by the Offer Price of 9.4% over the VWAP of the 12-month
period prior to Offer Announcement Date is lower than the range of premia implied by
the offer price for the Precedent Hotel Transactions.

Precedent Privatisation Transactions in Singapore

In assessing the reasonableness of the Offer Price, we have also compared the valuation
multiples implied by the Offer Price with those of selected recent privatisation transactions
undertaken by SGX-ST listed companies.

For our analysis, we have compared the financial terms of the Offer against recently
completed privatisation transactions carried out either by general takeover offer, voluntary
(“VGO”) or mandatory (“MGO”) or by way of voluntary delistings (“VD”) (collectively, the
“Precedent Privatisation Transactions”) as announced since January 2019 and
completed as at the Latest Practicable Date.

In making the comparison herein, we wish to highlight that the companies in the Precedent
Privatisation Transactions are not exhaustive and there is no listed company or group which
may be considered identical to the Group in terms of, inter alia, composition of business,
business activities, size and scale of operations, risk profile, geographical spread of
business, operating and financial leverage, accounting policies, track record, financial
performance and future prospects, liquidity and market capitalisation. Likewise, they involve
shares of companies which are quoted, listed and tradeable on the stock exchange. As the
Company has, inter-alia, more than one segment of business and percentage of its revenue
or earnings or EBITDA or assets deployed for its various business segments may differ from
the companies whose transactions are reflected in the Precedent Privatisation Transactions,
the relative weightage as accorded by us may differ from that as assigned by investors or
Shareholders, for the valuation of each of the different business segments. Accordingly, the
analysis will be limited and purely for illustrative purpose only.

We wish to highlight that other than the criteria mentioned above, the premium or discount
that an offeror pays in any particular take-over varies in different specific circumstances
depending on, inter alia, factors such as the potential synergy the offeror can gain by
acquiring the target, the prevailing market conditions and sentiments, attractiveness and
profitability of the target’s business and assets, the possibility of a significant revaluation of
the assets to be acquired, existence of intangibles and branding or “internal goodwill or
intangible assets”, the availability of substantial cash reserves, the liquidity in the trading of
the target company’s shares, the presence of competing bids for the target company and the
existing and desired level of control in the target company.

The premium or discount of offer price and the valuation multiples of the Precedent
Privatisation Transactions are set out below.
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Premium/(Discount) of Offer Price over/to")
— 1-month  3-month  6-month 12-month O e
transacted  y\waAp  VWAP  VWAP VWAP WL
Date of price NTA®@
anhounce- o o o o o .
ment Target Type (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (times)
7-Jan-19 Declout Limited VGO 62.5 66.7 66.7 58.5 51.2 1.28®
18-Jan-19  CoUrs Asia VGO 349 35.8 34.0 235 (16.7) 0.56
Limited
Kingboard
4-Apr-19 Copper Foil VGO 9.1 16.1 25.3 27.4 32,5 0.886)
Holdings Limited
Mav. 800 Super ©)
6-May-19 [ ings Limited VGO 16.1 30.8 31.2 25.3 17.6 2.06
14-May-19 ~ Memtech VGO 23.9 315 316 35.6 30.2 1.097)
International Ltd
15-May-19 ~ Doardroom VGO 14.3 18.9 16.1 17.6 16.9 2,020
Limited
28-Jun-19  Hupsteel Limited VGO 51.9 58.3 58.6 58.6 54.3 0.589)
20-Jui-1g  Delong Holdings 50 19 8.0 17.9 37.2 76.9 0.60(1"
Limited(®
Star
5-Aug-19  Pharmaceutical ~ MGO 157.1 160.1 176.1 186.6 192.2 0.6712
Limited
20-Aug-19 S Group VGO 195.0 266.7 267.5 267.5 59.7 0.62013)
Holdings Ltd
Avic
International 4)
27-Aug-19 y =net VGO 37.6 66.7 65.6 65.9 64.3 1.20
Holdings Limited
5-Sep-19  San Teh Ltd VGO 81.8 90.5 83.0 84.2 72.8 0.40019
e Raffles United “7)
25:0ct19 s e VGO (1.5) 0.0 10.0 15.9 9.1 0.28
United
25-Oct-19  Engineers MGO 1.5(9) 5.3 45 5.7 75 0.8220
Limited('®
PACC Offshore
4-Nov-19  Services VGO 69.3 99.4 93.0 70.2 37.1 0.96@9
Holdings Ltd
6-Nov-1g e Enviretech -y 486 616 68.5 655 39.6 1.15@)
24-Fepp0  Sreadralk VGO 19.4 30.1 24.0 25.0 205 28169
Group Limited
Elec & Eltek
3Apr20  oremational VGO 93.0 613 438 48.4 55.1 10029
ompany
Limited
1-Jun-20 Dynamic VGO 13.6 22.8 29.1 26.8 32.2 0.9529
Colours Limited
Perennial Real
12-Jun-20  Estate Holdings VGO 37.7 46.4 70.1 714 70.4 0.5829
Limited
Luzhou Bio-
Chem o7
30-Jun-20 VGO 100.0 87.5 130.8 150.0 150.0 n.a.@
Technology
Limited
Teckwah
12Aug20  paustria VGO 17.8 23.1 25.0 324 38.3 0.800%
orporation
Limited
20-Aug20  China Jishan VGO 84.2 101.3 106.4 116.7 83.0 0.782)
Holdings Limited
2-8ep20 oK Jewellery VGO 705 90.2 94.8 937 81.2 1.3160
Group Limited
16-Sep-20  LCT Holdings VGO 39.5 60.8 61.7 61.5 25.4 09160
Limited
High 195.0 266.7 267.5 267.5 192.2 2.81
Low (1.5) 0.0 45 5.7 (16.7) 0.28
Mean 51.2 61.6 65.4 66.8 52.0 1.01
Median 37.7 58.3 58.6 58.5 39.6 0.90
Company (as
15-Jan-21  implied by the VGO 25.0 28.2 33.4 27.5 9.4 0.7362
Offer Price)

Source: Bloomberg L.P. and circulars in relation to the Precedent Privatisation Transactions
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Notes:

(1)

)

@)
(4)
(%)
(6)
@)
(8)
©)
(10)

(an
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)

(16)

(7
(18)

(19)
(20)
1)
(22)
(23)

(24)

(25)
(26)

(27)

Market premia/(discounts) calculated relative to the last transaction prices and the 1-month, 3-month, 6-month and
12-month VWAPs of the respective target companies prior to the respective announcements.

Based on the P/NTA or P/NAV per share (as the case may be), as published in the respective circulars in relation to
the Precedent Privatisation Transactions.

Based on the proforma NTA per share of Declout Limited as at 30 September 2018.

Based on the proforma NAV per share of Courts Asia Limited as at 15 January 2019.

Based on the revalued NAV per share of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited as at 31 December 2018.

Based on the revalued NAV per share of 800 Super Holdings Limited as at 31 March 2019.

Based on the NAV per share of Memtech International Ltd as at 31 March 2019.

Based on the adjusted NAV per share of Boardroom Limited as at 31 March 2019.

Based on the revalued NAV/NTA per share of Hupsteel Limited as at 31 March 2019.

On 29 July 2019, a voluntary conditional cash offer was made for the issued shares of Delong Holdings Limited (the
“Delong Final Offer”). Prior to the Delong Final Offer, a voluntary conditional cash offer for the issued shares of
Delong Holdings Limited was previously made on 27 September 2018 and the offer was subsequently withdrawn in
accordance with Rule 4 of the Code as announced on 11 October 2018. The market premia in the table above was
computed based on the share prices for the period(s) up to and including 26 September 2018, being the last
undisturbed trading date.

Based on the NAV per share of Delong Holdings Limited as at 30 June 2019.

Based on the revalued NAV per share of Star Pharmaceutical Limited as at 30 June 2019.

Based on the revalued NAV per share of PS Group Holdings Ltd as at 30 June 2019.

Based on the NAV per share of Avic International Maritime Holdings Limited as at 30 September 2019.

Based on the revalued NAV per share of San Teh Ltd as at 30 June 2019.

On 25 October 2019, GATXH Holdings Pte. Ltd. made a voluntary unconditional general offer for the issued shares
of Raffles United Holdings Ltd. (the “Raffles United Final Offer”). Prior to the Raffles United Final Offer, Raffles
Infinity Holdings Pte Ltd had on 1 July 2019 made a mandatory unconditional cash offer for the issued shares of
Raffles United Holdings Ltd., and the shares were subsequently suspended from trading on 14 August 2019 as a
result of the loss of free float following the offer. The market premium/(discount) in the table above were computed
based on the share prices for the period(s) prior to the suspension of trading of the shares on 14 August 2019
following the loss of free float.

Based on the NAV per share of Raffles United Holdings Ltd as at 30 June 2019.

On 25 October 2019, a mandatory unconditional cash offer was made for the issued shares of United Engineers
Limited (“UEL”) at an offer price of $S$2.60 in cash. It was also the intention of the offeror to maintain the listing
status of UEL on the SGX-ST. On 12 November 2019, it was announced that the offer price was revised from
S$$2.60 to S$2.70 per share. On 16 December 2019, it was announced that, inter alia, the offeror did not intend to
preserve the listing status of UEL if the public float is less than 10% of its issued shares.

The market premium is based on the closing price on 22 October 2019 as published in the circular of the company.
Based on the revalued NTA per share of United Engineers Limited as at 30 September 2019.

Based on the revalued NAV per share of PACC Offshore Services Holdings Ltd as at 30 September 2019.

Based on the NAV per share of Citic Envirotech Ltd as at 30 September 2019.

Based on the adjusted NAV per share of BreadTalk Group Limited as at 31 December 2019.

Based on the adjusted revalued NAV per share of Elec and Eltek International Company Limited as at 31
December 2019.

Based on the adjusted NAV per share of Dynamic Colours Limited as at 31 December 2019.
Based on the revalued NAV per share of Perennial Real Estate Holdings Limited as at 31 December 2019.

Denotes “not meaningful” as Luzhou Bio-Chem Technology Limited recorded net liabilities and net revalued
liabilities as at 31 December 2019.
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8.8.1

(28)
(29)
(30)
@1

(32)

Based on the revalued NAV per share of Teckwah Industrial Corporation Limited as at 30 June 2020.
Based on the revalued NAV per share of China Jishan Holdings Limited as at 30 June 2020.

Based on the NAV per share of SK Jewellery Group Limited as at 30 June 2020.

Based on the adjusted NAV per share of LCT Holdings Limited as at 30 June 2020.

Based on the NAV per share of the Company as at 31 December 2020 converted at the exchange rate of USD1.00:
SGD1.3221 as at 31 December 2020.

Based on the above, we note the following:

(@)

(f)

The premium of 25.0% implied by the Offer Price over the VWAP of the Shares for
the Last Trading Day is within the range of the premium / (discount) for the
Precedent Privatisation Transactions of between (1.5)% and 195.0%, but below the
mean and median premia of 51.2% and 37.7% respectively;

The premium of 28.2% implied by the Offer Price over the VWAP of the Shares for
the 1-month period prior to the Offer Announcement Date is within the range of the
premium for the Precedent Privatisation Transactions of between nil and 266.7%, but
below and mean and median premia of 61.6% and 58.3% respectively.

The premium of 33.4% implied by the Offer Price over the VWAP of the Shares for
the 3-month period prior to the Offer Announcement Date is within the range of the
premium for the Precedent Privatisation Transactions of between 4.5% and 267.5%,
but below and mean and median premia of 65.4% and 58.6% respectively;

The premium of 27.5% implied by the Offer Price over the VWAP of the Shares for
the 6-month period prior to the Offer Announcement Date is within the range of the
premium for the Precedent Privatisation Transactions of between 5.7% and 267.5%,
but below and mean and median premia of 66.8% and 58.5% respectively;

The premium of 9.4% implied by the Offer Price over the VWAP of the Share for the
12-month period prior to the Offer Announcement Date is within the range of the
premium / (discount) for the Precedent Privatisation Transactions of between
(16.7)% and 192.2%, but below and mean and median premia of 52.0% and 39.6%
respectively;

The P/NAV as implied by the Offer Price of 0.73 times is within the range of the
P/NAV of the Precedent Privatisation Transactions of 0.28 times and 2.81 times, but
lower than the mean and median P/NAV of the Precedent Privatisation Transactions
of 1.01 times and 0.90 times respectively.

Other Relevant Considerations

Outlook of the Group

The Company had, in its latest six months ended 31 December 2020 results announcement
dated 13 January 2021 disclosed that the Group expects the business operating
environment to remain challenging and uncertain.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to significantly curtail business activity in London and
depress demand for hotel rooms. Starting January 2021, the UK government has imposed
another lockdown with tiered restrictions as a new COVID-19 variant caused a record
number of cases, which led to most of the Group’s hotels being closed again.
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8.8.3

8.8.4

Likelihood of competing offers is remote

The Directors have confirmed that, as at the Latest Practicable Date, apart from the Offer
being made by the Offeror, no alternative offer or proposal from any third party has been
received. We also note that there is no publicly available evidence of any alternative offer for
the Shares from any third party.

We note that as at the date of the Offer Document, a concert party of the Offeror,
Guocoleisure Assets Limited, owns 73.67% of the Shares of the Company and has
irrevocably undertaken to accept the Offer. It is therefore highly unlikely that there will be a
competing offer from any third party.

Listing status and Compulsory Acquisition

Under Rule 1105 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST (the “Listing Manual”), upon an
announcement by the Offeror that acceptances have been received pursuant to the Offer
that bring the holdings of the Shares owned by the Offeror and its Concert Parties to above
90 per cent. of the total number of Shares (excluding treasury shares), the SGX-ST may
suspend the trading of the listed securities of the Company on the SGX-ST until such time
when the SGX-ST is satisfied that at least 10 per cent. of the total number of Shares
(excluding treasury shares) are held by at least 500 Shareholders who are members of the
public. Rule 1303(1) of the Listing Manual provides that where the Offeror succeeds in
garnering acceptances exceeding 90 per cent. of the total number of Shares (excluding
treasury shares), thus causing the percentage of the total number of Shares (excluding
treasury shares) held in public hands to fall below 10 per cent., the SGX-ST will suspend
trading of the Shares only at the close of the Offer.

Shareholders are advised to note that Rule 723 of the Listing Manual requires the Company
to ensure that at least 10 per cent. of the total number of Shares (excluding preference
shares, convertible equity securities and treasury shares) is at all times held by the public
(the “Free Float Requirement”). In addition, under Rule 724(1) of the Listing Manual, if the
percentage of the total number of Shares (excluding treasury shares) held in public hands
falls below 10 per cent., the Company must, as soon as practicable, announce that fact and
the SGX-ST may suspend trading of all the listed securities of the Company on the SGX-ST.
Rule 724(2) of the Listing Manual further states that the SGX-ST may allow the Company a
period of three (3) months, or such longer period as the SGX-ST may agree, for the
percentage of the total number of Shares (excluding treasury shares) held by members of
the public to be raised to at least 10 per cent., failing which the Company may be removed
from the Official List of the SGX-ST.

In the event acceptances of the Offer result in the Free Float Requirement not being
met and/or trading of Shares on the SGX-ST is suspended pursuant to Rules 724,
1105 or 1303(1) of the Listing Manual, the Offeror does not intend to preserve the
listing status of the Company and has no intention of undertaking or supporting any
action to satisfy the Free Float Requirement or for any such trading suspension by
the SGX-ST to be lifted. In such event, the Offeror intends to delist the Company from
the Official List of the SGX-ST.

Offeror’s Intentions for the Group

The Offeror intends for the Company to continue with its existing activities and has no
intention to, in connection with or as a result of the Offer, (a) introduce any major changes to
the existing business of the Company, (b) re-deploy the fixed assets of the Company, or (c)
discontinue the employment of the existing employees of the Company or its subsidiaries, in
each case, other than in the ordinary course of business. However, the directors of the
Offeror retain the flexibility at any time to further consider any options or opportunities in
relation to the Company and its subsidiaries which may present themselves, and which it
regards to be in the interest of the Offeror.
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8.8.5

8.8.6

Other recent developments regarding the Group

The Company announced on 6 January 2021 that its wholly-owned subsidiary, GLH Hotels
Limited has received a net amount of GBP14.5 million (equivalent to approximately US$19.2
million) being an interim payment in relation to an insurance claim for business interruption
due to COVID-19 restrictions. In this regard, we note that the receipt of the interim payment
is expected to have a material impact on the Group’s earnings per Share for the financial
year ending 30 June 2021 ("FY2021"), but it is not expected to have a material impact on the
Group’s net tangible assets per Share for FY2021.

Issues relating to the RNAV approach to valuing property assets

The RNAYV valuation is based largely upon the surplus revaluation estimates which were
obtained by application of ‘as is’ valuation estimates. This approach implicitly assumes that
the properties, including those currently under development, may be disposed of by the
Company at a price determined by the independent valuations, on a willing buyer and a
willing seller basis in an arms-length transaction with a third party. It should be noted that
such valuations do not account for potential transaction costs associated with a disposal of
the property assets, nor does it consider the associated time, effort, marketability, buyer
demand and uncertainty relating to such property sale.

OUR RECOMMENDATION TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

In arriving at our recommendation in respect of the Offer to the Independent Directors, we
have taken into account a range of factors which we consider, based on available
information as at the Latest Practicable Date, to be pertinent and have significant bearing on
our assessment of the Offer. Accordingly, it is important that this IFA Letter, in particular, all
the considerations and information we have taken into account, be read in its entirety.

In determining the fairness of the Offer, we have considered, inter alia, the following
pertinent factors:

(a) The Offer Price to NAV per Share and the discount of the Offer Price to NAV per
Share as at 31 December 2020 are 0.73 times and 26.8% respectively;

(b) The Offer Price to RNAV per Share and the discount of the Offer Price to RNAV per
Share as at 31 December 2020 are 0.66 times and 33.8% respectively;

(c) The discount of the Offer Price to the SOTP Value per Share as at 31 December
2020 is in the range of 38.6% to 47.0%; and

(d) The Offer Price is at a discount of 1.4% and 0.5% to the closing price of the Shares
as at the Latest Practicable Date of S$0.710 and the VWAP of the Shares for the
period between the Offer Announcement Date and the Latest Practicable Date of
S$0.704 respectively.

In view of the above, we are of the opinion that the Offer is NOT FAIR.

In determining the reasonableness of the Offer, we have considered, inter alia, the following
pertinent factors:

(a) The Group recorded a net loss for FY2020 of US$26.7 million and a net loss for the
6 months ended 31 December 2020 of US$19.8 million. Net cash used in operating
activities in HY2021 was US$7.2 million;

(b) While the Offer Price represents a discount of 26.8% to the NAV per Share as at 31
December 2020, the discount is within the range of discounts and lower than the
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(i)

()

average discounts to NAV at which the Shares had traded at over the 2-year period
up to and including the Last Trading Day of 34.9%;

The Offer Price is at a premium of approximately 25.0% to the closing price of the
Shares on the Last Trading Day;

The Offer Price is at a premium of approximately 28.2%, 33.4%, 27.5% and 9.4% to
the VWAP of the Shares for the 1-month, 3-month, 6-month and 12-month periods
prior to the Last Trading Day respectively;

The Shares are thinly traded during the Relevant Period prior to the Offer
Announcement Date. Trading liquidity of the Shares during the 12-month period up
to and including the Last Trading Day has been low with an average daily trading
volume of between approximately 41,500 Shares and 130,400 Shares representing
between 0.011% and 0.034% of the free float of the Company;

The P/RNAV as implied by the Offer Price of 0.66 times is above the range of the
P/RNAV of the Selected Hospitality Comparable Companies of 0.29 times to 0.60
times;

The P/NAV as implied by the Offer Price of 0.73 times is within the range of the
weighted average P/NAV of the Comparable Companies of between 0.23 times to
1.70 times, and above the mean and median weighted average P/NAV of the
Comparable Companies of 0.70 times and 0.63 times respectively;

The P/RNAV as implied by the Offer Price of 0.66 times is within the range of
P/RNAYV of the Precedent Hotel Transactions of 0.52 times to 0.95 times. The P/NAV
as implied by the Offer Price of 0.73 times is within the range of the P/NAV of the
Precedent Hotel Transactions of 0.52 times to 1.62 times;

The P/NAV as implied by the Offer Price of 0.73 times is within the range of the
P/NAV of the Precedent Privatisation Transactions of 0.28 times to 2.81 times;

The premium of the Offer Price to the VWAP of the Shares for the Last Trading Day,
1-month, 3-month, 6-month, 12-month is within the range of the premias for the
Precedent Privatisation Transactions although it is below the mean and the median
premia for the Precedent Privatisation Transactions for the respective periods;

The Company had, in its latest results announcement dated 13 January 2021
disclosed that the Group expects the UK hotels to continue to face a difficult
operating environment into year 2021 due to renewed lockdown with tiered
restrictions being imposed by the UK government starting January 2021 as a result
of a record number of COVID-19 cases due to a new COVID-19 variant; and

As at the date of the Offer Document, a concert party of the Offeror, GuocoLeisure
Assets Limited, owns 73.67% of the Shares of the Company and has irrevocably
undertaken to accept the Offer. It is therefore highly unlikely that there will be a
competing offer from any third party.

In view of the above, we are of the opinion that the Offeris REASONABLE.

Having regard to the foregoing considerations set out in this IFA Letter and
information available to us as at the Latest Practicable Date and subject to the
qualifications made herein, we are of the opinion that the financial terms of the Offer
are NOT FAIR BUT REASONABLE. On balance of the above factors, we advise the
Independent Directors to recommend that Shareholders ACCEPT the Offer, unless
Shareholders are able to obtain a price higher than the Offer Price on the open
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market, after taking into account the brokerage and related costs in connection with
open market transactions.

Our opinion is addressed to the Independent Directors for their benefit and for the purpose
of their consideration of the Offer. The recommendation made by the Independent Directors
to the Shareholders in relation to the Offer shall remain the responsibility of the Independent
Directors.

In rendering our opinion and providing our recommendation, we did not have regard to the
specific objectives, financial situation, tax position, risk profile or unique needs and
constraints of any individual Shareholder and we neither assume any responsibility for, nor
hold ourselves as advisers to any person other than the Independent Directors. As different
Shareholders would have different investment profiles and objectives, we recommend that
any Shareholder who may require specific advice in relation to his/her investment portfolio or
objectives should consult his/her stock broker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant, tax
adviser or other professional adviser immediately and not to rely upon our opinion as the
sole basis for deciding whether or not to accept the Offer.

Whilst a copy of this IFA Letter may be reproduced in the Circular, neither the Company, the
Independent Directors, nor any other persons may reproduce, disseminate or quote this IFA
Letter (or any part thereof) for any other purpose at any time and in any manner without our
prior written consent in each specific case, except for the purpose of the Offer.

This IFA Letter is governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of Singapore,
and is strictly limited to the matters stated herein and does not apply by implication to any
other matter.

Yours faithfully,

For and on behalf of
W Capital Markets Pte. Ltd.

Chia Beng Kwan Sheila Ong
Partner Vice President
Head of Corporate Finance Corporate Finance
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APPENDIX B — ADDITIONAL GENERAL INFORMATION

1. DIRECTORS
The names, addresses and descriptions of the Directors as at the Latest Practicable Date are set
out below:
Name Address Description
Mr. Kwek Leng Hai 50/F, The Center Non-Independent  Non-
99 Queen’s Road Central Executive Chairman
Hong Kong
Mr. Paul Jeremy Brough 50/F, The Center Independent Non-
99 Queen’s Road Central Executive Director
Hong Kong
Ms. Chua Kheng Yeng, 1 Wallich Street Independent Non-
Jennie #15-02 Guoco Tower Executive Director
Singapore 078881
Mr. Teo Lai Wah Timothy 1 Wallich Street Independent Non-
#15-02 Guoco Tower Executive Director
Singapore 078881
Ms. Lim Suat Jien 1 Wallich Street Independent Non-
#15-02 Guoco Tower Executive Director
Singapore 078881
Mr. Chew Seong Aun 50/F, The Center Non-Independent
99 Queen’s Road Central Executive Director
Hong Kong
2. REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE COMPANY
The registered office of the Company is at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda.
3. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company is an investment holding company incorporated in New Zealand on 30 March 1961
and was continued in Bermuda as an exempted company on 29 December 1999. The Company
was listed on the Main-Board of the SGX-ST on 30 March 2000. The Company is an investment
holding company with its core business activity in hotel management and operations in the United
Kingdom. In addition to its hospitality business, the Company owns rights to royalties from the
production of oil and natural gas in the Bass Strait, Australia and real estate in Hawaii.
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4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4.

5.1.

SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

Number and class of Shares

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has only one class of Shares, being ordinary
shares. The Shares are quoted and listed on the Official List of the Mainboard of the SGX-ST.
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the authorised share capital of the Company is
US$500,000,000 and the total issued and paid-up share capital of the Company is approximately
US$1,000,000,000 comprising 1,368,063,633 Shares (excluding treasury shares). The Company
does not hold any treasury shares.

There is no restriction in the Bye-laws of the Company on the right to transfer any Shares, which
has the effect of requiring the Shareholders, before transferring them, to offer them for purchase

to members of the Company or to any other person.

Rights of Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and voting

The rights of Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and voting are contained in the Bye-
laws. An extract of the relevant provisions in the Bye-laws relating to the rights of Shareholders
in respect of capital, dividends and voting is reproduced in Appendix D to this Circular. The Bye-
laws are available for inspection at the corporate office of the Company at 1 Wallich Street, #15-
02 Guoco Tower, Singapore 078881 during nhormal business hours for the period during which
the Offer remains open for acceptance. Capitalised terms and expressions not defined in the
extract have the meanings ascribed to them in the Bye-laws.

Number of Shares issued since the end of the last financial year

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no new Shares have been issued by the Company since 30
June 2020, being the end of the last financial year.

Convertible instruments

The Company has not issued any instruments convertible into, rights to subscribe for, and options
in respect of, the Shares and securities which carry voting rights affecting the Shares that are
outstanding as at the Latest Practicable Date.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Consolidated statements of comprehensive income

A summary of the financial information of the Group for FY2018, FY2019 and FY2020 (based on
the audited consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the Group
for FY2018, FY2019 and FY2020) is set out below.

Audited Audited Audited
FY2018® FY2019® FY2020
Us$'000 US$’000 US$'000
Turnover 344,402 349,300 258,170
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5.2.

Exceptional items - - -
Net profit/ (loss) before tax 91,110 40,904 (25,577)
Net profit/ (loss) after tax 58,952 50,327 (26,669)
Profit/ (loss) attributable to 59,048 50,326 (26,669)
the owners of the Company

Minority interests (96) 1 -
Net earnings per share 4.5 3.9 (2.1)
Net dividends per share (SG 2.2 2.2 -
cents)

Notes:

(1) The numbers in Turnover and Net profit/ (loss) before tax are based on continuing operations as presented
in the audited consolidated financial statements.

The financial information for FY2018, FY2019 and FY2020 should be read in conjunction with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group and the accompanying notes as set
out in the annual reports of the Company for FY2018, FY2019 and FY2020.

Statement of financial position

A summary of the audited consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at FY2020
(being the date to which the Company’s last published audited financial statements were made
up) is set out below.

As at 30 June 2020

US$'000
Non-current assets 1,562,135
Current assets 276,353
Total assets 1,838,488
Current Liabilities 62,829
Non-current liabilities 892,679
Total liabilities 955,508
Net assets 882,980
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 273,613
Treasury shares -
Statutory reserves 283,115
Accumulated profits / (losses) 326,252
Total Equity 882,980

The above summary should be read together with the annual report for FY2020 and the audited
consolidated statements of financial position of the Group for FY2020 and the related notes
thereto.

The financial information for FY2018, FY2019 and FY2020 should be read in conjunction with
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5.3.

5.4.

the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group and the accompanying notes as set
out in the annual reports of the Company for FY2018, FY2019 and FY2020.

Significant accounting policies

A summary of the significant accounting policies of the Group is set out in pages 58 to 81 of the
Annual Report FY2020. Copies of the above are available for inspection at the corporate office
of the Company at 1 Wallich Street, #15-02 Guoco Tower, Singapore 078881 during normal
business hours for the period during which the Offer remains open for acceptance.

Save as disclosed in this Circular and publicly available information on the Group (including but
not limited to that contained in the audited financial statements of the Group for FY2020), there
are no significant accounting policies or any points from the notes to the financial statements
which are of major relevance for the interpretation of the accounts.

Changes in accounting policies

As detailed in Note (B)(Vv) to the Significant Accounting Policies under the Annual Report FY2020,
the Group has applied the following IFRSs, amendments to and interpretations of IFRS for the
first time for the annual period beginning on 1 July 2019:

(&) IFRS 16 Leases

(b) INT IFRS 123 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

(c) Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 28)
(d) Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9)
(e) Previously Held Interest in a Joint Operation (Amendments to IFRS 3 and 11)

() Income Tax Consequences of Payments on Financial Instruments Classified as Equity
(Amendments to IAS 12)

(g) Borrowing Costs Eligible for Capitalisation (Amendments to IAS 23)
(h) Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19)

Other than IFRS 16, the application of these IFRSs, amendments to standards and
interpretations does not have a material effect on the financial statements.

The Group also applied the interest rate benchmark reform amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and
IFRS 7: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board retrospectively to hedging relationships that existed at 1 July 2019 or were designated
thereafter and that are directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform. These amendments
also apply to the gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income that existed at 1 July
2019.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as disclosed in this Circular and publicly available
information on the Group (including but not limited to that contained in the audited financial
statements of the Group for FY2020), the Group has applied the same accounting policies and
methods of computation as with those in the audited financial statements of the Group for FY2019
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7.1.

and as at the Latest Practicable Date, there are no changes in the accounting policies of the
Group which will cause the financial statements of the Group not to be comparable to a material
extent.

MATERIAL CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION

Save as disclosed in this Circular and publicly available information on the Company (including
without limitation, the announcements released by the Company on the SGXNET), there are no
known material changes in the financial position of the Company as at the Latest Practicable
Date since 30 June 2020, being the date to which the Company’s last published audited accounts
were made up.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS OF THE COMPANY, THE DIRECTORS AND THE IFA

Shareholdings and dealings

As at the Latest Practicable Date:

(& neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have any direct or deemed interests in any Offeror
Securities?;

(@ none of the Directors has any direct or deemed interests? in any Offeror Securities;

(b) each of the Company, its subsidiaries and the Directors have not dealt for value in any
Offeror Securities during the Reference Period;

(c) save as disclosed below and in this Circular, none of the Directors has any direct or
deemed interests in any Relevant Securities:

Name No. of Shares
Direct Interest Deemed Interest Total Interest
No. of %M No. of %® | No. of Shares %
Shares Shares

Kwek Leng Hai 300,000 0.02 - - 300,000 0.02

Teo Lai Wah
) 500,000 0.04 - - 500,000 0.04
Timothy
Notes:

(1) Calculated based on a total of 1,368,063,633 issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) as at the Latest
Practicable Date and rounded to the nearest two decimal places.

(d)  none of the Directors has dealt for value in any Relevant Securities during the Reference
Period;

(e) none of W Capital Markets, its related corporations or any of the funds whose investments
are managed by W Capital Markets or its related corporations on a discretionary basis,

1 As required by Rule 24.3 of the Code read with Sections 7 and 164 of the Companies Act.
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7.2.

7.3.

7.4.

own or control any Relevant Securities; and
() none of W Capital Markets, its related corporations or any of the funds whose investments
are managed by W Capital Markets or its related corporations on a discretionary basis,

has dealt for value in the Relevant Securities during the Reference Period.

Directors’ intentions in relation to the Offer

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the following Directors who have direct or deemed interests in
the Shares have informed the Company of their intentions in respect of the Offer as follows:

(&) Mr. Kwek Leng Hai has informed the Company that he intends to accept the Offer in respect
of his own Shares; and

(b)  Mr. Teo Lai Wah Timothy has informed the Company that he intends to accept the Offer,
unless he is able to sell his Shares at a price higher than the Offer Price on the open market,
after taking into account the brokerage and related costs in connection with open market
transactions.

Directors’ service contracts

As at the Latest Practicable Date, (i) there are no service contracts between any Director or
proposed director with the Company or any of its subsidiaries with more than 12 months to run,
which the employing company cannot, within the next 12 months, terminate without payment of
compensation; and (ii) there are no such service contracts entered into or amended between any
of the Directors or proposed director with the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the period
between the start of six (6) months preceding the Announcement Date and the Latest Practicable
Date.

Arrangements affecting directors

As at the Latest Practicable Date:

(&) there are no payments or other benefits which will be made or given to any Director or any
director of any corporation, which is by virtue of Section 6 of the Companies Act, deemed
to be related to the Company, as compensation for loss of office or otherwise in connection
with the Offer;

(b) there are no agreements or arrangements made between any Director and any other
person in connection with or conditional upon the outcome of the Offer; and

(c) save as disclosed in Section 7 (Disclosure of Interests of the Company and the Directors)
of this Appendix B, none of the Directors have a material personal interest, whether direct
or indirect, in any material contract entered into by the Offeror.

MATERIAL CHANGE IN INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in this Circular and save for the information relating to the Company and the
Offer that is publicly available, there has been no material change in the information previously
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10.

11.

published by or on behalf of the Company during the period commencing from the Offer
Announcement Date and ending on the Latest Practicable Date.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS WITH INTERESTED PERSONS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as disclosed in publicly available information on the
Company (including but not limited to the annual reports of the Company and other
announcements released by the Company), neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have
entered into any material contracts with persons who are Interested Persons (other than those
entered into in the ordinary course of business carried on by the Company) during the period
commencing three (3) years preceding the Announcement Date, and ending on the Latest
Practicable Date.

MATERIAL LITIGATION
As at the Latest Practicable Date:

(& neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is engaged in any material litigation or
arbitration proceedings, as plaintiff or defendant, which might materially and adversely
affect the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole; and

(b) the Directors are not aware of any litigation, claim, arbitration or other proceedings pending
or threatened against the Company or any of its subsidiaries or of any facts likely to give
rise to any proceedings which might materially and adversely affect the financial position
of the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole.

VALUATION REPORTS

The Company has commissioned Savills Advisory Services Limited and CBRE, Inc. to conduct
independent valuations of the Appraised Assets. The Valuation Reports from the Valuers are set
out in Appendix E to this Circular. With the exception of the Valuation Reports, the Valuers do
not accept any responsibility for any part of the Offeree Circular or any other information issued
by the Company or any other person in connection with the Offer. The Valuation Reports refer to
the position at the date it was originally issued and, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Valuers
have not taken and will not be taking any action to update the Valuation Reports.

Under Rule 26.3 of the Code, the Company is required, inter alia, to make an assessment of any
potential tax liability which would arise if the assets, which are the subject of a valuation given in
connection with an offer, were to be sold at the amount of the valuation. Based on the market
values ascribed to the Appraised Assets in the Valuation Reports, it is expected that the potential
tax liabilities which the Group may incur would approximate US$42.2 million, if the Appraised
Assets were to be sold at such market values.

The aforesaid tax liability will not crystallise if the Group does not dispose of its interests in the
Appraised Assets. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group does not have any plans for an
impending material disposal and/or conversion of the use of the Appraised Assets.
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12. COSTS AND EXPENSES

All expenses and costs incurred by the Company in relation to the Offer shall be borne by the
Company.



APPENDIX C — ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR

The following information on the Offeror has been extracted from Appendix 3 to the Offer Document:

“APPENDIX 3 — ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR

1. DIRECTORS

The name, address and description of each Director as at the Latest Practicable Date are as

follows:

Name Address Description

Ms Cynthia Cheng 50/F, The Center, 99 Director
Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong

Mr Wong Sau Kwong 50/F, The Center, 99 Director
Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong

2. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The Offeror is a special purpose vehicle incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 23 December
2020 and is a private exempted company limited by shares. Its principal activity is that of
investment holding. The Offeror has not carried on any business since its incorporation,
except for matters in connection with making the Offer.

3. SHARE CAPITAL

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Offeror has an issued and paid-up share capital of
US$1.00 comprising of one ordinary share held by GGL.

4. FINANCIAL SUMMARY

As the Offeror was incorporated on 23 December 2020, no audited financial statements of
the Offeror have been prepared to date.

5. MATERIAL CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save for the Offeror making and financing the Offer, there
have been no known material changes in the financial position of the Offeror since its
incorporation.

6. REGISTERED OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL OFFICE
The registered office of the Offeror is at P.O. Box 3119 Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802

West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KYI - 1205, Cayman Islands, and its principal office is at
50/F, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.




APPENDIX D = RELEVANT PROVISIONS OF THE BYE-LAWS

The provisions in the Bye-laws relating to rights of Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and
voting are reproduced below.

All capitalised terms used in the following extracts shall have the same meanings ascribed to them in
the Bye-laws, a copy of which is available for inspection at Company’s corporate office at 1 Wallich
Street, #15-02 Guoco Tower, Singapore 078881, during normal business hours until the Closing Date.

(A)

RIGHTS IN RESPECT OF CAPITAL

SHARE CAPITAL

3(A).

The Capital of the Company at the date on which these Bye-Laws come into effect shall be
divided into shares of a par value of US$0.20 each.

3(B).

The Company may purchase its own shares for cancellation or acquire them as Treasury
Shares in accordance with the Act on such terms as the Board shall think fit. Any power of
the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire its own shares shall be exercisable by the
Board in accordance with and subject to the Act, the Company’s memorandum of
continuance and, for so long as the shares of the Company are listed on the Designated
Stock Exchange, the prior approval of the Members in general meeting for such purchase
or acquisition. For so long as the shares of the Company are listed on the Designated Stock
Exchange, such approval of the Members shall remain in force until (i) the conclusion of the
annual general meeting of the Company following the passing of the resolution granting the
said authority or (ii) the date by which such annual general meeting is required to be held
or (iii) it is revoked or varied by Ordinary Resolution of the Company in general meeting,
whichever is the earliest, and may thereafter be renewed by the Members in general
meeting. For so long as the shares of the Company are listed on the Designated Stock
Exchange, the Company shall make an announcement to the Designated Stock Exchange
of any purchase or acquisition by the Company of its own shares on the Market Day
following the day of such purchase or acquisition.

ALTERATION OF CAPITAL

The Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution in any manner permitted by
law:

€) increase its Capital by such sum, to be divided into shares of such amounts, as the
resolution shall prescribe;

(b) consolidate and divide all or any of its Capital into shares of larger amount than its
existing shares;

(c) divide its shares into several classes and without prejudice to any special rights
previously conferred on the holders of existing shares attach thereto respectively
any preferential, deferred, qualified or special rights, privileges, conditions or such
restrictions which in the absence of any such determination by the Company in
general meeting, as the Directors may determine provided always that where the
Company issues shares which do not carry voting rights, the words “non-voting” shall
appear in the designation of such shares and where the equity capital includes
shares with different voting rights, the designation of each class of shares, other than
those with the most favourable voting rights, must include the words “restricted
voting” or “limited voting”;

(d) sub-divide its shares, or any of them, into shares of smaller amount than is fixed by
the memorandum of continuance (subject, nevertheless, to the Act), and may by
such resolution determine that, as between the holders of the shares resulting from
such sub-division, one (1) or more of the shares may have any such preferred rights
or be subject to any such restrictions as compared with the other or others as the
Company has power to attach to unissued or new shares;
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(e) change the currency denomination of its Capital;

) make provision for the issue and allotment of shares which do not carry any voting
rights; and

(9) cancel any shares which, at the date of the passing of the resolution, have not been
taken, or agreed to be taken, by any person, and diminish the amount of its Capital
by the amount of the shares so cancelled.

The Board may settle as it considers expedient any difficulty which arises in relation to any
consolidation and division under the last preceding Bye-Law and in particular but without
prejudice to the generality of the foregoing may issue certificates in respect of fractions of
shares or arrange for the sale of the shares representing fractions and the distribution of
the net proceeds of sale (after deduction of the expenses of such sale) in due proportion
amongst the Members who would have been entitled to the fractions, and for this purpose
the Board may authorise some person to transfer the shares representing fractions to their
purchaser or resolve that such net proceeds be paid to the Company for the Company’s
benefit. Such purchaser will not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money
nor will his title to the shares be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings
relating to the sale.

The Company may from time to time by Special Resolution, subject to any confirmation or
consent required by law, reduce its authorised or issued Capital or any share premium
account or other undistributable reserve in any manner permitted by law.

Except so far as otherwise provided by the conditions of issue, or by these Bye-Laws, any
capital raised by the creation of new shares shall be treated as if it formed part of the original
capital of the Company, and such shares shall be subject to the provisions contained in
these Bye-Laws with reference to the payment of calls and instalments, transfer and
transmission, forfeiture, lien, cancellation, surrender, voting and otherwise.

SHARE RIGHTS

8(A).

Subject to any special rights conferred on the holders of any shares or class of shares, any
share in the Company (whether forming part of the present Capital or not) may be issued
with or have attached thereto such rights or restrictions whether in regard to dividend,
voting, return of capital or otherwise as the Company may by Ordinary Resolution determine
or, if there has not been any such determination or so far as the same shall not make
specific provision, as the Board may determine.

8(B).

All the rights attaching to a Treasury Share shall be suspended and shall not be exercisable
by the Company while it holds such Treasury Share and, except where required by the Act,
all Treasury Shares shall be excluded from the calculation of any percentage or fraction of
the Capital or shares, of the Company.

9I(A).

In the event of preference shares being issued the total number of issued preference shares
shall not at any time exceed the total number of issued ordinary shares and preference
Shareholders shall have the same rights as ordinary Shareholders as regards receiving of
Notices, reports and balance sheets and attending general meetings of the Company, and
preference Shareholders shall also have the right to vote at any meeting convened for the
purpose of reducing the Capital or winding-up or sanctioning a sale of the undertaking or
where the proposition to be submitted to the meeting directly affects their rights and
privileges or when the dividend on the preference shares is more than six (6) Months in
arrears.

9(B).

Subject to the Act, any preference shares may be issued or converted into shares that, at
a determinable date or at the option of the Company or the holder if so authorised by its
memorandum of continuance, are liable to be redeemed on such terms and in such manner
as the Company before the issue or conversion may by Ordinary Resolution of the Members
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determine.

9(C).

The Company has power to issue further preference Capital ranking equally with, or in
priority to, preference shares already issued.

9(D).

The rights attaching to shares of a class other than ordinary shares shall be expressed in
these Bye-Laws.

VARIATION OF RIGHTS

10.

Whenever the Capital of the Company is divided into different classes of shares, subject to
the provisions of the Statutes, preference Capital other than redeemable preference Capital
may be repaid and the special rights attached to any class may be varied or abrogated
either with the consent in writing of the holders of three-quarters in nominal value of the
issued shares of the class or with the sanction of a Special Resolution passed at a separate
general meeting of the holders of the shares of the class (but not otherwise) and may be so
repaid, varied or abrogated either whilst the Company is a going concern or during or in
contemplation of a winding-up. To every such separate general meeting and all
adjournments thereof all the provisions of these Bye-Laws relating to general meetings of
the Company and to the proceedings thereat shall mutatis mutandis apply, except that the
necessary quorum (other than at an adjourned meeting) shall be two (2) persons at least
holding or representing by proxy (or in the case of a holder being a corporation, by its duly
authorised representative) one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of the class and
at any adjourned meeting of such holders, two (2) holders present in person (or, in the case
of a Member being a corporation, by its duly authorised representative) or by proxy
(whatever the number of shares held by them) shall be a quorum and that any holder of
shares of the class present in person (or in the case of a holder being a corporation, by its
duly authorised representative) or by proxy may demand a poll and that every such holder
shall on a poll have one (1) vote for every share of the class held by him, provided always
that where the necessary majority for such a Special Resolution is not obtained at such
general meeting, consent in writing if obtained from the holders of three-quarters in nominal
value of the issued shares of the class concerned within two (2) Months of such general
meeting shall be as valid and effectual as a Special Resolution carried at such general
meeting. The foregoing provisions of this Bye-Law shall apply to the variation or abrogation
of the special rights attached to some only of the shares of any class as if each group of
shares of the class differently treated formed a separate class the special rights whereof
are to be varied.

11.

The special rights conferred upon the holders of any shares or class of shares shall not,
unless otherwise expressly provided in the rights attaching to or the terms of issue of such
shares, be deemed to be varied, modified or abrogated by the creation or issue of further
shares ranking pari passu therewith.

SHARES

12(A).

Subject to the Act and to the rules or regulations of the Designated Stock Exchange (if
applicable), no shares may be issued by the Board without the prior approval of the
Company in general meeting but subject thereto and to these Bye-Laws and without
prejudice to any special rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any shares or
any class of shares, the unissued shares of the Company (whether forming part of the
original or any increased Capital) shall be at the disposal of the Board, which may offer,
allot, grant options over or otherwise dispose of them to such persons, at such times and
for such consideration and upon such terms and conditions as the Board may in its absolute
discretion determine but so that no shares shall be issued at a discount.

Neither the Company nor the Board shall be obliged, when making or granting any allotment
of, offer of, option over or disposal of shares, to make, or make available, any such
allotment, offer, option or shares to Members or others with registered addresses in any
particular territory or territories being a territory or territories where, in the absence of a
registration statement or other special formalities, this would or might, in the opinion of the
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Board, be unlawful or impracticable. Members affected as a result of the foregoing sentence
shall not be, or be deemed to be, a separate class of members for any purpose whatsoever.

12(B).

Subject to any direction to the contrary that may be given by the Company in general
meeting or except as permitted under the rules or regulations of the Designated Stock
Exchange, all new shares shall before issue be offered to such persons who as at the date
of the offer are entitled to receive Notices from the Company of general meetings in
proportion, as far as the circumstances admit, to the amount of the existing shares to which
they are entitled. The offer shall be made by Notice specifying the number of shares offered,
and limiting a time within which the offer, if not accepted, will be deemed to be declined.
After the expiration of that time, or on the receipt of an intimation from the person to whom
the offer is made that he declines to accept the shares offered, the Board may dispose of
those shares in such manner as it thinks most beneficial to the Company. The Board may
likewise so dispose of any new shares which (by reason of the ratio which the new shares
bear to shares held by persons entitled to an offer of new shares) cannot, in the opinion of
the Board, be conveniently offered under this Bye-Law 12(B).

12(C).

Notwithstanding Bye-Law 12(B) above but subject to the Statutes and the rules or
regulations of the Designated Stock Exchange (if applicable), the Company in general
meeting may by Ordinary Resolution grant to the Directors a general authority, either
unconditionally or subject to such conditions as may be specified in the said Ordinary
Resolution (including but not limited to the aggregate number of shares which may be
issued and the duration of the general authority), to issue shares in the Capital of the
Company whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or make or grant offers,
agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require shares to be
issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to)
warrants, Debentures or other instruments convertible into shares; provided that unless
otherwise specified in the Ordinary Resolution or required by any applicable rules or
regulations of the Designated Stock Exchange, such general authority will continue
(notwithstanding the authority conferred by the said Ordinary Resolution may have ceased
to be in force) in relation to the issue of shares pursuant to any Instrument made or granted
by the Directors while the said Ordinary Resolution was in force.

12(D).

The Board may issue warrants conferring the right upon the holders thereof to subscribe
for any class of shares or securities in the Capital of the Company on such terms as it may
from time to time determine, provided that such issue must be specifically approved by the
Company in general meeting if required by the rules or regulations of the Designated Stock
Exchange.

12(E).

Subject to the rules or regulations of the Desighated Stock Exchange (if applicable), the
Company may issue its shares in fractional denominations and deal with such fractions to
the same extent as its whole shares and shares in fractional denominations shall have in
proportion to the respective fractions represented thereby all of the rights of whole shares
including (but without limiting the generality of the foregoing) the right to vote, to receive
dividends and distributions and to participate in a winding-up.

13.

The Company may in connection with the issue of any shares exercise all powers of paying
commission and brokerage conferred or permitted by the Act. Subject to the Act, the
commission may be satisfied by the payment of cash or by the allotment of fully or partly
paid shares or partly in one and partly in the other.

14.

Except as required by law, no person shall be recognised by the Company as holding any
share upon any trust and the Company shall not be bound by or required in any way to
recognise (even when having notice thereof) any equitable, contingent, future or partial
interest in any share or any fractional part of a share or (except only as otherwise provided
by these Bye-Laws or by law) any other rights in respect of any share except an absolute
right to the entirety thereof in the registered holder.

15(A).

Subject to the terms and conditions of any application for shares, the Board shall allot
shares applied for within ten (10) Market Days of the closing date of any such application
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(or such other period as may be approved by the Designated Stock Exchange).

15(B).

Subject to the Act and these Bye-Laws, the Board may at any time after the allotment of
shares but before any person has been entered in the Register as the holder, recognise a
renunciation thereof by the allottee in favour of some other person and may accord to any
allottee of a share a right to effect such renunciation upon and subject to such terms and
conditions as the Board considers fit to impose.

TRANSFER OF SHARES

46.

Subject to these Bye-Laws, any Member may transfer all or any of his shares by an
instrument of transfer in the form acceptable to the Board provided always that the
Company shall accept for registration an instrument of transfer in a form approved by the
Designated Stock Exchange.

47.

The instrument of transfer of any share shall be signed by or on behalf of both the transferor
and the transferee and be witnessed, provided always that an instrument of transfer in
respect of which the transferee is the Depository shall be effective although not signed or
witnessed by or on behalf of the Depository and provided further that when a corporation
executes an instrument of transfer under seal, the affixation and attestation of the
corporation’s seal may be accepted as compliance with the requirements of this Bye-Law.
The Board may also resolve, either generally or in any particular case, upon request by
either the transferor or transferee, to accept mechanically executed transfers. The
transferor shall be deemed to remain the holder of the share until the name of the transferee
is entered in the Register in respect thereof. Nothing in these Bye-Laws shall preclude the
Board from recognising a renunciation of the allotment or provisional allotment of any share
by the allottee in favour of some other person.

48(A).

The Board may, in its absolute discretion and without giving any reason therefor, refuse to
register a transfer of any share (not being a fully Paid Up share) to a person of whom it
does not approve, or any share issued under any share incentive scheme for employees
upon which a restriction on transfer imposed thereby still subsists, and it may also, without
prejudice to the foregoing generality, refuse to register a transfer of any share (not being a
fully Paid Up share) on which the Company has a lien or, except in the case of a transfer to
executors, administrators or trustees of the estate of a deceased Member, a transfer of any
share to more than three (3) joint holders.

48(B).

No transfer shall be made to an infant or to a person of unsound mind or under other legal
disability.

48(C).

The Board in so far as permitted by any applicable law may, in its absolute discretion, at
any time and from time to time transfer any share upon the Register to any branch Register
or any share on any branch Register to the Register or any other branch Register. In the
event of any such transfer, the Shareholder requesting such transfer shall bear the cost of
effecting the transfer unless the Board otherwise determines.

48(D).

Unless the Board otherwise agrees (which agreement may be on such terms and subject
to such conditions as the Board in its absolute discretion may from time to time determine,
and which agreement the Board shall, without giving any reason therefor, be entitled in its
absolute discretion to give or withhold), no shares upon the Register shall be transferred to
any branch Register nor shall shares on any branch Register be transferred to the Register
or any other branch Register and all transfers and other documents of title shall be lodged
for registration, and registered, in the case of any shares on a branch Register, at the
relevant Registration Office, and, in the case of any shares on the Register, at the Office or
such other place in Bermuda at which the Register is kept in accordance with the Act.

48(E).

Save as provided in the Bye-Laws, there shall be no restriction on the transfer of fully Paid
Up shares (except where required by law or the rules or regulations of the Designated Stock
Exchange).
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48(F).

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Bye-Laws, for so long as the shares of
the Company are listed or admitted for trading on the Designated Stock Exchange, shares
may be transferred in accordance with the rules and regulations of such Designated Stock
Exchange.

49.

Without limiting the generality of the last preceding Bye-Law, the Board may decline to
recognise any instrument of transfer unless:

(a) a fee of such sum (not exceeding two Singapore dollars (S$2.00) or such other
maximum sum as the Designated Stock Exchange may determine to be payable) as
the Board may from time to time require is paid to the Company in respect thereof;

(b) the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one (1) class of share;

(© the instrument of transfer is lodged at the Office or such other place in Bermuda at
which the Register is kept in accordance with the Act or the Registration Office (as
the case may be) accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) and such other
evidence as the Board may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to
make the transfer (and, if the instrument of transfer is executed by some other
person on his behalf, the authority of that person so to do); and

(d) if applicable, the instrument of transfer is duly and properly stamped.

50.

If the Board refuses to register a transfer of any share, it shall, within one (1) Month after
the date on which the transfer was lodged with the Company, send to each of the transferor
and transferee Notice of the refusal.

51.

The registration of transfers of shares or of any class of shares may, after Notice has been
given by advertisement in an appointed newspaper and, where applicable, any other
newspaper in accordance with the requirements of the Designated Stock Exchange or by
any other means in such manner as may be accepted by the Designated Stock Exchange
be suspended at such times and for such periods (not exceeding in the whole thirty (30)
days in any Year) as the Board may determine.

TRANSMISSION OF SHARES

52.

In the case of the death of a Member, the survivor or survivors where the deceased Member
was a joint holder, and the legal personal representatives of the deceased Member where
the deceased Member was a sole holder, shall be the only persons recognised by the
Company as having any title to the deceased Member’s interest in the shares. Nothing
herein shall release the estate of a deceased joint holder from any liability in respect of any
share which had been jointly held by such deceased Member with other persons. Subject
to the provisions of the Act, for the purpose of this Bye-Law, legal personal representative
means the executor or administrator of a deceased Member or such other person as the
Board may, in its absolute discretion, decide as being properly authorised to deal with the
shares of a deceased Member. Where two (2) or more persons are registered as joint
holders of a share or shares, then in the event of the death of any joint holder or holders
the remaining joint holder or holders shall be absolutely entitled to the said share or shares
and the Company shall recognise no claim in respect of the estate of any joint holder except
in the case of the last survivor of such joint holders.

53.

Subject to the Act, any person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death or
bankruptcy or winding-up of a Member may, upon such evidence as to his title being
produced as may be required by the Board, elect either to become the holder of the share
or to have some person nominated by him registered as the transferee thereof. If he elects
to become the holder he shall notify the Company in writing either at the Registration Office
or Office, as the case may be, to that effect. If he elects to have another person registered
he shall execute a transfer of the share in favour of that person. The provisions of these
Bye-Laws relating to the transfer and registration of transfers of shares shall apply to such
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Notice or transfer as aforesaid as if the death or bankruptcy of the Member had not occurred
and the Notice or transfer were a transfer signed by such Member.

54.

A person becoming entitled to a share by reason of the death or bankruptcy or winding-up
of a Member shall be entitled to the same dividends and other advantages to which he
would be entitled if he were the registered holder of the share. However, the Board may, if
it thinks fit, withhold the payment of any dividend payable or other advantages in respect of
such share until such person shall become the registered holder of the share or shall have
effectually transferred such share, but, subject to the requirements of Bye-Law 74(B) being
met, such a person may vote at meetings.

(B)

RIGHTS IN RESPECT OF DIVIDENDS

DIVIDENDS AND OTHER PAYMENTS

135.

The Board may, subject to these Bye-Laws and in accordance with the Act, declare a
dividend in any currency to be paid to the Members and such dividend may be paid in cash
or wholly or partly in specie in which case the Board may fix the value for distribution in
specie of any assets. The Board may declare and make such other distributions (in cash
or in specie) to the Members as may be lawfully made out of the assets of the Company.
The Company in general meeting may also, subject to these Bye-Laws and in accordance
with the Act, declare a dividend or such other distribution to be paid to the Members but
no dividend or distribution shall be declared by the Company in general meeting in excess
of the amount recommended by the Board.

136.

Without prejudice to the generality of the above Bye-Law 135 if at any time the Capital is
divided into different classes, the Board may pay such dividends in respect of those shares
in the Capital of the Company which confer on the holders thereof deferred or non
preferential rights as well as in respect of those shares which confer on the holders thereof
preferential rights with regard to dividend and provided that the Board acts bona fide the
Board shall not incur any responsibility to the holders of shares conferring any preference
for any damage that they may suffer by reason of the payment of any dividend on any
shares having deferred or non preferential rights and may also pay periodically any fixed
dividend which is payable on any shares of the Company.

137.

No dividend shall be paid or distribution made if to do so would render the Company unable
to pay its liabilities as they become due or the realisable value of its assets would thereby
become less than its liabilities.

138.

Except in so far as the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any share otherwise
provide:

(a) all dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts Paid Up on the
shares in respect of which the dividend is paid, but no amount Paid Up on a share
in advance of calls shall be treated for the purposes of this Bye-Law as Paid Up on
the share; and

(b) all dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts Paid
Up on the shares during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the
dividend is paid.

139.

The Board may deduct from any dividend or other moneys payable to a Member by the
Company on or in respect of any shares all sums of money (if any) presently payable by
him to the Company on account of calls or otherwise.

140.

No unpaid dividend or distribution or other moneys payable by the Company shall bear
interest as against the Company.

141.

Any dividend, interest or other sum payable in cash to the holder of shares may be paid by
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cheque or warrant sent through the post addressed to the holder at his registered address
or, in the case of joint holders, addressed to the holder whose name stands first in the
Register in respect of the shares at his address as appearing in the Register or addressed
to such person and at such address as the holder or joint holders may in writing direct.
Every such cheque or warrant shall, unless the holder or joint holders otherwise direct, be
made payable to the order of the holder or, in the case of joint holders, to the order of the
holder whose name stands first on the Register in respect of such shares, and shall be
sent at his or their risk and payment of the cheque or warrant by the bank on which it is
drawn shall constitute a good discharge to the Company notwithstanding that it may
subsequently appear that the same has been stolen or that any endorsement thereon has
been forged. Any one of two (2) or more joint holders may give effectual receipts for any
dividends or other moneys payable or property distributable in respect of the shares held
by such joint holders.

142.

All dividends or bonuses unclaimed for one (1) Year after having been declared may be
invested or otherwise made use of by the Board for the benefit of the Company until
claimed. Any dividend or bonuses unclaimed after a period of six (6) Years from the date
of declaration shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company. The payment by the Board
of any unclaimed dividend or other sums payable on or in respect of a share into a separate
account shall not constitute the Company a trustee in respect thereof.

143.

Whenever the Board or the Company in general meeting has resolved that a dividend be
paid or declared, the Board may further resolve that such dividend be satisfied wholly or in
part by the distribution of specific assets of any kind and in particular of Paid Up shares,
Debentures or warrants to subscribe securities of the Company or any other company, or
in any one or more of such ways, and where any difficulty arises in regard to the distribution
the Board may settle the same as it thinks expedient, and in particular may issue
certificates in respect of fractions of shares, disregard fractional entitlements or round the
same up or down, and may fix the value for distribution of such specific assets, or any part
thereof, and may determine that cash payments shall be made to any Members upon the
footing of the value so fixed in order to adjust the rights of all parties, and may vest any
such specific assets in trustees as may seem expedient to the Board and may appoint any
person to sign any requisite instruments of transfer and other documents on behalf of the
persons entitled to the dividend, and such appointment shall be effective and binding on
the Members. The Board may resolve that no such assets shall be made available to
Members with registered addresses in any particular territory or territories where, in the
absence of a registration statement or other special formalities, such distribution of assets
would or might, in the opinion of the Board, be unlawful or impracticable and in such event
the only entitlement of the Members aforesaid shall be to receive cash payments as
aforesaid. Members affected as a result of the foregoing sentence shall not be or be
deemed to be a separate class of Members for any purpose whatsoever.

144(A).

For so long as the shares of the Company are listed on the Designated Stock Exchange,
any scheme which enables the Members to elect to receive securities in lieu of the cash
amount of any dividend must be approved by the Members in general meeting in
accordance with applicable rules or regulations of the Designated Stock Exchange.

144(B).

Subject to the rules or regulations of the Designated Stock Exchange, the Board shall have
full power to make such provisions as it thinks fit for the implementation of a scheme
approved pursuant to the provisions of paragraph (A) of this Bye-Law, and the Board may
do all acts and things considered necessary or expedient to give effect to such a scheme.

144(C).

Any resolution declaring a dividend on shares of any class, whether a resolution of the
Company in general meeting or a resolution of the Board, may specify that the same shall
be payable or distributable to the persons registered as the holders of such shares at the
close of business on a particular date, notwithstanding that it may be a date prior to that
on which the resolution is passed, and thereupon the dividend shall be payable or
distributable to them in accordance with their respective holdings so registered, but without
prejudice to the rights inter se in respect of such dividend of transferors and transferees of
any such shares. The provisions of this Bye-Law shall mutatis mutandis apply to bonuses,
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capitalisation issues, distributions of realised capital profits or offers or grants made by the
Company to the Members.

RESERVES

145.

Before recommending any dividend, the Board may set aside out of the profits of the
Company such sums as it determines as reserves which shall, at the discretion of the
Board, be applicable for any purpose to which the profits of the Company may be properly
applied and pending such application may, also at such discretion, either be employed in
the business of the Company or be invested in such investments as the Board may from
time to time think fit and so that it shall not be necessary to keep any investments
constituting the reserve or reserves separate or distinct from any other investments of the
Company. The Board may also without placing the same to reserve carry forward any
profits which it may think prudent not to distribute.

CAPITALISATION

146.

The Company may, upon the recommendation of the Board, at any time and from time to
time pass an Ordinary Resolution to the effect that it is desirable to capitalise all or any
part of any amount for the time being standing to the credit of any reserve or fund (including
the profit and loss account) whether or not the same is available for distribution and
accordingly that such amount be set free for distribution among the Members or any class
of Members who would be entitled thereto if it were distributed by way of dividend and in
the same proportions, on the footing that the same is not paid in cash but is applied either
in or towards paying up the amounts for the time being unpaid on any shares in the
Company held by such Members respectively or in paying up in full unissued shares,
Debentures or other obligations of the Company, to be allotted and distributed credited as
fully Paid Up among such Members, or partly in one way and partly in the other, and the
Board shall give effect to such resolution provided that, for the purposes of this Bye-Law,
a share premium account and any reserve or fund representing unrealised profits, may be
applied only in paying up in full unissued shares of the Company to be issued to such
Members credited as fully paid. In carrying sums to reserve and in applying the same the
Board shall comply with the provisions of the Act.

147.

The Board may settle, as it considers appropriate, any difficulty arising in regard to any
distribution under the last preceding Bye-Law and in particular may issue certificates in
respect of fractions of shares or authorise any person to sell and transfer any fractions or
may resolve that the distribution should be as nearly as may be practicable in the correct
proportion but not exactly so or may ignore fractions altogether, and may determine that
cash payments shall be made to any Members in order to adjust the rights of all parties,
as may seem expedient to the Board. The Board may appoint any person to sign on behalf
of the persons entitled to participate in the distribution any contract necessary or desirable
for giving effect thereto and such appointment shall be effective and binding upon the
Members.

LIEN

22.

The Company shall have a first and paramount lien on all the shares not fully Paid Up
registered in the name of a Member (whether solely or jointly with others). Such lien shall
be restricted to unpaid calls and instalments upon the specific shares in respect of which
such moneys are due and unpaid, and to such amounts as the Company may be called
upon by law to pay in respect of the shares of the Member or deceased Member. The
Company’s lien on a share shall extend to all dividends or other moneys payable thereon
or in respect thereof. The Board may at any time, generally or in any particular case, waive
any lien that has arisen or declare any share exempt in whole or in part, from the provisions
of this Bye-Law.

23.

Subject to these Bye-Laws, the Company may sell in such manner as the Board
determines any share on which the Company has a lien, but no sale shall be made unless
some sum in respect of which the lien exists is presently payable, or the liability or
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engagement in respect of which such lien exists is liable to be presently fulfilled or
discharged nor until the expiration of fourteen (14) Clear Days after Notice, stating and
demanding payment of the sum presently payable, or specifying the liability or engagement
and demanding fulfilment or discharge thereof and giving Notice of the intention to sell in
default, has been served on the registered holder for the time being of the share or the
person entitled thereto by reason of his death or bankruptcy.

24.

The net proceeds of the sale shall be received by the Company and applied in or towards
payment or discharge of the debt or liability in respect of which the lien exists, so far as the
same is presently payable, and any residue shall be paid to the person entitled to the share
at the time of the sale or to his executors, administrators or assignees or as he may direct.
To give effect to any such sale the Board may authorise some person to transfer the shares
sold to the purchaser thereof. The purchaser shall be registered as the holder of the shares
so transferred and he shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money,
nor shall his title to the shares be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings
relating to the sale.

CALLS ON SHARES

25.

Subject to these Bye-Laws and to the terms of allotment, the Board may from time to time
make calls upon the Members in respect of any moneys unpaid on their shares (whether
on account of the nominal value of the shares or by way of premium), and each Member
shall (subject to being given at least fourteen (14) Clear Days’ Notice specifying the time
and place of payment) pay to the Company as required by such Notice the amount called
on his shares. A call may be extended, postponed or revoked in whole or in part as the
Board determines but no Member shall be entitled to any such extension, postponement
or revocation except as a matter of grace and favour.

26.

A call shall be deemed to have been made at the time when the resolution of the Board
authorising the call was passed and may be made payable either in one lump sum or by
instalments.

27.

A person upon whom a call is made shall remain liable for calls made upon him
notwithstanding the subsequent transfer of the shares in respect of which the call was
made. The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls and
instalments due in respect thereof or other moneys due in respect thereof.

28.

If a sum called in respect of a share is not paid before or on the day appointed for payment
thereof, the person from whom the sum is due shall pay interest on the amount unpaid
from the day appointed for payment thereof to the time of actual payment at such rate (not
exceeding twenty per cent. (20%) per annum) as the Board may determine, but the Board
may in its absolute discretion waive payment of such interest wholly or in part.

29.

No Member shall be entitled to receive any dividend or bonus or to be present and vote
(save as proxy for another Member) at any general meeting either personally or by proxy,
or be reckoned in a quorum, or exercise any other privilege as a Member until all calls or
instalments due by him to the Company, whether alone or jointly with any other person,
together with interest and expenses (if any) shall have been paid.

30.

On the trial or hearing of any action or other proceedings for the recovery of any money
due for any call, it shall be sufficient to prove that the name of the Member sued is entered
in the Register as the holder, or one (1) of the holders, of the shares in respect of which
such debt accrued, that the resolution making the call is duly recorded in the minute book,
and that Notice of such call was duly given to the Member sued, in pursuance of these
Bye-Laws; and it shall not be necessary to prove the appointment of the Directors who
made such call, nor any other matters whatsoever, but the proof of the matters aforesaid
shall be conclusive evidence of the debt.

31.

Any amount payable in respect of a share upon allotment or at any fixed date, whether in
respect of nominal value or premium or as an instalment of a call, shall be deemed to be
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a call duly made and payable on the date fixed for payment and if it is not paid the
provisions of these Bye-Laws shall apply as if that amount had become due and payable
by virtue of a call duly made and notified.

32.

On the issue of shares the Board may differentiate between the allottees or holders as to
the amount of calls to be paid and the times of payment.

33.

The Board may, if it thinks fit, receive from any Member willing to advance the same, and
either in money or money’s worth, all or any part of the moneys uncalled and unpaid or
instalments payable upon any shares held by him and upon all or any of the moneys so
advanced (until the same would, but for such advance, become presently payable) pay
interest on the moneys so advanced at such rate (if any) as the Board may decide. The
Board may at any time repay the amount so advanced upon giving to such Member not
less than one (1) Month’s Notice of its intention in that behalf, unless before the expiration
of such Notice the amount so advanced shall have been called up on the shares in respect
of which it was advanced. Such payment in advance shall not entitle the holder of such
share or shares to participate in respect thereof in a dividend subsequently declared.
Although interest may be paid on capital paid on shares in advance of calls, such capital
shall not confer a right to participate in profits.

FORFEITURE OF SHARES

34(A).

If a call remains unpaid after it has become due and payable the Board may give to the
person from whom it is due not less than fourteen (14) Clear Days’ Notice:

(a) requiring payment of the amount unpaid together with any interest which may have
accrued and which may still accrue up to the date of actual payment; and

(b) stating that if the Notice is not complied with the shares on which the call was made
will be liable to be forfeited.

34(B).

If the requirements of any such Notice are not complied with, any share in respect of which
such Notice has been given may at any time thereafter, before payment of all calls and
interest due in respect thereof has been made, be forfeited by a resolution of the Board to
that effect, and such forfeiture shall include all dividends and bonuses declared in respect
of the forfeited share but not actually paid before the forfeiture.

35.

When any share has been forfeited, Notice of the forfeiture shall be served upon the person
who was before forfeiture the holder of the share. No forfeiture shall be invalidated by any
omission or neglect to give such Notice.

36.

The Board may accept the surrender of any share liable to be forfeited hereunder and, in
such case, references in these Bye-Laws to forfeiture will include surrender.

37.

Until cancelled in accordance with the requirements of the Act, a forfeited share shall be
the property of the Company and may be sold, re-allotted or otherwise disposed of to such
person, upon such terms and in such manner as the Board determines, and at any time
before a sale, re-allotment or disposition the forfeiture may be annulled by the Board on
such terms as the Board determines. If any shares are forfeited and sold, any residue after
the satisfaction of the unpaid calls and any accrued interests and expenses shall be paid
to the person whose shares have been forfeited, or his executors, administrators or
assignees or as he directs.

38.

A person whose shares have been forfeited shall cease to be a Member in respect of the
forfeited shares but nevertheless shall remain liable to pay the Company all moneys which
at the date of forfeiture were presently payable by him to the Company in respect of the
shares, with (if the Directors shall in their discretion so require) interest thereon from the
date of forfeiture until payment at such rate (not exceeding twenty per cent. (20%) per
annum) as the Board determines. The Board may enforce payment thereof if it thinks fit,
and without any deduction or allowance for the value of the forfeited shares, at the date of
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forfeiture, but his liability shall cease if and when the Company shall have received
payment in full of all such moneys in respect of the shares. For the purposes of this Bye-
Law any sum which, by the terms of issue of a share, is payable thereon at a fixed time
which is subsequent to the date of forfeiture, whether on account of the nominal value of
the share or by way of premium, shall notwithstanding that time has not yet arrived be
deemed to be payable at the date of forfeiture, and the same shall become due and
payable immediately upon the forfeiture, but interest thereon shall only be payable in
respect of any period between the said fixed time and the date of actual payment.

39.

A declaration by a Director or the Secretary that a share has been forfeited on a specified
date shall be conclusive evidence of the facts therein stated as against all persons claiming
to be entitled to the share, and such declaration shall (subject to the execution of an
instrument of transfer by the Company if necessary) constitute a good title to the share,
and the person to whom the share is disposed of shall be registered as the holder of the
share and shall not be bound to see to the application of the consideration (if any), nor
shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity in or invalidity of the proceedings
in reference to the forfeiture, sale or disposal of the share. When any share shall have
been forfeited, Notice of the declaration shall be given to the Member in whose name it
stood immediately prior to the forfeiture, and an entry of the forfeiture, with the date thereof,
shall forthwith be made in the Register, but no forfeiture shall be in any manner invalidated
by any omission or neglect to give such Notice or make any such entry.

40.

Notwithstanding any such forfeiture as aforesaid the Board may at any time, before any
shares so forfeited shall have been sold, re-allotted or otherwise disposed of, permit the
shares forfeited to be bought back upon the terms of payment of all calls and interest due
upon and expenses incurred in respect of the share, and upon such further terms (if any)
as it thinks fit.

41.

The forfeiture of a share shall not prejudice the right of the Company to any call already
made or instalment payable thereon.

42.

The provisions of these Bye-Laws as to forfeiture shall apply in the case of non-payment
of any sum which, by the terms of issue of a share, becomes payable at a fixed time,
whether on account of the nominal value of the share or by way of premium, as if the same
had been payable by virtue of a call duly made and notified.

(©)

RIGHTS IN RESPECT OF VOTING

GENERAL MEETINGS

55.

For so long as the shares of the Company are listed on the Designated Stock Exchange,
an annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each Year (other than the
Year in which its statutory meeting is convened) within a period of not more than fifteen
(15) Months after the last preceding annual general meeting unless a longer period would
not infringe the rules or regulations of the Designated Stock Exchange (if any). An annual
general meeting shall be held at such time and place as may be determined by the Board
in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Designated Stock Exchange on which
the shares of the Company are listed (if applicable). In addition, the interval between the
close of the Company’s financial year and the date of the annual general meeting at which
the financial statements of the Company for such financial year are to be tabled shall not
exceed four (4) Months or such other period as may be prescribed or permitted by the
Designated Stock Exchange. Where the shares of the Company are no longer listed on
the Designated Stock Exchange, the Company need not hold any general meeting if the
holding of annual general meetings is dispensed with in accordance with the Act.

56.

Each general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called a special
general meeting. Subject to the rules and regulations of the Designated Stock Exchange
(if applicable), general meetings may be held in any part of the world or as an electronic
meeting, as may be determined by the Board.
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57.

The Board may whenever it thinks fit call special general meetings, and, subject to the
Act, Members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the Paid Up Capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Secretary of the Company, to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two (2) Months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
(21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS

58(A).

At least fourteen (14) Clear Days’ Notice of a general meeting shall be given to each
Member entitled to attend and vote thereat. A general meeting at which the passing of a
Special Resolution is to be considered shall be called by not less than twenty-one (21)
Clear Days’ Notice. Subject to the rules and regulations of the Designated Stock
Exchange (if applicable), a general meeting, whether or not a Special Resolution will be
considered at such meeting, may be called by shorter Notice if it is so agreed:

€) in the case of a meeting called as an annual general meeting, by all the Members
entitled to attend and vote thereat; and

(b) in the case of any other meeting, by a majority in number of the Members having
the right to attend and vote at the meeting, being a majority together holding not
less than ninety-five per cent. (95%) in nominal value of the issued shares giving
that right.

58(B).

For so long as the shares of the Company are listed on the Designated Stock Exchange,
at least fourteen (14) days’ Notice of any general meeting shall be given by advertisement
in an English daily newspaper in circulation in Singapore and in writing to the Designated
Stock Exchange.

58(C).

The Notice shall specify (a) the time and date of the meeting, (b) save for an electronic
meeting, the place of the meeting, and (c) particulars of resolutions to be considered at
the meeting and, in case of special business, the general nature of the business, and if
the general meeting is to be an electronic meeting, the Notice shall include a statement
to that effect and details of the electronic facilities for attendance and participation by
Members at the meeting or where such details will be made available by the Company
prior to the meeting. Any Notice of a general meeting to consider special business shall
be accompanied by a statement regarding the effect of any proposed resolution on the
Company in respect of such special business. The Notice convening an annual general
meeting shall specify the meeting as such. Notice of every general meeting shall be given
to all Members other than to such Members as, under the provisions of these Bye-Laws
or the terms of issue of the shares they hold, are not entitled to receive such Notices from
the Company, to all persons entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy
or winding-up of a Member and to each of the Directors and the Auditors.

58(D).

The Secretary may postpone any general meeting called in accordance with the
provisions of these Bye-Laws (other than a meeting requisitioned under these Bye-Laws)
provided that Notice of postponement is given to each Member before the time for such
meeting. Fresh Notice of the date, time and place for the postponed meeting shall be
given to each Member in accordance with the provisions of these Bye-Laws.

59.

The accidental omission to give Notice of a meeting or (in cases where instruments of
proxy are sent out with the Notice) to send such instrument of proxy to, or the non-receipt
of such Notice or such instrument of proxy by, any person entitled to receive such Notice
shall not invalidate any resolution passed or the proceedings at that meeting.
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PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

60(A)(1).

For so long as the shares of the Company are listed on the Designated Stock Exchange,
subject to the rules and regulations of the Designated Stock Exchange (if applicable),
general meetings (including annual general meetings, adjourned meetings and
postponed meetings), or meetings of any class of shareholders, may be held by means
of electronic facilities, and any Member entitled to attend and vote thereat and attending
and participating at such a meeting by such electronic facilities shall be deemed to be
present in person at, be counted in the quorum for and be entitled to vote at that meeting,
and that meeting shall be duly constituted and its proceedings valid provided that the
chairman of the meeting is satisfied that adequate electronic facilities are available
throughout the meeting to ensure that Members participating in an electronic meeting by
means of electronic facilities are able to participate in the business for which the meeting
has been convened.

60(A)(2).

General meetings (including annual general meetings, adjourned meetings and
postponed meetings), or meetings of any class of shareholders, may also be held and
conducted by means of a physical meeting and any Member entitled to attend and vote
thereat may participate in such meetings by means of electronic facilities if such facilities
are available and shall be deemed to be present in person at, and be counted in the
qguorum for, and be entitled to vote at that meeting. In the event that a Member entitled to
attend and vote thereat participates in a physical meeting by means of electronic facilities,
the chairman of the meeting shall direct the manner in which (a) such Member may cast
his vote on a show of hands; (b) such Member may cast his vote on a poll; and (c) votes
shall be counted on a poll.

60(A)(3).

All electronic meetings are subject to the following:

€) The inability of one or more Members to access, or continue to access, the
electronic facilities despite adequate electronic facilities having been made
available by the Company shall not affect the validity of the meeting or the
resolutions passed or any business conducted there or any action taken pursuant
to such business provided that there is a quorum present throughout the meeting;

(b) The time for lodging proxies shall be as stated in the Notice of the meeting;

(© The Board or the chairman of a general meeting may from time to time make
arrangements for participation in an electronic meeting and/or to ensure the
security and orderly conduct of a meeting (including, without limitation, the issue
of tickets or some other means of identification, the use of a passcode(s), seat
reservation, the requirements for evidence of identity to be produced by those
attending the meeting, the searching of such persons’ personal property and the
restriction of items that may be taken into the meeting place, determining the
number and frequency of and the time allowed for questions that may be raised at
a meeting and electronic voting) as the Board or the chairman of the meeting, as
the case may be, shall in its or his absolute discretion consider appropriate, and
may from time to time change any such arrangements;

(d) Members shall comply with all requirements or restrictions imposed by the owner
of the premises at which the meeting is held; and

(e) Any decision made under this Bye-Law shall be final and conclusive and a person
who refuses to comply with any such arrangements, requirements or restrictions
may be refused entry to the meeting or ejected (physically or electronically) from
the meeting.

60(B).

All business shall be deemed special that is transacted at a special general meeting, and
also all business that is transacted at an annual general meeting, with the exception of
declaring a dividend, the reading, considering and adopting of the accounts and balance
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sheet and the reports of the Directors and Auditors and other documents required to be
annexed to the balance sheet, the election of Directors and appointment of Auditors and
other officers in the place of those retiring, the fixing of the remuneration of the Auditors,
and the voting of remuneration or extra remuneration to the Directors.

60(C).

No business, other than the appointment of a chairman of a meeting, shall be transacted
at any general meeting unless a quorum of Members is present at the time when the
meeting proceeds to business. Except as herein otherwise provided, two (2) Members
present in person (or, in the case of a Member being a corporation, by its duly authorised
representative) or by proxy shall form a quorum, provided that if the Company shall at
any time have only one (1) Member, one (1) Member present in person or by proxy or,
being a corporation by its duly authorised representative, shall form a quorum for the
transaction of business at any general meeting of the Company held during such time.
For the purposes of this Bye-Law, Member includes a person attending as a proxy of the
Depository (where the Depository is a Member) or, where applicable, as a duly authorised
representative of the Depository (where the Depository is a Member).

61.

If within thirty (30) minutes (or such longer time not exceeding one (1) hour as the
chairman of the meeting may determine to wait) after the time appointed for the meeting
a quorum is not present, the meeting, if convened on the requisition of Members, shall be
dissolved. In any other case it shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next week at
the same time and (where applicable) place or to such time and (where applicable) place
as the Board may determine, subject to the rules and regulations of the Designated Stock
Exchange (if applicable). If at such adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half
an hour from the time appointed for holding the meeting, the meeting shall be dissolved.

62.

The chairman (if there be one) of the Board, and if not the president (if there be one) of
the Company, shall preside as chairman at every general meeting. If at any meeting the
chairman or the president, as the case may be, is not present within fifteen (15) minutes
after the time appointed for holding the meeting, or if neither of them is willing to act as
chairman, the Directors present shall choose one of their number to act, or if one (1)
Director only is present he shall preside as chairman if willing to act. If no Director is
present, or if each of the Directors present declines to take the chair, or if the chairman
chosen shall retire from the chair, the Members present in person or by proxy and entitled
to vote shall elect one of their number to be chairman.

63.

Subject to Bye-Law 63A, the chairman may, with the consent of any meeting at which a
quorum is present (and shall if so directed by the meeting), adjourn the meeting from time
to time and from place to place or electronically as the meeting shall determine, subject
to the rules and regulations of the Designated Stock Exchange (if applicable), but no
business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other than the business which
might lawfully have been transacted at the meeting had the adjournment not taken place.
When a meeting is adjourned for fourteen (14) days or more, at least seven (7) Clear
Days’ Notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given specifying the time and place of the
adjourned meeting but it shall not be necessary to specify in such Notice the nature of
the business to be transacted at the adjourned meeting and the general nature of the
business to be transacted. Save as aforesaid, it shall be unnecessary to give Notice of
an adjournment.

63A.

If it appears to the chairman of a general meeting that:

(a) in the case of an electronic meeting, electronic facilities being made available by
the Company have become inadequate; or

(b) the electronic facilities by which a physical meeting may be attended have become
inadequate for the purposes referred to in Bye-Law 60A(2) or are otherwise not
sufficient to allow the meeting to be conducted substantially in accordance with
the provisions set out in the Notice of the meeting; or




APPENDIX D = RELEVANT PROVISIONS OF THE BYE-LAWS

(c) it is not possible to ascertain the view of those present or to give all persons entitled
to do so a reasonable opportunity to communicate and/or vote at the meeting; or

(d) there is violence or the threat of violence, unruly behaviour or other disruption
occurring at the meeting or it is not possible to secure the proper and orderly
conduct of the meeting;

then, without prejudice to any other power which the chairman of the meeting may have
under these Bye-Laws or at common law, the chairman may, at his/her absolute
discretion, without the consent of the meeting, and before or after the meeting has started
and irrespective of whether a quorum is present, interrupt (without adjourning) or adjourn
the meeting (including adjournment for an indefinite period). All business conducted at
the meeting up to the time of such adjournment shall be valid.

63B. If, after the sending of Notice of a general meeting but before the meeting is held, or after

the adjournment of a meeting but before the adjourned meeting is held (whether or not
Notice of the adjourned meeting is required), the Directors, in their absolute discretion,
consider that it is inappropriate, impracticable, unreasonable or undesirable for any
reason to hold the general meeting on the date or at the time or place or by means of
electronic facilities specified in the Notice calling the meeting, they may change or
postpone the meeting to another date, time and/or place and/or change the electronic
facilities and/or change the form of the meeting (whether to a physical meeting or an
electronic meeting) without approval from the Members. Without prejudice to the
generality of the foregoing, the Directors shall have the power to provide in every Notice
calling a general meeting the circumstances in which a postponement of the relevant
general meeting may occur without the Members’ approval. This Bye-Law shall be subject
to the following:

€) When a meeting is so postponed, the Company shall endeavour to post a notice
of such postponement on the Company’s website and the website of the
Designated Stock Exchange (if required by the rules or regulations of the
Designated Stock Exchange) as soon as practicable (provided that failure to post
such a notice shall not affect the postponement of such meeting);

(b) When only the form of the meeting or electronic facilities specified in the Notice
are changed, the Board shall notify the Members of details of such change in such
manner as the Board may determine;

(© When a meeting is postponed or changed in accordance with this Bye-Law,
subject to and without prejudice to Bye-Law 63, unless already specified in the
original Notice of the meeting, the Board shall fix the date, time, place (if
applicable) and electronic facilities (if applicable) for the postponed or changed
meeting and shall notify the Members of such details in such manner as the Board
may determine; further all proxy forms shall be valid (unless revoked or replaced
by a new proxy) if they are received in accordance with these Bye-Laws not less
than 48 hours before the time of the postponed or changed meeting; and

(d) Notice of the business to be transacted at the postponed or changed meeting shall
not be required, nor shall any accompanying documents be required to be
recirculated, provided that the business to be transacted at the postponed or
changed meeting is the same as that set out in the original Notice of general
meeting circulated to the Members.

63C. All persons seeking to attend and participate in a physical meeting by means of electronic

facilities or an electronic meeting shall be responsible for maintaining adequate facilities
to enable them to do so. Subject to Bye-Law 63A, any inability of a person or persons to
attend or participate in a physical meeting by way of electronic facilities or an electronic
meeting shall not invalidate the proceedings of and/or resolutions passed at that meeting.
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64.

If an amendment is proposed to any resolution under consideration but is in good faith
ruled out of order by the chairman of the meeting, the proceedings on the substantive
resolution shall not be invalidated by any error in such ruling. In the case of a resolution
duly proposed as a Special Resolution, no amendment thereto (other than a mere clerical
amendment to correct a patent error) may in any event be considered or voted upon.

VOTING

65(A).

Subject to any special rights or restrictions as to voting for the time being attached to any
shares by or in accordance with these Bye-Laws, at any general meeting (i) on a show of
hands every Member present in person (or being a corporation, is present by a
representative duly authorised under the Act), or by proxy shall have one (1) vote and the
chairman of the meeting shall determine which proxy shall be entitled to vote where a
Member (other than the Depository) is represented by two (2) proxies, and (ii) on a poll
every Member present in person or by proxy or, in the case of a Member being a
corporation, by its duly authorised representative shall have one (1) vote for every fully
paid share of which he is the holder or which he represents and in respect of which all
calls due to the Company have been paid, but so that no amount Paid Up on a share in
advance of calls or instalments is treated for the foregoing purposes as Paid Up on the
share.

65(B).

Subject to Bye-Law 65(C), in the case of a physical meeting, a resolution put to the vote
of a meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless (before or on the declaration of
the result of the show of hands or on the withdrawal of any other demand for a poll) a poll
is demanded:

(a) by the chairman of such meeting; or

(b) by at least three (3) Members present in person (or in the case of a Member being
a corporation by its duly authorised representative) or by proxy for the time being
entitled to vote at the meeting; or

(c) by a Member or Members present in person (or in the case of a Member being a
corporation by its duly authorised representative) or by proxy and representing not
less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all Members having the right to vote
at the meeting; or

(d) by a Member or Members present in person (or in the case of a Member being a
corporation by its duly authorised representative) or by proxy and holding shares
in the Company conferring a right to vote at the meeting being shares on which an
aggregate sum has been Paid Up equal to not less than one-tenth of the total sum
Paid Up on all shares conferring that right; or

(e) where the Depository is a Member, by at least three (3) proxies representing the
Depository.

A demand by a person as proxy for a Member or in the case of a Member being a
corporation by its duly authorised representative shall be deemed to be the same as a
demand by a Member.

65(C).

For so long as the shares of the Company are listed on the Designated Stock Exchange,
a resolution put to the vote of a meeting shall be decided by way of a poll, as required by
the rules of the Designated Stock Exchange.

66.

Unless a poll is required by the rules and regulations of the Designated Stock Exchange
(if applicable) or duly demanded and the demand is not withdrawn, a declaration by the
chairman that a resolution has been carried, or carried unanimously, or by a particular
majority, or not carried by a particular majority, or lost, and an entry to that effect made in
the minute book of the Company, shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof
of the number or proportion of the votes recorded for or against the resolution.
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67.

The result of a poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll
was taken.

68(A).

A poll on the election of a chairman, or on a question of adjournment, shall be taken
forthwith.

63(B).

A poll on any other question shall be taken in such manner (including but not limited to
the use of ballot or voting papers or tickets) and place as the chairman directs, either
forthwith or at an adjourned meeting as the chairman directs. Unless the chairman
otherwise directs, it shall not be necessary for Notice to be given of an adjourned meeting
at which such a poll is to be taken.

68(C).

The chairman may and, if required by the rules or regulations of the Designated Stock
Exchange, shall appoint scrutineers who are independent of the persons undertaking the
polling process.

69.

The demand for a poll shall not prevent the continuance of a meeting or the transaction
of any business other than the question on which the poll has been demanded, and, with
the consent of the chairman, it may be withdrawn at any time before the close of the
meeting or the taking of the poll, whichever is the earlier.

70.

On a poll, votes may be given either personally or by proxy.

71.

A person entitled to more than one (1) vote on a poll need not use all his votes or cast all
the votes he uses in the same way.

72.

In the case of an equality of votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the chairman
of such meeting shall be entitled to a second or casting vote in addition to any other vote
he may have.

73.

Where there are joint holders of any share any one of such joint holder may vote, either
in person or by proxy, in respect of such share as if he were solely entitled thereto, but if
more than one of such joint holders be present at any meeting the vote of the senior who
tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the
votes of the other joint holders, and for this purpose seniority shall be determined by the
order in which the names stand in the Register in respect of the joint holding. Several
executors or administrators of a deceased Member in whose name any share stands shall
for the purposes of this Bye-Law be deemed joint holders thereof.

74(A).

A Member who is a patient for any purpose relating to mental health or in respect of whom
an order has been made by any court having jurisdiction for the protection or management
of the affairs of persons incapable of managing their own affairs may vote, whether on a
show of hands or on a poll, by his receiver, committee, curator bonis or other person in
the nature of a receiver, committee or curator bonis appointed by such court, and such
receiver, committee, curator bonis or other person may vote on a poll by proxy, and may
otherwise act and be treated as if he were the registered holder of such shares for the
purposes of general meetings, provided that such evidence as the Board may require of
the authority of the person claiming to vote shall have been deposited at the Office, Head
Office or Registration Office, as appropriate, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before
the time appointed for holding the meeting, postponed meeting or adjourned meeting or
poll, as the case may be.

74(B).

Any person entitled under Bye-Law 53 to be registered as the holder of any shares may
vote at any general meeting in respect thereof in the same manner as if he were the
registered holder of such shares, provided that forty-eight (48) hours at least before the
time of the holding of the meeting, postponed meeting or adjourned meeting, as the case
may be, at which he proposes to vote, he shall satisfy the Board of his entitlement to such
shares, or the Board shall have previously admitted his right to vote at such meeting in
respect thereof.
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75.

No Member shall, unless the Board otherwise determines, be entitled to attend and vote
and to be reckoned in a quorum at any general meeting unless he is duly registered and
all calls or other sums presently payable by him in respect of shares in the Company have
been paid.

76.

If:
(a) any objection shall be raised to the qualification of any voter; or

(b) any votes have been counted which ought not to have been counted or which
might have been rejected; or

(c) any votes are not counted which ought to have been counted,

the objection or error shall not vitiate the decision of the meeting, postponed meeting or
adjourned meeting on any resolution unless the same is raised or pointed out at the
meeting, postponed meeting or adjourned meeting, as the case may be, at which the vote
objected to is given or tendered or at which the error occurs. Any objection or error shall
be referred to the chairman of the meeting and shall only vitiate the decision of the
meeting on any resolution if the chairman decides that the same may have affected the
decision of the meeting. The decision of the chairman on such matters shall be final and
conclusive.

PROXIES

77(A).

Any Member entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company who is the holder
of two (2) or more shares shall be entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to
attend and vote instead of him at the same general meeting provided that if the Member
is the Depository:

€) the Depository may appoint more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the
same general meeting and each proxy shall be entitled to exercise the same
powers on behalf of the Depository as the Depository could exercise, including,
notwithstanding Bye-Law 65(A), the right to vote individually on a show of hands;

(b) unless the Depository specifies otherwise in Notice to the Company, the
Depository shall be deemed to have appointed as the Depository’s proxies to vote
on behalf of the Depository at a general meeting of the Company each of the
Depositors who are individuals and whose names are shown in the records of the
Depository as at a time not earlier than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the time of
the relevant general meeting supplied by the Depository to the Company and
notwithstanding any other provisions in these Bye-Laws, the appointment of
proxies by virtue of this Bye-Law 77(A)(b) shall not require an instrument of proxy
or the lodgement of any instrument of proxy;

(c) the Company shall accept as valid in all respects the form of instrument of proxy
approved by the Depository (the “CDP Proxy Form”) for use at the date relevant
to the general meeting in question naming a Depositor (the “Nominating
Depositor”’) and permitting that Nominating Depositor to nhominate a person or
persons other than himself as the proxy or proxies appointed by the Depository.
The Company shall, in determining rights to vote and other matters in respect of a
completed CDP Proxy Form submitted to it, have regard to the instructions given
by and the notes (if any) set out in the CDP Proxy Form. The submission of any
CDP Proxy Form shall not affect the operation of Bye-Law 77(A)(b) and shall not
preclude a Depositor appointed as a proxy by virtue of Bye-Law 77(A)(b) from
attending and voting at the relevant meeting but in the event of attendance by such
Depositor the CDP Proxy Form submitted bearing his name as the Nominating
Depositor shall be deemed to be revoked;
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(d) the Company shall reject any CDP Proxy Form of a Nominating Depositor if his
name is not shown in the records of the Depository as at a time not earlier than
forty-eight (48) hours prior to the time of the relevant general meeting supplied by
the Depository to the Company; and

(e) on a poll the maximum number of votes which a Depositor, or proxies appointed
pursuant to a CDP Proxy Form in respect of that Depositor, is able to cast shall be
the number of shares credited to the Securities Account of that Depositor as shown
in the records of the Depository as at a time not earlier than forty-eight (48) hours
prior to the time of the relevant general meeting supplied by the Depository to the
Company, whether that number is greater or smaller than the number specified in
any CDP Proxy Form or instrument of proxy executed by or on behalf of the
Depository.

77(B).

In any case where an instrument of proxy appoints more than one (1) proxy (including the
case when a CDP Proxy Form is used), the proportion of the shareholding concerned to
be represented by each proxy shall be specified in the instrument of proxy.

77(C).

A proxy need not be a Member. In addition, subject to Bye-Law 77(A), a proxy or proxies
representing either a Member who is an individual or a Member which is a corporation
shall be entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of the Member which he or they
represent as such Member could exercise, including, notwithstanding Bye-Law 65(A), the
right to vote individually on a show of hands. On a poll, a proxy need not use all the votes
he is entitled to cast or cast all such votes in the same way.

78.

The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or
of his attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under
its seal or under the hand of an officer, attorney or other person authorised to sign the
same or, in the case of the Depository, signed by its duly authorised officer by some
method or system of mechanical signature as the Depository may deem appropriate. In
the case of an instrument of proxy purporting to be signed on behalf of a corporation by
an officer thereof it shall be assumed, unless the contrary appears, that such officer was
duly authorised to sign such instrument of proxy on behalf of the corporation without
further evidence of the fact.

79(A).

For so long as the shares of the Company are listed on the Designated Stock Exchange,
subject to the rules and regulations of the Designhated Stock Exchange (if applicable), the
Company may, at its absolute discretion, provide an electronic address for the receipt of
any document or information relating to proxies for a general meeting (including any
instrument of proxy or acceptance of an invitation to appoint a proxy, any document
necessary to show the validity of, or otherwise relating to, an appointment of proxy
(whether or not required under these Bye-Laws) and notice of termination of the authority
of a proxy). If such an electronic address is provided, the Company shall be deemed to
have agreed that any such document or information may be sent by electronic
communication to that address, subject as hereafter provided and subject to any other
limitations or conditions specified by the Company when providing the address. Without
limitation, the Company may from time to time determine that any such electronic address
may be used generally for such matters or specifically for particular meetings or purposes
and, if so, the Company may provide different electronic addresses for different purposes.
The Company may also impose any conditions on the transmission of and its receipt of
any document or information sent by electronic communication including, for the
avoidance of doubt, imposing any security or encryption arrangements as may be
specified by the Company. If any document or information required to be sent to the
Company is sent to the Company by electronic communication, such document or
information shall not be treated as validly delivered to or deposited with the Company
unless the same is received by the Company at its designated electronic address
provided in accordance with this Bye-Law.
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79(B).

The instrument appointing a proxy and (if required by the Board) the power of attorney or
other authority (if any) under which it is signed on behalf of the appointor (which shall, for
this purpose, include a Depositor) or a certified copy of such power or authority, shall be
delivered:

(a) if sent personally or by post, to such place or one of such places (if any) as may
be specified for that purpose in or by way of note to or in any document
accompanying the notice convening the meeting (or, if no place is so specified at
the Registration Office or the Office, as may be appropriate); or

(b) if submitted by electronic communication, to the electronic address provided by
the Company in accordance with Bye-Law 79(A), or as may be otherwise specified
by the Company for that purpose in or by way of note to or in any document
accompanying the notice convening the general meeting,

in either case not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding
the meeting or adjourned meeting or postponed meeting at which the person named in
the instrument proposes to vote or, in the case of a poll taken subsequently to the date of
a meeting or adjourned meeting or postponed meeting, not less than twenty-four (24)
hours before the time appointed for the taking of the poll and in default the instrument of
proxy shall not be treated as valid.

79(C).

No instrument appointing a proxy shall be valid after the expiration of twelve (12) Months
from the date named in it as the date of its execution, except at an adjourned meeting or
postponed meeting in cases where the meeting was originally held within twelve (12)
Months from such date. Delivery of an instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a
Member from attending and voting at the meeting convened and in such event, the
instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to be revoked.

80.

Instruments of proxy shall be in any usual or common form (including any form approved
from time to time by the Depository) or in such other form as the Board may approve
(provided that this shall not preclude the use of the two-way form) and the Board may, if
it thinks fit, send out with the Notice of any meeting forms of instrument of proxy for use
at the meeting. The instrument of proxy shall be deemed to confer authority to demand
or join in demanding a poll and to vote on any amendment of a resolution put to the
meeting for which it is given as the proxy thinks fit. The instrument of proxy shall, unless
the contrary is stated therein, be valid as well for any adjournment or postponement of
the meeting as for the meeting to which it relates. The Board may decide, either generally
or in any particular case, to treat a proxy appointment as valid notwithstanding that the
appointment or any of the information relating to proxies for a general meeting required
under these Bye-Laws has not been received in accordance with the requirements of
these Bye-Laws. Subject to aforesaid, if the proxy appointment and any of the information
required under these Bye-Laws is not received in the manner set out in these Bye-Laws,
the appointee shall not be entitled to vote in respect of the shares in question.

81.

A vote given in accordance with the terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid
notwithstanding the previous death or insanity of the principal, or revocation of the
instrument of proxy or of the authority under which it was executed, provided that no
intimation in writing of such death, insanity or revocation shall have been received by the
Company at the Office or the Registration Office (or such other place as may be specified
for the delivery of instruments of proxy in the Notice convening the meeting or other
document sent therewith) two (2) hours at least before the commencement of the
meeting, postponed meeting or adjourned meeting, or the taking of the poll, at which the
instrument of proxy is used.

82.

Anything which under these Bye-Laws a Member may do by proxy he may likewise do by
his duly appointed attorney and the provisions of these Bye-Laws relating to proxies and
instruments appointing proxies shall apply mutatis mutandis in relation to any such
attorney and the instrument under which such attorney is appointed.
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CORPORATIONS ACTING BY REPRESENTATIVES

83(A).

Any corporation which is a Member may by resolution of its directors or other governing
body authorise such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at any meeting of
the Company or at any meeting of any class of Members. The person so authorised shall
be entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of such corporation as the corporation
could exercise if it were an individual Member and such corporation shall for the purposes
of these Bye-Laws be deemed to be present in person at any such meeting if a person
so authorised is present thereat.

83(B).

Where a Member is the Depository (or its nominee(s) which are corporations), it may
authorise such persons as it thinks fit to act as its representatives at any meeting of the
Company or at any meeting of any class of Members provided that the authorisation shall
specify the number and class of shares in respect of which each such representative is
so authorised. Each person so authorised under the provisions of this Bye-Law shall be
entitled to exercise the same rights and powers as if such person was the registered
holder of the shares of the Company held by the Depository (or its nominee(s)) in respect
of the number and class of shares specified in the relevant authorisation including the
right to vote individually.

83(C).

Any reference in these Bye-Laws to a duly authorised representative of a Member being
a corporation shall mean a representative authorised under the provisions of this Bye-
Law.
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For the attention of Ho Kah Meng

Dear Sirs,

PROPERTIES: GLH PORTFOLIO - 15 UK HOTELS

In accordance with the instructions confirmed in our letter to you dated 28 January 2021 we have inspected the Properties and made such
enquiries as are sufficient to provide you with our opinions of value on the bases set out in our report below. A copy of our letter of confirmation is

enclosed at Appendix 1.

We draw your attention to our accompanying Report together with the General Assumptions and Conditions upon which our Valuation has been

prepared, details of which are provided at the rear of our report.

We trust that our report meets your requirements, however should you have any queries, please do not hesitate to contact us.

Yours faithfully

For and on behalf of Savills Advisory Services Limited

‘I " -"'d_.;':—-
/ L{:# :_]2 A N—

JAMES BRADLEY MRICS TIM STOYLE FRICS GILES FURZE MRICS
RICS Registered Valuer RICS Registered Valuer RICS Registered Valuer
Director Director Director

Offices and associates throughout the Americas, Europe, Asia Pacific, Africa and the Middle East.

Savills Advisory Services Limited. Chartered Surveyors. Regulated by RICS. A subsidiary of Savills plc. Registered in England No. 2605138.
Registered office: 33 Margaret Street, London, W1G 0JD
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Report & Valuation
GLH Portfolio — 15 UK hotels Sa\ﬂlls

Portfolio Overview

Tenure

Business Overview

Principal Valuation
Considerations

Material Uncertainty

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

e The portfolio comprises 15 limited service and full service hotels with a total of 4,869 bedrooms. The properties operate under the
Thistle, Thistle Express, Amba and Hard Rock brands, as well as two non-branded (though Guoman affiliated) hotels — The Tower
Hotel and Royal Horseguards Hotel. The hotels are located in Central London (12 of the 15), Heathrow Airport, Luton and Swindon.
The hotels are owner-operated by GLH, with only the Hard Rock hotel trading under a non-owned brand.

The portfolio comprises a mix of building types and sizes, ranging from attractive and historic properties (e.g. Royal Horseguards
Hotel, Amba Charing Cross) to more modern and less attractive properties (The Tower Hotel, Thistle Heathrow).

e Ingeneral, it appears the majority of the hotels would benefit from capital expenditure into building services, plant and facades / roof
as well as some refurbishment / modernisation of guest areas.
e The Tower Hotel and Thistle Kensington Gardens are owned freehold. The remaining 13 properties are held leasehold.

e Of the leasehold properties, the larger, valuable assets are held with unexpired terms of 70 — 90 years. Consideration should be
given to discussing lease extensions with landlords. This would enhance the liquidity of some of the assets and limit value erosion
in the medium and longer term.

e Four of the hotels are held on relatively short leases with Topland as landlord (Barbican, Bloomsbury, Piccadilly and Hyde Park).
The leases are subject to fixed rents until lease expiry in 2035 and renewal rights for a further 30 (or in the case of Piccadilly 20)
years. These assets have high rents and low/negative current values.

e  Whilst the Thistle Heathrow, Hard Rock Hotel, Thistle Express Swindon and Thistle Express Luton benefit from 59 to 148 year
unexpired terms (including renewal rights) the values are severely restricted by the high rents payable, resulting in low / negative
values.

e The Thistle Trafalgar is held leasehold with only 8.5 years unexpired (no extension options).

GLH Portfolio (15 hotels) 2021f 2022f 2024f 2025f
Year End June

Occupancy 73.8% 77.2% 54.0% 71% 61.9% 69.4% 74.1% 75.1%
Average Daily Rate £141.44 £145.29 £152.77 £119.36 £138.59 £143.53 £146.30 £149.85
RevPAR £104.35 £112.18 £82.47 £8.52 £85.79 £99.65 £108.47 £112.48

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s

Rooms Revenue £184,560 £198,775 £146,138 £15,156 £152,534 £177,162 £193,373 £199,983
F&B Revenue £21,716 £23,628 £19,281 £2,328 £20,852 £23,755 £25,767 £26,630
M&E Revenue £17,590 £16,918 £11,056 £988 £8,751 £13,468 £17,824 £22,193
Other Revenue £5,634 £5,640 £6,693 £3,598 £7,427 £7,938 £8,301 £8,416
Total Revenue £229,501 £244,961 £183,168 £22,070 £189,564 £222,323 £245,264 £257,221
T || o | |
NOI (% of Total Revenue) 36.8% 34.1% 28.9% -106.9% 32.5% 34.9% 35.8% 36.0%

e Mainly Central London locations with excellent accessibility.

e Mix of building types and conditions with several of the properties requiring significant works.
Two freehold properties and 13 leasehold properties (from 8 years to 148 years unexpired).

e Head rents range from peppercorn to levels far in excess of sustainable EBITDA.

e Current pandemic and ‘lockdown’ conditions severely impacting trading performance.

e Currentinvestment market characterised by reduced transaction volumes, reduced availability of debt and buyers seeking discounts.

In respect of hotels, we continue to be faced with an unprecedented set of circumstances caused by COVID-19 and an absence of
relevant/sufficient market evidence on which to base our judgements. Our valuation of the subject portfolio will therefore be reported as
being subject to ‘material valuation uncertainty’ as set out in VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the RICS Valuation — Global Standards.
Consequently, in respect of these valuations less certainty — and a higher degree of caution — should be attached to our valuation than
would normally be the case.

GL Limited
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Ref. Property
1 The Tower Hotel
2 Amba Hotel Marble Arch
8 Amba Hotel Charing Cross
4 The Royal Horseguards Hotel
5 Amba Hotel Grosvenor
6 Thistle Kensington Gardens
7 Thistle Heathrow Airport
8 Thistle Trafalgar
9 Thistle Hyde Park
10 Thistle City Barbican
11 Thistle Bloomsbury Park
12 Thistle Piccadilly
13 Hard Rock Hotel (and Great
Cumberland Place Hotel)
14 Thistle Express Luton
15 Thistle Express Swindon
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Tenure

Freehold

Leasehold

Leasehold

Leasehold

Leasehold

Freehold

Leasehold

Leasehold

Leasehold

Leasehold

Leasehold

Leasehold

Leasehold

Leasehold

Leasehold

Market Value

Keys
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801 £204,000,000 £254,682
692 £276,100,000 £398,988
239 £112,000,000 £468,619
282 £132,000,000 £468,085
348 £121,400,000 £348,851
175 £52,600,000 £300,571
266 £2,000,000 £7,519
108 £1,100,000 £10,185
54 £400,000 £7,407
463 -£33,600,000 -£72,750
95 £2,500,000 £26,316
82 -£2,600,000 -£31,707
1,017 -£31,000,000 -£30,482
152 -£800,000 -£5,263
95 -£400,000 -£4,211
4,869 £835,700,000 £171,637
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Cap Rate Discount Rate
5.50% 7.50%
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1. INSTRUCTIONS AND PROPERTY SCHEDULE
1.1. Instructions
1.1.1. Instructions and Basis Of Valuation

You have instructed us to provide our opinions of value on the basis of Market Value.

In respect of a trading business, this normally changes hands in the open market as a fully equipped operational business unit and is therefore

valued including:

= all plant, equipment, furniture, furnishings, fixtures and fittings on the assumption that these are free from lien and encumbrance;

. the market’s perception of the trading potential excluding any personal goodwiill;

= all licences, consents, certificates and permits necessary to allow the Property to properly trade on the assumption that these will be
received as required;

. all existing staff, membership and bookings but excluding stock in trade, consumables and any additional value attributable to works of

art, historic artefacts and the like.

1.1.2. General Assumptions and Conditions

All our valuations have been carried out on the basis of the General Assumptions and Conditions set out in the relevant section towards the rear

of this report.
1.1.3. Date of Valuation

Our opinions of value are as at the date of this report. The importance of the date of valuation must be stressed as property values can change

over a relatively short period.

1.1.4. Definition of Market Value

In undertaking our valuations, we have adopted the RICS definition of Market Value, as detailed below:

Valuation Standard VPS 4, section 4 of the Red Book details Market Value (MV) as defined in IVS 104 paragraph 30.1 as:

“The estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an

arm’s length transaction, after proper marketing and where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.”
1.1.5. Further Definitions
The International Valuation Guidance Note 12 defines Trade Related Properties (TRPs) as:

‘Individual properties, such as hotels, fuel stations and restaurants that usually change hands in the market place while remaining operational.
These assets include not only land and buildings, but also fixtures and fittings (furniture fixtures and equipment) and a business component made

up of intangible assets, including transferrable goodwill.’
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The Red Book defines Goodwill as:
‘Any future economic benefit arising from a business, an interest in a business or from the use of a group of assets that is not separable.’
Valuation Standard VPGA 4 .paragraph 2.13 of the Red Book defines ‘Trading Potential’ as:

The ‘future profit, in the context of a valuation of the property that an REO (reasonably efficient operator) would expect to be able to realise from
occupation of the property. This could be above or below the recent trading history of the property. It reflects a range of factors (such as location,
design and character, level of adaptation and trading history of the property within the market conditions prevailing) that are inherent to the property

asset’.
1.1.6. Purpose of Valuations

The Valuation is required for Stock Exchange purposes in compliance with the Take-over Code. We understand our valuation will be used as
part of the due diligence process in advising shareholders in GL Limited in relation to the voluntary conditional General Offer by Guoco Leisure
Holdings Limited for all the issued ordinary shares in the capital of GL Limited (the Transaction). It is important that the Report is not used out of
context or for the purposes for which it was not intended. We shall have no responsibility or liability to any party in the event that the Report is

used outside of the purposes for which it was intended
1.1.7. Conflicts of Interest

We confirm that Savills Advisory Services Limited does not have a material connection or involvement with the subject properties or any other

parties and there are no other factors that could limit the valuers’ ability to provide an impartial and independent valuation.
You have instructed us to undertake this valuation in the knowledge that our previous involvement with several of the Properties.

You are aware that Savills is instructed to sell the freehold interest in the Thistle Express Swindon on behalf of the freehold owner. To be clear,

we are not selling GLH’s leasehold interest and we do not consider this to represent a conflict of interest in any way.

Savills valued the superior lease interest in The Hard Rock Hotel London in January 2019. Savills valued the freehold interest in the Thistle
Heathrow in March 2018. Savills provided a feasibility study to GLH relating to the Thistle Kensington in November 2019. Savills provided a range
of feasibility and building consultancy advice to GLH relating to the Tower hotel in 2017. These instructions are complete. We do not consider

these past instructions to represent conflicts of interest in any way.

Therefore, the valuers will report an independent, objective and unbiased valuation. We will be acting as External Valuers, as defined in the Red
Book.

1.1.8. Valuer Details and Inspection

The due diligence enquiries referred to below were undertaken by James Bradley MRICS. The valuations have also been reviewed by Tim Stoyle
FRICS.

A panel review has been undertaken between the two main signatories — James Bradley MRICS and Tim Stoyle FRICS — and two independent

directors with relevant experience in the sector — Giles Furze MRICS and Nick Newell MRICS.

GL Limited February 2021 4



savills

The Properties were inspected on the following dates by the Registered Valuers stated in the table below. We were able to inspect the whole of

the Properties, both externally and internally, including a selection of bedrooms, but limited to those areas that were easily accessible or visible.

The Tower Hotel

James Bradley MRICS

4 February 2021

2 Amba Hotel Marble Arch Ben Packard MRICS 1 February 2021
3 Amba Hotel Charing Cross Nick Newell MRICS 9 February 2021
4 The Royal Horseguards Hotel Tim Stoyle FRICS 3 February 2021
5 Amba Hotel Grosvenor Nick Newell MRICS 9 February 2021
6 Thistle Kensington Gardens Tim Stoyle FRICS 3 February 2021
7 Thistle Heathrow Airport Tim Stoyle FRICS 5 February 2021
8 Thistle Trafalgar Nick Newell MRICS 9 February 2021
9 Thistle Hyde Park Tim Stoyle FRICS 3 February 2021
10 Thistle City Barbican Nick Newell MRICS 9 February 2021
11 Thistle Bloomsbury Park Ben Packard MRICS 1 February 2021
12 Thistle Piccadilly James Bradley MRICS 4 February 2021
13 Hard Rock Hotel (and Great Cumberland Place Hotel) Ben Packard MRICS 1 February 2021
14 Thistle Express Luton Giles Furze MRICS 5 February 2021
15 Thistle Express Swindon Giles Furze MRICS 3 February 2021

All those above with MRICS or FRICS qualifications are also RICS Registered Valuers. Furthermore, in accordance with PS2, we confirm that
the aforementioned individuals have sufficient current local, national and international (as appropriate) knowledge of the particular market and the

skills and understanding to undertake the valuation competently.
1.1.9. Extent of Due Diligence Enquiries and Information Sources

The extent of the due diligence enquiries we have undertaken and the sources of the information we have relied upon for the purpose of our

valuation are stated in the relevant sections of our report below.

Where reports and other information have been provided, we summarise the relevant details in this report. We do not accept responsibility for
any errors or omissions in the information and documentation provided to us, nor for any consequences that may flow from such errors and

omissions.
1.1.10. Liability Cap

Our letter confirming instructions at Appendix 1 includes details of any liability cap.
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1.1.11. RICS Compliance

This report has been prepared in accordance with Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors’ (‘RICS”) Valuation — Global Standards (incorporating
the IVSC International Valuation Standards) effective from 31 January 2020 together, where applicable, with the UK National Supplement effective
14 January 2019, together the “Red Book”.

We have had particular reference to the requirements of VPS 3 entitled ‘Valuation Reports’ and VPGA 4 entitled ‘Valuation of individual trade

related properties’, as appropriate. Our report in accordance with those requirements is set out below.
We confirm that we have prepared our Valuation in accordance with the requirements set out in Rule 26 of the Take-over Code.
1.1.12. Verification

This report contains many assumptions, some of a general and some of a specific nature. Our valuations are based upon certain information
supplied to us by others. Some information we consider material may not have been provided to us. All of these matters are referred to in the

relevant sections of this report.

We recommend that you satisfy yourself on all these points, either by verification of individual points or by judgement of the relevance of each

particular point in the context of the purpose of our valuations. Our valuations should not be relied upon pending this verification process.
1.1.13. Confidentiality and Responsibility

Finally, in accordance with the recommendations of the RICS, we would state that this report is provided solely for the purpose stated above. It
is confidential to and for the use only of the party to whom it is addressed only, and no responsibility is accepted to any third party for the whole

or any part of its contents. Any such parties rely upon this report at their own risk.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, we confirm that we consent in principle to our Report or a summary of our Report being made available for
inspection and for being included in a circular to shareholders of GL Limited (“the Materials”) in connection with the Transaction, in compliance
with Rule 26 of the Take-over Code, provided that:

a) The Report or any summary shall not be published until such time as we have first approved the form and context in which the Report
or summary appears (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) and are satisfied that the Report has been accurately

reproduced or the summary is sufficiently accurate and comprehensive (as the case may be);

b) the Materials shall make clear that, with the exception of the Report or summary, we do not accept any responsibility for any part of the

Materials or any other information issued by GL Limited or any other person in connection with the Proposed Transaction;

c) such Report or summary complies in all respects with the requirements of the Red Book and any applicable regulations or directives

including but not limited to the requirements set out in Rule 26 of the Take-over Code; and

if, in our opinion, any part of our Report becomes misleading or inaccurate between the date of issue of the Report and the date of issue of any
Materials we reserve the right to withdraw our consent to your use of our Report or the summary unless and until we have made such amendments
to it as we (acting reasonably and without undue delay) deem necessary or desirable, notwithstanding that our doing so may necessitate deferral

of publication of the relevant materials.
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1.1.14. Market conditions explanatory note: Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19)

The outbreak of COVID-19, declared by the World Health Organisation as a “Global Pandemic” on the 11th March 2020, has and continues to
impact many aspects of daily life and the global economy — with some real estate markets having experienced lower levels of transactional activity
and liquidity. Travel, movement and operational restrictions have been implemented by many countries. In some cases, “lockdowns” have been
applied to varying degrees in response to further “waves” of COVID-19; although these may imply a new stage of the crisis, they are not

unprecedented in the same way as the initial impact.
The pandemic and the measures taken to tackle COVID-19 continue to affect economies and real estate markets globally.

Material valuation uncertainty

In respect of hotels, we continue to be faced with an unprecedented set of circumstances caused by COVID-19 and an absence of
relevant/sufficient market evidence on which to base our judgements. Our valuation of the subject portfolio will therefore be reported as being
subject to ‘material valuation uncertainty’ as set out in VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the RICS Valuation — Global Standards. Consequently, in respect

of these valuations less certainty — and a higher degree of caution — should be attached to our valuation than would normally be the case.

For the avoidance of doubt this explanatory note, including the ‘material valuation uncertainty’ declaration, does not mean that the valuation cannot
be relied upon. Rather, this explanatory note has been included to ensure transparency and to provide further insight as to the market context

under which the valuation opinion was prepared. In recognition of the potential for market conditions to move rapidly in response to changes in

the control or future spread of COVID-19, we highlight the importance of the valuation date.

1.2,

Property Schedule

The Tower Hotel St Katharine’s Way, London E1W 1LD Freehold
2 Amba Hotel Marble Arch Bryanston Street, Marble Arch, London W1H 7EH Leasehold 692
8 Amba Hotel Charing Cross Strand, London WC2N 5HX Leasehold 239
4 The Royal Horseguards Hotel 2 Whitehall Court, London SW1A 2EJ Leasehold 282
5 Amba Hotel Grosvenor 101 Buckingham Palace Road, London SW1W OSJ Leasehold 348
6 Thistle Kensington Gardens 104 Bayswater Road, London W2 3HL Freehold 175
7 Thistle Heathrow Airport Bath Road, Longford, West Drayton UB7 OEQ Leasehold 266
8 Thistle Trafalgar Whitcomb Street, Trafalgar Square, London WC2H 7HG Leasehold 108
9 Thistle Hyde Park 90-92 Lancaster Gate, London W2 3NR Leasehold 54
10 Thistle City Barbican 120 Central Street, London EC1V 8DS Leasehold 463
11 Thistle Bloomsbury Park 126 Southampton Row, London WC1B 5AD Leasehold 95
12 Thistle Piccadilly Coventry Street, London W1D 6BZ Leasehold 82
13 Hard Rock Hotel (and Great Great Cumberland Place W1H 7DL & 6 Bryanston Street, L] 1017

Cumberland Place Hotel) London W1H 7AN ’
14 Thistle Express Luton The Mall, Library Rd, Luton LU1 2TR Leasehold 152
15 Thistle Express Swindon Fleming Way, Swindon SN1 1TN Leasehold 95
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2. THE PROPERTIES, STATUTORY & LEGAL ASPECTS

2.1. Overview

The portfolio comprises 15 operational hotels located across Central London, London Heathrow Airport, Swindon and Luton, totalling 4,869
bedrooms (as at the date of valuation). The hotels are owner operated by GLH hotels and operated under the Amba, Thistle, Thistle Express and
Hard Rock brands, with The Tower Hotel and Royal Horseguards Hotel unbranded (but with Guoman affiliation). Each of the 15 property
appendices provides a property description, trading summary, principal valuation considerations and valuation. The full list of properties and
appendix references is stated at Section 1.2 above.

2.2, Location

The majority of the portfolio is located in Central London. Before Covid-19 related travel restrictions these hotel locations would be ideally placed
to benefit from strong demand. However, Covid has severely limited international travel and this has impacted London far more than other UK
markets. The London hotels generally benefit from central locations, proximity to key transport hubs, tourist areas or corporate centres. Many
benefit from very good accessibility and strong prominence.

The Heathrow property is not one of the better located hotels near Heathrow Airport, but does benefit from being adjacent to Heathrow Pod
Parking (currently closed). The Thistle Express hotels in Luton and Swindon operate in low rate, non-leisure markets. Business will be driven by

their town centre locations.

The hotel locations are shown in the maps below with numbering in line with the above property schedule.

Map 1 — South East England
S
i
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Map 2 — Central London properties
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2.3. Description and Condition

The portfolio comprises a mix of building types and sizes, ranging from attractive and historic properties (e.g. Royal Horseguards Hotel, Amba
Charing Cross) to more modern properties (The Tower Hotel, Thistle Heathrow). The hotels range in size from 54 bedrooms (Thistle Hyde Park)
to 801 bedrooms (The Tower Hotel). In general, it appears the majority of the hotels would benefit from capital expenditure into building services,
plant and facades / roof as well as some refurbishment / modernisation of guest areas. GLH has identified some hotels which require immediate
works and these are described in the section below.

Inspection photographs are included within each property appendix.
Any particular concerns regarding condition are highlighted in section 4 of this report. It is important that the properties continue to be maintained
and that FF&E is continually upgraded in order to maintain each hotel’'s market position.

The Tower Hotel has fagade / structural defects, with portions of the property’s concrete fagade failing. We understand a strategy of attaching
netting will prevent pieces falling but a longer term solution will be required. Other high cost projects include repair / replacement of services and
plant at The Tower, roof and air conditioning works at Amba Marble Arch and balcony repair works at Hyde Park. The Thistle Barbican requires

full window replacement and works to remove / isolate asbestos at basement level.

GL Limited February 2021 9
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As instructed, we have not carried out a structural survey, nor have we tested any of the services. We have assumed that all the properties are

served by mains water, electricity, gas and drainage.
2.4. Capital Expenditure

We have been provided with a schedule of capital expenditure for the periods YE June 2019, YE June 2020 and six month period to December

2020, as summarised below.

Capex (£) Perie Capex
Property Keys July 2018 - 73) y Planned Comments
December 2020 (£)

Essential maintenance to fagade and plant and H&S.

The Tower Hotel 801 2,708,004 3,381 13,689,698 Excludes full redevelopment.

Marble Arch Hotel 692 1,266,856 1,831 3,120,081 Full refurbishment of M&E spaces including replacement of A/C and
replacement of roof covering.

Charing Cross 239 650,397 2721 612,000 Refurbishment of Iqbby, rgstaurant and bar. Includes £300,000
allocated to converting attic space to 2/3 bedrooms.

The Royal Horseguards 282 969,173 3,437 147,392 Replacement of service lift and repairs to roof.

TR ErsEnnr B 348 14,331,530 41,183 561,914 Dramgge leak repairs, boiler replacement and completing F&B
refurbishment.

Kensington Gardens 175 384,366 2,196 44,135 Service lift replacement.

Heathrow T5 266 901,675 3,390 0 -

Trafalgar Square 108 312,571 2,894 0 -

Hyde Park 54 141,013 2,611 573,343 Repairs to leaking roof and failing balconies.

City Barbican 463 1,455,010 3,143 0 -

Bloomsbury Park 95 251,082 2,643 0 -

Piccadilly 82 320,233 3,905 0 -

Hard Rock Hotel 25,820,856 92,779 Conversion of two bedrooms into a gym

1,017 25,394

Great Cumberland Place 4,643 0 -

Luton 152 195,187 1,284 0 -

Swindon 95 66,159 696 0 -

In addition to the above works there is also potential for major repositioning / redevelopment works at The Tower Hotel and Royal Horseguards
Hotel. For The Tower, the GLH January 2021 Project Management report shows a sum of £142,849,086 for a “full building redevelopment including
repositioning of the hotel proposition via internal reconfiguration and external cladding replacement”. There are several redevelopment /
refurbishment plans which could be pursued at this property and many options for future use (subject to planning consent and feasibility). We
have not factored in any one specific strategy for redevelopment in our valuation — there are many options and challenges for the building and
feasibility and costings are at an early stage. Plus no planning consent has been secured. Further, in accordance with instructions, we are valuing
subject to existing use. It is likely a buyer of the property will have regard to redevelopment / repositioning potential and we have taken this into

account in our choice of yields, but our principal approach to valuation is based on the operation of the property in its current form.

The same GLH document states a sum of £52,206,167 for the Royal Horseguards Hotel, more specifically, a “full building refurbishment including
repositioning of the hotel proposition via internal refurbishment of all spaces”. Similar to our approach with The Tower Hotel, whilst it is clear this
property has repositioning potential, feasibility and costings are at an early stage and our valuation is based on the operation of the property in its

current form.
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2.5. Environmental Considerations
2.5.1. Informal Enquiries

As instructed, we have not carried out a soil test or an environmental audit. Following informal inspection observations and the properties’
locations, we have valued the Properties on the basis that they have not suffered any land contamination in the past, nor are they likely to become
so contaminated in the foreseeable future. However, should it subsequently be established that contamination exists at any of the Properties, or

on any neighbouring land, then we may wish to review our valuation advice.
We have assumed for the purposes of our valuation that there are no INNS present at the site or in the immediate vicinity of the Property.
2.5.2. Asbestos

We would draw to your attention that under the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 owners are required to undertake an asbestos survey of
the Property and have in place a management plan detailing the areas affected. This should include a clear designation of the affected areas and
the means of disposal if this is required. Unless stated otherwise we have for the purpose of this report assumed full compliance with the regulations

and that there are no substantive issues, which would adversely affect our opinions of value.

We understand GLH is in the process of undertaking asbestos surveys across the portfolio. We have been informed that asbestos is present in

most properties, though is isolated and managed.

The Thistle Barbican has a significant amount of asbestos at basement level to the extent that access to this part of the building is forbidden. We
have been informed that the property is safe at present but that there have been signs of deterioration recently and works are required. GLH are
in the process of costing works but these are not yet available. We have made an allowance for management of this asbestos in our valuation
(see section 4) but confirmation of the costs of these works could impact our valuation. We have been informed that asbestos in the rest of the

property is encapsulated.
2.6. Town Planning

We have made planning application searches with each local authority and reviewed the planning history for each property. We have assumed
that each hotel has been developed in line with the necessary planning consents and that any planning conditions for works or alterations have
been discharged to each council’s satisfaction. In valuing the properties, we have assumed that the buildings are used in accordance with their
present lawful uses, that the buildings comply with current planning laws and building regulations and that they are not subject to any adverse

proposals or possible enforcement actions.

Each property appendix states whether the property is listed and whether it lies within a conservation area.
2.7. Taxation

2.71. Business Rates

The Uniform Business Rate for 2020/21 financial year is 51.2 pence in the Pound for large properties and 49.9 pence in the Pound for smaller
businesses with a rateable value of less than £51,000. There is also an additional Crossrail Levy of 2 pence in the Pound for properties in Greater

London with a Rateable Value in excess of £70,000, and a further 0.8 pence in the Pound for all properties in the City of London.
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From informal enquiries of the Valuation Office Agency Internet Rating List www.voa.gov.uk, we understand that the following entries appear on
the 2017 Valuation List:

Rateable Value . Rates Gl

Ref. Property Keys (RV) RV per key Multiplier Payable Pay::(l:;z per
1 The Tower Hotel 801 £4,968,000 £6,202 0.532 £2,642,976 £3,300
2 Amba Hotel Marble Arch 692 £4,318,000 £6,240 0.532 £2,297,176 £3,320
3 Amba Hotel Charing Cross 239 £2,123,500 £8,885 0.532 £1,129,702 £4,727
4 The Royal Horseguards Hotel 282 £2,941,000 £10,429 0.532 £1,564,612 £5,548
5 Amba Hotel Grosvenor 348 £2,728,000 £7,839 0.532 £1,451,296 £4,170
6 Thistle Kensington Gardens 175 £960,000 £5,486 0.532 £510,720 £2,918
7 Thistle Heathrow Airport 266 £475,000 £1,786 0.532 £252,700 £950
8 Thistle Trafalgar 108 £925,000 £8,565 0.532 £492,100 £4,556
9 Thistle Hyde Park 54 £337,000 £6,241 0.532 £179,284 £3,320
10 Thistle City Barbican 463 £2,275,500 £4,915 0.532 £1,210,566 £2,615
11 Thistle Bloomsbury Park 95 £536,000 £5,642 0.532 £285,152 £3,002
12 Thistle Piccadilly 82 £895,000 £10,915 0.532 £476,140 £5,807
13 gﬁﬁbr‘;ﬁ‘;';:gﬁ'cfmgfa‘ 1,017 £8,433,000 £8,292 0532  £4,486,356 £4,411
14 Thistle Express Luton 152 £178,000 £1,171 0.512 £91,136 £600
15 Thistle Express Swindon 95 £111,000 £1,168 0.512 £56,832 £598
4,869 £17,126,748 £3,518

Source: VOA data, Savills analysis

In response to the coronavirus pandemic, the Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government have suspended Business Rate payments
across the hospitality industry until April 2021. There is speculation that this suspension may be extended. However, for the purposes of valuation
we have modelled full business rates payable in line with the business rates forecasts provided to us by GLH. Should a business rates suspension

be extended, this will have a positive effect on cashflow and value.

2.7.2. VAT
Our valuations are exclusive of VAT.
2.8. Licences, Certificates and Other Statutory Requirements

We have assumed that the Properties are not directly affected by any highway, town planning or other schemes or proposals which would affect
the valuation. In reporting our opinions, we have assumed that there are no third party interests between the boundaries of the subject properties

and the adopted highways and accordingly the sites enjoy unfettered vehicular and pedestrian access.

In valuing the Properties we have assumed that the buildings are used in accordance with their present lawful uses, they comply with current
planning laws and building regulations, are not subject to any adverse proposals or possible enforcement actions and there are no onerous

conditions which would have an adverse effect on trade.
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We have valued the Properties on the basis that no work or capital expenditure is required in order to bring the Properties into compliance with
the Disability and Equality Act 2010.

We have not been provided with, nor had sight of, any Fire Assessment reports in respect of the Properties. We assume for the purposes of this
report that the necessary works to secure the buildings from fire have been implemented and that insurance for the buildings could readily be
obtained.

We have not been provided with, or managed to obtain from the National Register, EPCs for the Properties. We are aware that investors and
lending institutions are beginning to factor into their lending criteria the asset rating of an EPC. In the case of the subject properties, we are not
aware of any EPCs upon which to assess any potential impact of Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) on marketability. As such

consideration should be given to the preparation of an EPC.

We have assumed for the purpose of the valuation that the Properties will continue to trade with the benefit of all existing and required licences,

consents, certificates and permits. The values may be reduced if this assumption is incorrect or if they are lost or in jeopardy.

2.9. Tenure

The Tower Hotel and Thistle Kensington Gardens are held freehold. The remaining 13 properties are held leasehold. We have valued GLH’s

interest in each case.

We have been provided by GLH with detailed schedules describing the tenure of each property and terms of the head leases under which the
majority of the properties are held. We have not reviewed the original title documents or head leases in each case and have relied upon the
summary schedules provided to us. We consider this to be a reasonable approach given the detail of the schedules but our valuations are provided
on the assumption that the contents of the schedules are correct and do not omit information which would have a material impact on value.

2.9.1. Tenure Summary

We provide a summary of the salient tenure information in the table below.

Term Expiry
. Current
Hotel Property Landlord Tenant (Approx!mate Annual Rent Comments
Unexpired
Term)
We understand the owner is obliged
to pay a service charge to the owner
of St Katherine’s Dock.
The Tower .
Hotel VL I AE TRl Covenants in place with the
“retained land” (St Katherine’s Dock)
“not to use... other than as a hotel
and for ancillary activities”.
The
Portman £193,100
Estate
Mount Royal Hotel, Nominees £13,100
Bryanston Street, 27 to 31 (One) (payable as GLH has confirmed that the head
Amba Hotel (odd) Bryanston Street, 12 to GLH Hotels Limited and 24 March 2110 Principal Rent  rent payments are met by GLH'’s
Marble Arch 22 (even) Old Quebec Street,  Limited The under 1985 sub-tenant (GPE) and all payments
508 to 540 (even) Oxford Portman lease until are up to date.
Street and 22 Portman Street Estate review
Nominees 25.3.21) +
(Two)
Limited
GL Limited February 2021 13
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Casino Rent -
added as new
Part Il to RR
schedule by
2003 DoV
being 25% of
rent payable
under Casino
sub-
underlease.

Note — Casino
rent to be
increased to
£180,000 so
rent payable
increases to

£193,100.
Rent is 50% of the rent received
Airspace to 10m above the GLH Hotels 4 September £93 250 under the telecommunications lease.
roof of the Mount Royal Hotel  Limited 2016 ’
Half of this is paid to landlord.
No Landlord break option. No
The Charing Cross Hotel and VERE: (EneE] (i
Annexe, Strand and the . .
Amb_a Griffin Public House, Villiers Network Rail GLH Hotels 26 March 2111 Rights across forecourt and
Charing Infrastructure . £0 concourse to hotel entrances,
Street and the covered _ Limited . . ,
Cross ; e Limited (90.1 years) subject to payment of a 'fair share' of
footbridge over Villiers Street : Note LL
- SRt e maln_tenance _costs. ote LL can
require that side door be locked
temporarily or permanently.
The Royal Horsegyards HM The Queen Next _rent review 5 July 2023.
Hotel and The National 4 July 2092 Rent is reviewed to 7.75% of Open
. / The Crown GLH RHG
Liberal Club, Block 1, 2 and Estate Limited £450,000 Market Rent. Upward only.
Part Block 3, Whitehall CemeeitaEns (71.4 years) Rent comprises £152,000 plus an
Court, Whitehall Place amount determined at each review.
Thames Suite: Block 3,
Whitehall Court, Whitehall 24 March 2086 (We have been informed this area is
Place, London. (premises Whitehall Court GLH RHG P —— meetings and events space with
and cellars at ground floor Limited Limited PP additional surplus back of house
(65.1 years)
and basement of block no. 3) space).
(non-structural)
Royal
Horseguards Tenant break on 11 July 2026.
Hotel LTA1954 provides tenant security of
tenure.
Next rent review 11 July 2021 and
The Royal Horseguards TheRoyal 44 4y 2036 (0 YR UG
Hotel, Whitehall Court GLH RHG Horseguards £7,500,000
’ Limited Hotel (15.5 years) U Rent reviewed to Open Market Rent.
Limited DY We have been informed that this is
an internal lease and both the
landlord and tenant are wholly
owned by GLH. We have assumed
this internal lease would be
collapsed in the event of a sale.
Landlord break: LL break re ‘second
The premises’ (adjoining concourse)
e (_3rosvenor Alsiill I Ha}mm_erson Grosvenor 28 Tooiy where required for LL's undertaking
P STl PEIEE [ReE] (I Hotel 213 Peppercorn on 3 years' notice. Also on 6 months'
Grosvenor London (SW1W 0SJ) - Hotel Investments) N pp 2 ‘ "
- Victoria notice where for substantial works of
and Annex Limited - (87 years) . "
Limited construction demolition or
redevelopment.
GL Limited February 2021 14
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The ‘second premises’ refer to the
lobby area onto the station
concourse. GLH comment that the
break right requires that the area be
“required for the landlord’s
undertaking” which was intended to
refer to the then-landlord’s railway
undertaking. Network Rail is no
longer the landlord due to the
intervening lease and therefore there
is ambiguity whether the landlord
(Hammerson) has an undertaking
and if so, whether it could ‘require’
this area.

Tenant security of tenure.

The
Ha}mm_erson e —— 29 February ) ) )
Part of roof space at (Victoria Yt 2108 p No break option but terminates if
Grosvenor Hotel Investments) otel. eppercorn main lease does.
o Victoria
Limited Limited (87 years)
a. 104 and 105 Bayswater
Road and 2a Porchester
Terrace Intra-group leases are in place. For
Thistle b. 106 Bayswater Road the purposes of valuation we have
Kensington c. 107 Bayswater Road Freehold assumed the intra-group structure
Gardens would be collapsed in the event of a
Airspace above Kensington sale.
Gardens Hotel, 104
Bayswater Road
Rent reviews every 14 years. Next
review 23 December 2024. Potential
rent not yet estimated by GLH.
LL must give not more than 24 nor
less than 3 months' notice Reviewed
(upwards only) to 3/4 of 165/225
OMV (+ any payable wrt Betterment
£1,063,892.50 Levy). Note if OMV can't be
Hial e &8 dhe Gt Pickering Heathrow 23 December + amount in calculgted or if 3/4 of 1'65/225ths
Airport Hotel situate in the Developments Hotel 2168 row below = oMV |s_|ess than passing,
Bath Road, Longford Lirifiter) (ITor)don) total ca[cqlatlon based on value of
’ Limited (147.8 years) £1,450,762.50  buildings. Amended by both 6.5.71
and 3.7.07 DoVs
OMV on basis of combined premises
and assuming 49+35 rooms in office
block - 355 total (adjusted if either
floor converted back to bedrooms)
Thistle LTA1954 provides tenant security of
Heathrow tenure.
Rent reviews every 14 years. Next
review 23 December 2024.
LL must give not more than 24 nor
An extension to the premises less than 3 months' notice.
known as The Centre Airport Reviewed (upwards only) to 3/4 of
Hotel situate on the south £386 870 + 60/225ths of the OMV of the
side of Bath Road Longford Pickering Heathrow 23 December amotjnt T GE premises and the developed
Hillingdon TOGETHER WITH D Hotel 2168 _ property (under main lease). Note if
evelopments above = total \ ;
the newly erected Limited (London) £1 450.762.50 OMV can't be calculated or if 3/4 of
Banqueting Hall, the Block of Limited (147.8 years) ’ ’ . 60/255ths OMV is less than passing,
Hotel Bedrooms and the calculation based on value of
ancillary, buildings, car park buildings (+ any Betterment Levy).
and grounds thereof Amended by 3.7.07 DoV. OMV on
basis of combined premises
assuming 49+35 rooms in office
block - 355 total (adjusted if either
floor converted back to bedrooms)
GL Limited February 2021 15
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Royal
Trafalgar

Hyde Park

Thistle

Thistle
Barbican

The former Battle of Trafalgar
Public House.

Main Hotel: Parts Basement,
Lower Ground, Ground, First,
Second, Third, Fourth, Fifth,
Sixth, Seventh and tankroom
floors

Also Part Third Floor
Also Ground Floor generator
room

The property known as
Thistle Hyde Park

The property known as The
New Barbican Hotel, Dingley
Road and part of the site of
Exchange Street, London

Trafalgar Hotel
(London)
Limited

Trafalgar Hotel
(London)
Limited

Topland TOR
Limited

Topland Delta
Limited

The NGT
Foundation

The NGT
Foundation

Barbican
Hotel
(London)
Limited

14 August 2029
£58,850
(8.5 years)

£1,100,250
14 August 2029

+
(8.5 years)

£15,900

26 April 2035

(14.2 years)
(44.2 years if
tenant renews)

£405,727

26 April 2035

(14.2 years)
(44.2 if tenant
renews)

£6,688,504

LTA1954 provides tenant security of
tenure.

Guarantor is GLH Hotels Limited.
Tenant security of tenure.

Rent to be reviewed to Open Market
Rent 1 August 2024. GLH are
forecasting zero rental uplift in 2024.

Guarantor is GLH Hotels Limited.
Tenant security of tenure.

Rent is from 15 August 2017. Next
review was 15 August 2020. We
understand the 2020 review has not
been activated and GLH estimate a
zero uplift.

Rent in Review Period is higher of
OMR and Alternative Rent (85% of
OMR disregarding certain landlord
works).

Service Charge payable on whole
currently £16,103 (Lease In
document).

GLH Hotels Limited is the guarantor.
No break option.

Renewal option for 30 years (no
further renewal right) on same terms,
at OMV - defined by ref to s34 1954
Act - should disregard Tenant's
improvements.

Stated rent is applicable until the end
of the term. Security of tenure
protection for Tenant.

Tenant obligation to repair (not
improve) the exterior and structure.
Surety to make good all losses costs
and expenses sustained by the
Landlord due to the default of the
tenant. If lease disclaimed or forfeit,
Surety to take new lease if required
within 3 months by notice.

Guarantor is GLH Hotels Limited.
No break option.

Renewal option for 30 years (no
further renewal right) on same terms,
at OMV - defined by ref to s34 1954
Act - should disregard Tenant's
improvements.

Stated rent is applicable until the end
of the term.

LTA1954 provides tenant security of
tenure.

Tenant obligation to repair (not
improve) the exterior and structure.

GL Limited
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Thistle
Bloomsbury

Thistle
Piccadilly

Hard Rock
Hotel &
Great
Cumberland
Place

The property known as
Thistle Hotel Bloomsbury
Park 126 and 128
Southampton Row and 8-10
Cosmo Place, Holborn,
London

every Hotel Piccadilly, 31-39
Coventry St, London

Structural demise of parts of
the Building known as The
Cumberland Hotel and 20
Great Cumberland Place, the
Annex, excludes ground floor
retail areas, parts of
basement A and B. Note
excludes tunnel (rights are
granted), the duct, excluded
airspace

Bloomsbury
Hotel
(London)
Limited

Topland
Medway
Limited

Piccadilly Hotel
(London)
Limited

Topland
Valley
Limited

The
Cumberland
Hotel
(London)
Limited

Pike Trustee
No 1 Limited

26 April 2035

(14.2 years)
(44.2 years if
tenant renews)

26 April 2035
(14.2 years)

Tenant option to
renew to 26
April 2055

(34.2 years)

10 July 2031
But with tenant
options to
extend to

21 March 2089

(68.1 years)

£622,582

Basic Rent
£1,600,924
+

Headlease
Rent
£1,000,000

£2,600,924

£20,158,107

Surety to make good all losses costs
and expenses sustained by the
Landlord due to the default of the
tenant. If lease disclaimed or forfeit,
Surety to take new lease if required
within 3 months by notice.

GLH Hotels Limited is the guarantor.
No break option.

Renewal option for 30 years (no
further renewal right) on same terms,
at OMV - defined by ref to s34 1954
Act - should disregard Tenant's
improvements.

Stated rent is applicable until the end
of the term.

No security of tenure protection for
Tenant.

Tenant obligation to repair (not
improve) the exterior and structure.
Surety to make good all losses costs
and expenses sustained by the
Landlord due to the default of the
tenant. If lease disclaimed or forfeit,
Surety to take new lease if required
within 3 months by notice.

Ownership

Freeholder: The Duchy of Lancaster
LLH: Akzo Nobel CIF Nominees
Limited

SLLH: Topland Valley Limited

LH: Piccadilly Hotel (London) Limited
(GLH Hotels Limited is guarantor)

Renewal option

20 years (no further renewal right)
on same terms, at OMV - defined by
ref to s34 1954 Act - should
disregard T's improvements.

Rent Review

Basic rent fixed until initial lease
expiry, then OMR and subsequent
2% pa.

Headlease Rent RR 2022, then 2036
& 2050 to 67.67% of OMR.

GLH Hotels Limited is the guarantor.
No security of tenure for tenant.

Rent has annual CPl increases (15
March).

GLH has confirmed to us that the
rent for any agreed renewal term is
upward only in line with CPI (i.e. not
re-pegged to open market rent).

See Minimum Asset Level point at
end of this table.

GL Limited
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Thistle
Express
Luton

Thistle
Express

Swindon

Land on service mall and
upper levels at Luton Arndale
Shopping Centre with the
buildings erected, forecourt,
all additions and other
buildings erections,
structures and including
flower beds flagpoles and the
surface excluding all
services, structural and other
elements of the Shopping
Centre which lie underneath
the flower beds and surface
covering and underneath the
other parts of the forecourt,
all walkways structural and
supporting elements
oversailing the forecourt)

As above

Wiltshire Hotel, Fleming Way,
Swindon

Picton Property

Nominee

(No.3) Limited

GLH Hotels
Limited

The Wiltshire
Hotel
(Swindon)
Limited

Source: Summarised from information provided by GLH

2.9.2.

Important Points

Mall
Nominee
One Limited

Picton
Property
Nominee
(No.3)
Limited

UK
Commercial
Property
Estates
Holdings
Limited

24 December
2069

(48.8 years)
Tenant option to
renew for an
additional 26
years

(74.8 years)

23 December
2069

(48.8 years)
Tenant option to
renew for an
additional 26
years

(74.8 years)

27 September
2064

(43.6 years)
Tenant option to
renew until

27 September
2079

(58.6 years)

£66,000

£250,000

£170,000

savills

Ground lease. We understand this
rent is payable by Picton Property
Nominee (No.3) Limited and not
GLH.

Rent increases to £515,000 from 9
May 2022. Then reviewed 9 May
2029 and every five years (higher of
Open Market Rent and CPI).

Guarantor is GLH Hotels Limited.

Rent is from 25 December 2018. To
increase to £200,000 from 25
December 2023.

Reviews are 5 yearly to the higher of
CPl or 5.1% increase.

Security of tenure provisions apply.

Service charge at £10,000 from
2016 subject to CPI increases.

Guarantor guarantees payment of
rent and performance of covenants
and fully compensate for all and any
losses and expenses of any kind
incurred as a result of the tenant’s
breach.

Guarantor to accept new lease
following forfeiture or disclaimer if
required by notice served within six
months.

Dilapidations is a specific area of law relating to breaches of a tenant’s lease obligations or covenants. A dilapidations claim can be

made by the landlord against the tenant during or towards the end of a lease, or after the lease has ended. The landlord’s claim

document — usually called a Schedule of Dilapidations — will contain references to breaches of the tenant’s lease obligations, mainly

relating to physical alterations and their reinstatement, redecoration and repair. With the shorter leasehold properties in the portfolio,

potential dilapidations costs will become ever more important as term expiries near. The Thistle Trafalgar has only 8.5 years unexpired

on the lease and therefore this is likely to be the first property requiring an analysis of potential dilapidations costs. We understand GLH

has not started to consider dilapidation costs and we have not been provided with any information on this point. We would recommend

this is looked into as dilapidation claims can be substantial.

GL Limited
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savills

Four of the hotels are held on relatively short leases with Topland as landlord (Barbican, Bloomsbury, Piccadilly and Hyde Park). The
leases are subject to fixed rents until lease expiry in 2035 and renewal rights for a further 30 (or in the case of Piccadilly 20) years. We
have been informed that the rents to be agreed at any renewal of the lease would be in line with Market Rent. This is an important point
for Thistle Barbican and Thistle Piccadilly because the current rents are very high and a reversion to Market Rents in 2035 (as opposed

to continuation of passing rents) impacts whether a renewal of the lease is in the tenant’s best interest.

The Hard Rock Hotel (including Great Cumberland Place) lease includes a clause which stipulates that the current guarantor must
maintain a minimum asset value of £150m (increased with inflation from 2017). If the asset value falls below £90m the lessor may buy
back the lease for £1 (subject to conditions). This applies to the current guarantor only, but the lease also states that any assignee must
be of sufficient standing for the landlord to consent to an assignment and it is unlikely a financially weaker company would be acceptable
to the landlord. We consider this point to reduce the number of parties who would be willing and able to take on an assignment of the

lease.

The outcome of outstanding or upcoming rent reviews could materially affect future value for several assets. The uncertainty is greater
where head rent provisions relate to OMR or specifications referring to the date of lease commencement

Unless stated explicitly in the table above, we assume that full rights of access are enjoyed in each case, that no third parties enjoy any rights

over the s

2.10.

ubject properties and that there are no onerous restrictions or obligations connected to ownership.

Occupational Leases

The majority of the hotels benefit from sub-let rental income, ranging from small scale telecommunication leases to retail parades.

We have been provided by GLH with detailed schedules describing the sub-leases in place at each property. We have not reviewed the numerous

leases in each case and have relied upon the summary schedules provided to us. We consider this to be a reasonable approach given the detail

of the sch

edules but our valuations are provided on the assumption that the contents of the schedules are correct and do not omit information

which would have a material impact on value.

2.10.1. Summary of Leases
LD =G Current
Hotel Property Tenant . Annual Comments
Approximate
N Rent
Unexpired Term
24 December 2032 Use as a transformer chamber.
Vsl Gl s, s LEmalem (e £0 LTA1954 provides tenant security of tenure.
Tower Hotel Networks
(11.8 years)
T T - ;gosgeptember Original lease expired 2009. GLH inform us that
; H3G £13,141 the tenant remains in occupation whilst a new
Equipment . .
) agreement is negotiated.
£9,000 premium paid on grant.
Lease ended March 2019. GLH inform us that
17 March 2019 . ; )
The Tower . Tesla Motors Tesla remain in occupation whilst new terms are
Car Parking Spaces e Peppercorn
Hotel Limited ) agreed.
Use as a charging station for electric cars (Tesla
only).
Travelex UK 220 2L Tenant is a tenant at will whilst renewal terms
ALl Limited H0L are negotiated
Tenant at Will 9 ’
Up to 10 car parking spaces Yourparkingspace Uiidl icmfiEcs) Either party can terminate on 30 days’ notice.
at The Tower Hotel Limited Rent receivable is equal to 80% of bookings.
Parking Space and ancillary Avis Budget UK )
area, The Tower Hotel Limited Tenant at Will £45,440
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OUT OF MAIN HOTEL
LEASE:

Rent is comprised of: main hotel rent plus
Casino Rent.

Effectively - £13,100 washes through plus 50%

GURHRETAL PARIS LS The Qreat 23 March 2110 £373,100 of the rent payable under Casino sub-underlease
eI G 1D L E L E el Note — Casino rent is to be increased to
ground floors of the Mount Partnership (G.P.) :
- (89.1 years) £180,000 so the rent payable increases to
Royal Block, Oxford Street, Limited £373.100
Old Quebec Street, Bryanston ’ .
Sz e [Pt Sl Permitted user retail units/recording
studio/casino.
a':rt::eH:rt:tll PMD Services 4 EEEloE Al
Ground Floor Shop Unit . £49,050 Annual reviews in line with RPI.
Limited
(1.6 years)
OUT OF AIRSPACE LEASE: . 3 September 2016 GLH has informed us that the operator is
: Hutchison 3G UK seeking alternative locations.
Telecoms Equipment, part of Limited £23,000
S SRR EEE ) Use only as a telecommunications base station.
'MIKOM LEASE: 'Part of the AE OIS Owner states this is “apparently out of our
P Systems UK Fraymt)
sub-basement of the Building o demise”.
Limited
Licence for Christmas lights
and camera
Ashinaton Property now sub-underlet by a lease dated 31
o . 9 23 March 2111 May 2011 between Wizard Inns Limited and
The Griffin Tavern, Villiers Property . X -
£0 Café Rouge; now vested in Five Guys JV
Street Investments o . .
- (90.1 years) Limited. Co-terminus long lease with zero rent
Limited .
receivable.
24 March 2026 Guarantor is La Tasca Restaurant Limited.
Basement Levels B1, B2 & B3  Ha Ha Bar & Grill £395 000 LTA1954 provides tenant security of tenure.
of the hotel Limited ’ Next rent review 25 March 2021 (upwards only,
(5.1 years) . -
open market review to shell condition).
Term end was 20 March 2020. GLH inform us
that the tenant remains in occupation on a
Amba Upwest Estates AU Bl ALY Tenancy at Will as the agreement was
N Part Ground Floor R £30,000
Charing Limited (0 years) contracted out of the 1954 Act.
Cross Y Lease excludes LTA1954 security of tenure
provisions.
T - 19 February 2047 Use as a transformer chamber.
Site of Transformer Chamber £0 LTA1954 provides tenant security of tenure.
Networks
(26 years)
‘Unknown’ demise.
IistElEie